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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The Committee

          3  is called to order. I'd like to begin by welcoming

          4  my colleague, Council Member Annabel Palma, and some

          5  of our other colleagues will be here shortly. I'd

          6  also like to thank up front some of the folks who

          7  made this hearing possible and did the work to get

          8  it prepared, our still new counsel, Molly Murphy,

          9  our Policy Analyst Freya Riel, and Aaron Feinstein,

         10  from our Finance Division.

         11                 I want to say before I just give a

         12  brief overview that I made an unprecedented effort

         13  at diplomacy just a few moments ago in offering to

         14  get the Commissioner coffee. There are a number of

         15  witnesses, and they will confirm that she rejected

         16  my offer, so we're going to six-party talks to try

         17  to reduce tensions in the region.

         18                 That's a North Korea joke, for those

         19  of you who don't know.

         20                 Good morning, everyone, and thank you

         21  for being here. We're here, unfortunately, because

         22  we have to look at the impact of some actions taken

         23  in Washington in recent months, which have, in fact,

         24  only become specifically effective in the last few

         25  weeks, and that is the new regulations, or rules
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          2  associated with the reauthorization of TANF, which

          3  the Congress reauthorized earlier in the year.

          4                 The City Council has been very

          5  concerned for months of what the impact would be,

          6  and I want to give credit where credit is due. I

          7  think the Commissioner and the whole team from HRA

          8  have joined us in their testimony during the course

          9  of 2006 in raising a number of concerns about the

         10  direction the federal government was headed in, and

         11  HHS was headed in.

         12                 Unfortunately, even though I think

         13  many good efforts were made by people around the

         14  country to urge a more flexible approach, what HHS

         15  issued this summer, which became effective on

         16  October 1st, is probably as stringent as we would

         17  have feared, and I think it's particularly difficult

         18  and inappropriate for some of our larger cities

         19  which are facing particularly difficult challenges.

         20                 These rules not only set forth very

         21  stringent new requirements, but they also make clear

         22  the potential for millions of even tens of millions

         23  or more in penalties for cities that can barely

         24  afford them, obviously.

         25                 And we feel that the effort by the
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          2  federal government to determine these rules was not

          3  one of the greatest transparency and dialogue. I

          4  think if there had been that kind of open dialogue,

          5  it would have been clear just how difficult the

          6  circumstances and cities would be as a result of

          7  these rules.

          8                 I think there was obviously not the

          9  kind of formal comment process that I think all of

         10  us would consider pertinent, and I think the final

         11  wording of the rules reflects that.

         12                 I do want to thank HRA and the

         13  Administration in general for its advocacy on this

         14  issue. I think this is an example of the time when

         15  the Council and HRA and the Mayor were all on the

         16  same page.

         17                 Now comes the tough work of trying to

         18  figure out can this actually be achieved on the

         19  ground? Can we actually live by these difficult new

         20  rules? And I remind you that as much as we all want

         21  to commend everyone who has been involved, HRA and

         22  everyone else who has been involved in reducing our

         23  caseload levels for public assistance over the last

         24  few years, and it is a very good thing that there is

         25  under 400,000 people on public assistance now. We
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          2  also have to remember those 400,000 people represent

          3  many of the folks in the City with the most

          4  difficult and most complex problems.

          5                 And, again, this should not be a

          6  surprise to the policy-makers in Washington, that

          7  welfare reform obviously had its first impact on

          8  those most able to make the transition off of

          9  welfare and its last impact on those facing the most

         10  difficult challenges.

         11                 I think HRA has acknowledged that in

         12  many ways in testimony over the years.

         13                 So, now we are left with a number of

         14  people who even without these new rules, it would be

         15  difficult to serve successfully. And I think the new

         16  rules will make it harder to do so, and also again

         17  lead to the possibility of substantial fines which

         18  will only set back our work more.

         19                 I'm particularly concerned,

         20  obviously, about the definitions of work activities

         21  and the strict enforcement of the work participation

         22  requirement, which I think do not acknowledge the

         23  complexities on the ground here.

         24                 We seek today to understand better

         25  what HRA's plan is for dealing with these new rules,
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          2  to see if it even can be a plan to successfully

          3  achieve these goals, to understand what might be the

          4  outcomes if we don't achieve the goals, and

          5  understand what changes in HRA's approach might be

          6  necessary.

          7                 We obviously also want to know what

          8  the federal government, and perhaps more

          9  pertinently, the State government can do to help us,

         10  despite these new rules, to navigate this situation.

         11                 And I would say lastly, we do want to

         12  understand from HRA strategically whether some of

         13  its policies over the last few years will need to be

         14  changed because of the pressure created by these new

         15  rules.

         16                 How are we going to deal with the

         17  percentage of people we have in education programs?

         18                 How are we going to deal with the

         19  high number of people we have in one point or

         20  another in the sanctions process?

         21                 What are we going to do about work

         22  requirements for parents with children under six

         23  years old?

         24                 What are we going to do to make sure

         25  people get onto SSI more expeditiously. These are
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          2  some of the issues we want to raise today.

          3                 We do not want to blame the victim

          4  here. We understand these rules are not of HRA's

          5  making, but now we all have to work together to be

          6  as creative as possible to try and avoid these

          7  penalties, and we're going to press HRA to

          8  understand what its strategies will be to do that.

          9                 I'll end by saying a lot of us have

         10  been paying a lot of attention the last few weeks to

         11  the recent work of the Anti-poverty Commission that

         12  the Mayor organized. Understandably, a lot of what

         13  the Commission focused on was helping people to

         14  become self-sufficient and a particular focus on the

         15  working poor who are working and not making it.

         16                 One of the concerns raised by myself

         17  and others was we also need to keep our focus on

         18  people on public assistance who need to be helped in

         19  every way possible to make the transition to

         20  self-sufficiency.

         21                 And, sadly, at the same time as the

         22  Mayor is working to come up with new and creative

         23  strategies to help deal with a rather shocking

         24  poverty rate in our City, the federal government is

         25  making our work harder. And a concern I have in all
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          2  of this is that we remind the federal government of

          3  its responsibilities. If we're really going to fight

          4  poverty, we can do a lot in this City, but it's very

          5  hard to believe we can achieve our goals if the

          6  federal government is not supporting us, and even

          7  harder to believe that the federal government seems

          8  to be making our life more difficult and making our

          9  efforts more difficult each day.

         10                 So, that is my brief overview of our

         11  hearing today, and now I welcome Commissioner Verna

         12  Eggleston, and we welcome your testimony.

         13                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Sir, good

         14  morning. And I want to thank you and the members of

         15  your Committee for having us here today to talk

         16  about this very important concern that continues to

         17  be a concern, the implementation of a federal rule

         18  that's often times very complicated and requires a

         19  lot of thinking.

         20                 I also want to take the time out to,

         21  you know, as I look at the other folk who are here

         22  this morning, to thank, you know, Community Voices

         23  Heard who is here for being actively involved in

         24  this process throughout the course of the planning,

         25  and the documents assessment that they've prepared
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          2  during the course of the way to allow not only our

          3  agency but other agencies serving this population

          4  information from the perspective of the consumer.

          5  So, I wanted to take time out to thank them for

          6  that. It's going to be important that we all stay

          7  involved, community-based level to federal level, in

          8  order to get this done right, to serve people in a

          9  way that we need to.

         10                 As you know, in February 2006, the

         11  President signed the legislation reauthorizing the

         12  TANF program and the requirements of the new law

         13  took effect on October 1st, as you stated.

         14                 Most significantly, the law continues

         15  the requirement that the 50 percent of our TANF

         16  clients be engaged in federally defined work

         17  activities, as New York had advocated throughout the

         18  authorization process.

         19                 The work participation requirement

         20  now applies to both TANF clients and safety net

         21  family clients. Since New York State applies the

         22  benefits paid to the latter group toward meeting the

         23  federal TANF maintenance of effort requirement.

         24                 The caseload reduction credit has

         25  been upgraded so that states now receive credit
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          2  against the 50 percent requirement only for caseload

          3  reductions since federal Fiscal Year 2005, rather

          4  than since 1995, as under the prior law.

          5                 The federal Department of Health and

          6  Human Services was directed to define TANF work

          7  activities for the first time with the result that

          8  some of the activities in which has traditionally

          9  engaged clients will no longer count towards the

         10  participation rate.

         11                 For example, public assistance

         12  recipients caring for disabled relatives have been

         13  counted as participating in community service, but

         14  the new rule does not recognize this as a qualifying

         15  community service activity.

         16                 HHS was also directed to issue

         17  regulations establishing new requirements for

         18  supervising, documenting and verifying client work

         19  participation.

         20                 States failing to meet the

         21  participation requirements face very significant

         22  fiscal sanctions.

         23                 These could mean approximately 217

         24  million in TANF penalties annually for New York

         25  State with New York City representing nearly
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          2  two-thirds of the State's public assistance

          3  caseload, potentially bearing $150 million share.

          4                 The law also imposes a new work

          5  revocation mandate that carries a separate set of

          6  penalties for states that are not in compliance.

          7  States may be sanctioned from one to five percent of

          8  their TANF grant for failure to establish or comply

          9  with work verification requirements, based on the

         10  extent of non-compliance.

         11                 In light of the continued uncertainty

         12  about the impact of new TANF rule and to avoid the

         13  risk of penalty, I aim higher and set a goal of

         14  achieving a 60 percent participation rate in New

         15  York City.

         16                 I establish an agency-wide work group

         17  to develop recommendations on how to achieve

         18  participation rate.

         19                 I also established an office of

         20  consumer access and participation.

         21                 To coordinate the implementation of

         22  those recommendations and monitor our progress in

         23  achieving the rate, but as I have said before, the

         24  achievement of this goal requires a coordinated City

         25  effort and with collaborating with other City
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          2  agencies that receive TANF funding and that serve

          3  our clients.

          4                 Most recently we hosted a meeting for

          5  these agencies to brief them on the requirements of

          6  the reauthorization TANF program, and to impress

          7  upon them the importance of Citywide collaboration

          8  to avoid the severe fiscal sanctions associated with

          9  failing to meet the federal participation rates.

         10                 In April, Mayor Bloomberg

         11  communicated directly with Secretary Leavitt of HHS,

         12  focusing on several specific issues in an effort to

         13  maintain the flexibility to design and implement

         14  programs that best address the needs of our clients.

         15                 He asked the following:

         16                 - that regulations be issued by HHS

         17  resolve the conflict between the participation rules

         18  and the Minimum Wage Laws.

         19                 - that work activity acknowledge the

         20  importance of rehabilitation as a necessary job

         21  readiness activity.

         22                 - that they continue to recognize

         23  caring for disabled relatives as a community service

         24  activity; and, finally

         25                 - that the regulations provide
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          2  reasonable latitude and work our verification and

          3  leave policies for clients in work experience

          4  programs.

          5                 HHS promulgated its interim final

          6  regulations on July 28th with a 30 day comment

          7  period, and they went into effect on October 1st

          8  with no changes.

          9                 The regulations allow states to count

         10  clients who participate for the maximum hours

         11  allowed under minimum wage requirements as having

         12  satisfied the federal work participation

         13  requirement.

         14                 They recognize substance abuse,

         15  mental health and rehabilitation services as

         16  necessary job-readiness activities, but countless

         17  activities for maximum of six weeks each year.

         18                 The regulations exclude care-giving

         19  activities for disabled relatives from the

         20  definition of community service and leave little

         21  flexibility in work hour verification rules and

         22  leave policies for clients.

         23                 For example, they allow clients no

         24  more than ten excused absences per year for all

         25  purposes, vacation, sick days and other mandated
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          2  appointments.

          3                 This is far fewer than the number

          4  allowed for City employees.

          5                 HRA submitted extensive comments on

          6  the regulations in August but we do not expect the

          7  final rule will be issued for some time. Therefore,

          8  we expect to be governed by the interim rule for the

          9  first year of reauthorization program.

         10                 We've also been working closely with

         11  New York State on the implementation of the new law.

         12                 In late September, after extensive

         13  discussions with HRA and other local districts, the

         14  Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance

         15  submitted to HHS its draft work verification plan,

         16  indicating how the State proposes to implement the

         17  new requirements.

         18                 The plan will be subject to federal

         19  review over the coming months, and we anticipate

         20  that it will not receive final approval by HHS until

         21  some time in 2007.

         22                 In the interim we'll be working with

         23  OTDA on system changes to support implementation of

         24  new requirements.

         25                 As I indicated, the new TANF law
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          2  extends to participation rates requirements to

          3  families whose benefits are paid for with State

          4  Maintenance of Effort funds.

          5                 In New York State, these are families

          6  who have exhausted their five-year time limit on

          7  TANF and are receiving safetynet benefits.

          8                 However, the State has the discretion

          9  to determine programs are included in the MOE and

         10  which are not.

         11                 During the 2006 State budget process,

         12  we advocated that the State reevaluate the

         13  expenditures accounts towards the MOU requirement in

         14  light of the new participation rate requirements.

         15                 The legislature was responsive and

         16  enacted FY 2007 budget provided OTDA with the

         17  authority to remove three categories from the MOE

         18  calculation: Two-parent families, those who are in

         19  sanction status for over three months, and those who

         20  have been determined to be work exempt.

         21                 Effective this month, OTDA

         22  transferred two-parent families into non-MOE state

         23  program. We are continuing to urge OTDA to use its

         24  authority to transfer the other two groups. These

         25  transfers would have no programmatic impact on
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          2  clients or on our efforts to assist them in

          3  achieving self-sufficiency, but would likely result

          4  in a significant increase in the State's work

          5  participation rate.

          6                 We've also been working with OTDA to

          7  remove from participation rate calculating those

          8  clients who receive non-recurring grants or single

          9  issuances which are not considered to be TANF

         10  assistance by federal standards.

         11                 This Administration's efforts to move

         12  clients toward self-sufficiency have resulted in the

         13  lowest public assistance caseload levels in more

         14  than 40 years. In September 2006, 382,896 New

         15  Yorkers were on public assistance, representing an

         16  additional 3.4 percent decline since I last

         17  testified before this Committee in May, an 8.4

         18  percent reduction from federal Fiscal Year 2005, and

         19  an overall 17.2 percent decline since the beginning

         20  of this Administration.

         21                 As of June 2006, the most current

         22  data available, New York City's preliminary

         23  participation rate, based on the New York State

         24  caseload sample, stood at slightly over 44 percent.

         25                 That figure represents a single month
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          2  and not a final number of New York City, and does

          3  not reflect the rest of New York State, nor does it

          4  reflect the impact of the new TANF rules.

          5                 The State estimated the Statewide

          6  caseload reduction credit from federal Fiscal Year

          7  2005 through September 2006 to be approximately five

          8  percent.

          9                 Since the beginning of this

         10  Administration, HRA's efforts have led to nearly

         11  395,000 job placements of public assistance clients

         12  confirmed through self-reported employment placement

         13  by our own employment vendors, and matches with the

         14  New York State New Hire System.

         15                 As of August, 86.8 percent of our

         16  clients who have achieved employment have remained

         17  off public assistance or retained their jobs after

         18  three months. 80.3 percent have achieved those

         19  results and after six months, and 77.2 percent of

         20  the clients who have achieved employment have

         21  remained off public assistance, and/or retained

         22  their job after nine months.

         23                 As demonstrated by these numbers,

         24  this Administration has continued to make

         25  considerable progress in moving public assistance
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          2  clients to sustainable employment, by creating a

          3  customized model of service delivery and

          4  comprehensive programs that serve the diverse and

          5  multiple needs of low-income New Yorkers.

          6                 The challenge we face in meeting the

          7  participate rate are due in large part to two

          8  groups, those clients who are in the engagement

          9  process and those looking for child care so that

         10  they can work, undergoing a medical assessment or

         11  finding an appropriate training program, and those

         12  clients who do not consistently participate in

         13  employment programs.

         14                 We've already implemented many

         15  programmatic changes to address these issues. At the

         16  Executive Budget hearing in May, I introduced our

         17  plans which reflect our success over the years in

         18  our employment programs.

         19                 The Back To Work Program, which

         20  became operational by August in every job center,

         21  allows one contractor to work with the client from

         22  start to finish, providing greater continuity of

         23  service.

         24                 Under Back To Work, participants

         25  begin receiving services immediately, many on the
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          2  same day they apply for public assistance. This

          3  allows clients to be more quickly accountable for

          4  participation purposes and because people start

          5  their activity without a long lag time. Our

          6  experience indicates it will lead to more successful

          7  employment outcome.

          8                 Additionally, we reduced by seven

          9  days the lead time for scheduling appointments and

         10  eliminated delays and assignments to vendors or Work

         11  Experience Programs so the clients can move through

         12  the process more quickly.

         13                 Our vendors prepare a plan for

         14  sustainable self-sufficiency, and offer training and

         15  other opportunities for clients to upgrade their

         16  employment.

         17                 The contracts, as you know, are fully

         18  performance-based with payment contingent on success

         19  in placement and retention.

         20                 Through the beginning of September,

         21  more than 10,887 individuals had been referred to

         22  back to work vendors, and we've already begun to see

         23  results.

         24                 We're confident that this new program

         25  will generate even more successful job placement and
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          2  retention.

          3                 HRA's new Office of Consumer Access

          4  and Participation has formed a back to work vendor

          5  participation task force, consisting of

          6  representatives from each back to work vendor work

          7  experience, program staff and staff from HRA's

          8  employment unit.

          9                 The task force meets biweekly,

         10  discussing strategies to maximize the degree to

         11  which activities count towards the federal

         12  participation rate.

         13                 OCAP will track the participation

         14  rate for each vendor and report them to the task

         15  force monthly.

         16                 As of October 8th, 2006, 17 percent

         17  of all TANF cases in New York City were in sanction

         18  status or process and of those cases that are

         19  converted to Safety Net assistance after their

         20  five-year TANF time limit had expired. Twenty-one

         21  percent were in sanction status.

         22                 While the agency makes multiple

         23  efforts to engage and reengage these clients, many

         24  refuse to participate.

         25                 Our intensive services center seeks
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          2  to reconnect to employment activities those clients

          3  who have been in sanction status for more than 60

          4  days, and who have consequently been receiving a

          5  reduced benefit.

          6                 During the eligibility

          7  recertification process, and at other points of

          8  contact, workers discuss sanction issues with

          9  clients and explain the process that led to their

         10  reduced benefits.

         11                 If a client agrees to participate,

         12  they are referred to an on-site employment service

         13  and benefits are restored when they comply.

         14                 Child care and other support services

         15  are also available for those who need them in order

         16  to work.

         17                 Clients who are unable to work are

         18  connected to other appropriate services. The

         19  Intensive Services Center has a strong emphasis on

         20  employment, and provides job counseling services at

         21  the first point of contact with the client. During

         22  the period it was operational in 2005, the Center

         23  achieved more than 1,786 job placements, in 2006 the

         24  Center has achieved 1,874 placements as of

         25  September, bringing the total number of placements
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          2  to more than 3,600.

          3                 In the 18 months that the Center has

          4  been in existence, New York State has recognized the

          5  importance of our efforts and appropriated $15

          6  million Statewide for outreach to sanction clients

          7  to be allocated by the proportion of the sanction

          8  population in each local district.

          9                 HRA's WeCARE Program continues to

         10  address the needs of clients with health-related

         11  barriers to employment by emphasizing the importance

         12  of customized assistance services to help the

         13  clients achieve their highest degree of

         14  self-sufficiency.

         15                 Through October 2nd, Job Center staff

         16  made 119,885 referrals to WeCARE. Of those seen for

         17  biopsychosocial assessments, 81 percent have

         18  completed all phases of the assessment process thus

         19  far. Of these, 36.9 percent were found to be

         20  temporarily unemployable secondary to unstable

         21  medical and/or mental health conditions and were

         22  referred to Wellness Plans. 46.9 percent were found

         23  to be employable with limitations and were referred

         24  for vocational rehabilitation services, and 8.2

         25  percent were found to be fully employable and were
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          2  referred back to their job centers to be engaged in

          3  activities from the traditional menu of employment

          4  and training programs, and eight percent were

          5  determined to be unemployable for 12 or more months

          6  and were referred for assistance in applying for

          7  federal disability benefits.

          8                 WeCARE vendors initiated 6,922

          9  federal disability applications and there have been

         10  1,351 federal disability approvals.

         11                 Many clients who have applied are

         12  still engaged in federal disability application

         13  process which can take 18 months or more for final

         14  determination from the Social Security

         15  Administration. To date, the WeCARE program has

         16  helped more than 2,500 people with health and mental

         17  health barriers gain employment, while participation

         18  in WeCARE employment activities satisfied the

         19  participation requirement, and most of the

         20  rehabilitative activities provided in WeCARE will

         21  not be countable under the new rules.

         22                 We will continue our advocacy with

         23  the State and Federal government on this issue.

         24                 My staff and I welcome your

         25  questions. I have my First Deputy Pat Smith here
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          2  with me today. I have my fiscal deputy here with me

          3  today, my legislative office, and a host of people,

          4  because I know you always have many questions for

          5  HRA and we always have multiple answers.

          6                 Thank you, sir.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          8                 Well, let me start at the beginning.

          9  I appreciate now you've given us a lot of

         10  information, and I appreciate one of the core points

         11  you said in anticipation of this, you said, you

         12  know, you aimed high and set the goal of 60 percent

         13  to get ready, which I certainly think is smart

         14  planning.

         15                 But now, I'm not really clear from

         16  the testimony of the exact strategy for meeting the

         17  new participation rates. So, if you just do it

         18  almost in outline form, what are the exact steps

         19  you're taking to meet the rate now?

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, we've

         21  taken many steps. I wanted to add, and it's not in

         22  testimony, as I looked very closely at the various

         23  categories that we do have approval on so far.

         24                 I can tell you that the most

         25  important strategy as we go forward with this

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  implementation is going to be our Customized

          3  Assistance Services Center.

          4                 While initially we started that

          5  center to engage those folk who were, or had not

          6  been engaged, what I'm finding with the many

          7  categories, and I don't know how to explain it in a

          8  simple way, we are going to have to do good, old

          9  fashioned strategic case management, and HRA is

         10  going to have to meet our clients where all our

         11  words and our mouth has been over the course of this

         12  Administration, and what I mean by that is, it's a

         13  very intricate kind of work, but customized

         14  assistance will allow us to do that. There are many

         15  categories that will denote that someone is

         16  engageable and you're going to have to in a

         17  customized assistance way almost build a case

         18  management strategy, a process for individual

         19  families as they come in order to get them to the

         20  point of engagement.

         21                 The other thing that I look at with

         22  this TANF stuff, our focus can't only be on meeting

         23  a requirement number. And, so, we as a City are

         24  going to have to be prepared to calculate from a

         25  fiscal perspective what level a sanction we're going
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          2  to be able to take.

          3                 I can set a 60 percent mark, but

          4  we're going to need to realistically prepare for

          5  what level of fiscal sanction we're going to be

          6  willing to take, and I'm going to have to prepare

          7  the Mayor for that.

          8                 Because you could have a family that

          9  in that particular case -- the one thing that

         10  worries me the most, to give you an example, sir,

         11  earlier on in this Administration I came in and I

         12  saw a large proportion of our customers on our

         13  caseload were needed at home, for example. When I

         14  advocated with my staff that we increase the amount

         15  of slots for home care or home care assistance, if

         16  you will, like let's just wave the rule and let's

         17  just let these customers, let's encourage these

         18  customers to take on a home care attendant person to

         19  assist them in caring for the wellness of the family

         20  member, and get them engaged now.

         21                 That was four and a half years ago.

         22                 Just because, and with no real data,

         23  just because just generally what my sense tells me

         24  about TANF rule, one day is going to come along with

         25  they're not going to accept us as a category, and in
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          2  all fairness to the customer, God forbid, what if

          3  one of their relatives dies that they're caring for

          4  at home, and they will have remained at home with no

          5  skill base at all.

          6                 And here's an opportunity, as well,

          7  to train them in this area of going to be a

          8  caregiver, if that's what they want to do. But let's

          9  deal with it right now in the here and the now.

         10                 So, in this new reg they've taken it

         11  off the table. That's no longer accepted as a

         12  category. Here we are four years down the road, if

         13  you will, here's a customer who maybe didn't take us

         14  up on that, who has been at home doing this for a

         15  relative who I'm going to have to quickly engage in

         16  bringing somebody in the home, to help them take up

         17  that responsibility, get them in a workforce and

         18  they missed the opportunity because they were

         19  allowed in the old rule to do that, engage them very

         20  quickly, convince them to trust this caregiver, and

         21  do a whole bunch of other very sophisticated things,

         22  or take maybe six or seven opportunities out of the

         23  TANF rule to come up with a comprehensive plan with

         24  them so that can get them quickly in the game.

         25                 Now, that wouldn't have been a
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          2  concern for me before, before they decided to

          3  include Safety Net families, because then I can say

          4  always, well, you know, you can always come back,

          5  just in the interest of serving the customer. Always

          6  come back after they've finished their five years.

          7  If they have Safety Net, you always have the

          8  opportunity to come back in the rear end and take

          9  care of them.

         10                 But now they're including that as

         11  well. So, it's almost like we're going to have to

         12  put our strategies that we talked to you about over

         13  the course of four years to the most intensive in a

         14  customized assistance program, by understanding each

         15  individual engagement rule separately, and say to

         16  the customer when they come in, okay, let's make

         17  your plan now. You're eligible for this, you're

         18  eligible for this, you're eligible for this, you're

         19  eligible for this. Don't forget the primary goal is

         20  to get to this point, you've got to still get to

         21  self-alliance but these are the things that you can

         22  do in order to get there, as opposed to that

         23  traditional, you got this one shot, go get it. Can't

         24  do it. We'll never meet the goal, the requirement.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me take it
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          2  back. I want to restate the original question. But

          3  let me also, I think I heard you say, and I want to

          4  make sure I get this right, that these challenges

          5  are so great that you have to, in order to be

          6  responsible you have to prepare the Mayor for the

          7  fact that even the best effort may not meet the new

          8  rules and that we may have penalties; did I hear

          9  that correctly?

         10                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Somewhat. I'm

         11  saying that I have to, just as a local

         12  administrator, if I'm really doing my job well, you

         13  prepare for the worst.

         14                 I can do that because I said we're

         15  going 60 percent. And that was just without any

         16  rules at all.

         17                 The thing that troubles me most, sir,

         18  to be perfectly honest with you is, here we are, and

         19  this is very tricky, when implementing phase II,

         20  we've done all of our four years advocacy with the

         21  current administration that's about ready to walk

         22  out the door. We're having conversations with a

         23  group of people who have turned the lights off in

         24  the offices, folded up their tents and they're

         25  saying talk to the next guy behind me, and that's
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          2  what we're facing.

          3                 So, what is our opportunity as a

          4  City? We're going to start very quickly on this, as

          5  soon as the new Governor comes in? Because that

          6  should be our priority.

          7                 Our priority, as soon as the new

          8  Governor walks in, or we better start talking to all

          9  those folk who are running right now, and say you

         10  better take this up right now, because we don't have

         11  time in this locality to wait two years until you

         12  get fully engaged in your work requirement to catch

         13  up with us, and that's my concern.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me break

         15  this into pieces here just because this is, as you

         16  said, this is a very complex area, I want to make

         17  sure we all understand it.

         18                 Right now, as a responsible

         19  administrator, you're saying there is a chance, or a

         20  chance worth -- a big enough chance that you have to

         21  plan or prepare for it of sanctions, of penalties

         22  for New York City, and is my number correct that

         23  could reach as high as 150 million or more?

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's the

         25  potential penalty. But as you can see, right now
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          2  we're recording a little over 44 percent. I'm not

          3  going to give up on my staff and I'm not going to

          4  give up on the customers we serve. I think we've

          5  made some measurable, measurable milestones. I think

          6  we proved a point. You know, there was some really

          7  hard fast folk who, you know, who built themselves

          8  as welfare reformists, if you will, who early on in

          9  this Administration basically concluded that there

         10  was really not a sick group of people and they're

         11  just a bunch of people who were beating the system,

         12  et cetera, and in spite of their criticisms, in

         13  spite of all of their, oh, this Administration is

         14  going to be weaker on welfare reform, we staged

         15  steady ahead. We did WeCARE, because we believed

         16  that there were really customers who were ill, and

         17  we believed that those customers did not need to be

         18  churned back and forth through a system over and

         19  over again. We proved that point. We have actual

         20  results.

         21                 We saw in that that there's a small

         22  number, a small percentage of people who are

         23  actually employable from WeCARE, but there's another

         24  larger proportion of people who was actually ill. We

         25  kept going, we got them engaged in Social Security,
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          2  there's another core group of people who can benefit

          3  from a little bit of education, a little bit

          4  vocational.

          5                 So, taken all that into mind, all

          6  that into place, I'm going to once again present the

          7  data, because I have a data Mayor and we have a data

          8  Mayor. We have a Mayor who says if you can't, you

          9  know, if you can't measure it, you can't manage it,

         10  and I have to go in and I can say, sir, you know,

         11  unlike four and a half years ago when we were saying

         12  X amount of percentage of people are non-engageable,

         13  this percentage are engageable, here's real facts.

         14  This is the amount of people we've worked with who

         15  could not be engaged before.

         16                 This is the amount of people who we

         17  work with who could have partial engagement. This is

         18  what HRA did to work with those groups. This is the

         19  core group that we know, scientifically, baseline

         20  in, with this policy dualing against us, i.e.,

         21  Social Security rule says you've got to wait this

         22  amount of time period for that. Trust me, sir, we

         23  have done all kinds of things.

         24                 I have a medical personnel going into

         25  Fair Hearing Court. I paid for it. You know why?
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          2  Because after we put these customers through the

          3  rigor of medical examinations, they adhere to it.

          4  They prepared this medical document, went into court

          5  and judgments were still not made appropriately that

          6  would identify and address the fact that they were

          7  really ill. So now I pay for out of my budget a

          8  medical person to sit in Fair Hearing Court and

          9  interpret for the court the medical information that

         10  we gathered in order to represent the customer.

         11                 So, I think I'm going to present all

         12  of that to the Mayor. I'm going to say, sir, this is

         13  the percentile of group of people who we might not

         14  ever get engaged in something because of all these

         15  variables, and this is what we'll comfortably live

         16  with. But I think in order to not get to that point,

         17  I'm going to keep my standard high, I'm going to use

         18  my budget this way, I'm going to be very creative,

         19  I'm going to engage all of these things. I'm not

         20  going to reinvent the wheel side-by-side to CEO. I'm

         21  going to take every CEO opportunity that we have

         22  with that plan to tie it into this reform, we're

         23  going to build the next level. And that's what I'm

         24  saying, sir.

         25                 And I wish I could say to you today,
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          2  you know what? Out of that hundred and whatever

          3  million, New York City is going to be paying 90. I

          4  can't.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I'm going

          6  to stay on the penalties just so we get that clear

          7  and we go back to the question of the strategies for

          8  avoiding the penalties for achieving the goal.

          9                 Just for all of us who don't

         10  understand the mysteries of the federal government.

         11  As I understand it, the maximum penalty is, again,

         12  in excess of 150 million a year. Now, that is if you

         13  fall anywhere below 50 percent, or is it that this

         14  is -- I just don't understand the mechanics of this.

         15  Is it if you fall anywhere below 150 percent you can

         16  get to 150 million, is it that each percentage or

         17  below increases your penalty? How does it work?

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, there's

         19  a couple of penalties working here but I'm going to

         20  have my legislative person come and explain because

         21  there's a couple of penalties, there's a new little

         22  hidden penalty that we didn't expect.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The hidden

         24  penalty. That's just what we needed. We were upset

         25  enough about the evident penalties, now we have the
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          2  hidden penalties.

          3                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Now we have

          4  the hidden one, right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

          6  introduce yourself.

          7                 MR. HANSELL: David Hansell, HRA Chief

          8  of Staff.

          9                 There are, in fact, multiple

         10  potential penalties. There are three areas of

         11  penalties. And, of course, the penalties are

         12  assessed by the federal government on the State. The

         13  State can then pass them through to localities,

         14  including New York City.

         15                 The penalty that we're most concerned

         16  about is for the failure to meet the 50 percent

         17  participation rate requirement. The State can be,

         18  and this is for any level below that, it could be 49

         19  percent, 48 percent, any failure to meet the 50

         20  percent requirement, or that requirement as it's

         21  reduced by the caseload reduction credit for the

         22  State.

         23                 The State can be basically penalized

         24  by having a reduction from the federal government of

         25  five percent of its annual TANF block grant, which
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          2  is something in the neighborhood of $217 million.

          3                 State law permits the State to pass

          4  that through --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry, just

          6  so we're all clear, you are saying the total State

          7  penalty could be as high as 200 you said 17 or 70?

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Seventeen.

          9                 MR. HANSELL: Seventeen.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Seventeen

         11  million for the whole state, and then we are

         12  obviously a disproportionately large share of that.

         13                 MR. HANSELL: That's right. And State

         14  law permits the State to pass it through to

         15  localities, to the extent that localities are

         16  responsible for the State's failure to make the

         17  rate, and our official percentage, when looking at

         18  TANF, New York City accounts for what percentage?

         19                 MR. HANSELL: Currently about 69

         20  percent of the TANF caseload. Actually TANF and

         21  SafetyNet now with the new calculations. So, we

         22  could potentially bear 69 percent of that penalty.

         23                 In addition, if the State fails to

         24  make the rate, the federal government can require it

         25  to increase its maintenance of effort, which is
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          2  currently the current requirement is 75 percent of

          3  what the State was spending back in 1995, that can

          4  be raised from 75 percent to 80 percent. So, in

          5  other words, it can require the State and localities

          6  to kick in more money to match the federal TANF

          7  grant.

          8                 So that is effectively, not a

          9  penalty, but effectively a requirement for increased

         10  spending on the State and localities. The third is

         11  that if the State fails to meet new work

         12  verification requirements under the authorized law,

         13  it can be assessed depending on the extent of

         14  non-compliance anywhere between one and five percent

         15  of the TANF grant. So, potentially a total of three

         16  categories, but the one that we're most concerned

         17  about, of course, is the failure to meet the 50

         18  percent reduction in the TANF block grant and the

         19  pass-through of that reduction to New York City,

         20  which as the Commissioner said could amount to $150

         21  million or more.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just on the

         23  other two so we're clear. I hear you loud and clear,

         24  your first focus is on the participation rate, but

         25  what's the potential penalty impact of the other two
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          2  in dollar terms?

          3                 MR. HANSELL: That's a good question.

          4                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's a

          5  great question.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's why they

          7  have oversight committees.

          8                 MR. HANSELL: The second one, the

          9  increase in maintenance of effort is difficult to

         10  say because it depends on exactly where the State

         11  is.

         12                 From the numbers that we have seen,

         13  we believe the State is currently somewhere above

         14  that 75 percent requirement already. So, the

         15  increase to 80 percent, how much of an impact that

         16  would have depends on actually where the State

         17  actually is, and we don't have specific numbers on

         18  that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But do you have

         20  the last numbers? In other words, if you base it on

         21  what you knew when the last firm numbers existed

         22  what would be the potential penalty?

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: About half of

         24  the 217, our budget person thinks. About half of the

         25  217.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, 100 million

          3  plus.

          4                 MR. HANSELL: Yes, Statewide.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And then we

          6  would be 70 percent.

          7                 I'm just interested in roundness. So,

          8  it could be 70, 75 million, something like that

          9  potentially?

         10                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes,

         11  prorated.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the third

         13  category.

         14                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: The third is

         15  failure to comply with the work verification

         16  requirements. The maximum penalty there is also five

         17  percent of the grant, so it's equivalent to --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The 150 again.

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, even though

         21  we in New York City are used to astounding amounts

         22  of money in our budget, when you add all those

         23  pieces together, that's real money.

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's real

         25  money.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          3                 Now, and it is conceivable that you

          4  could have more than one simultaneously. I just

          5  wanted to ask the obvious question. You could have

          6  all three, you could have one, you could have two. I

          7  mean any of these could be happening at once.

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I think.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         10                 Now, take me back to the strategy --

         11  and actually let me ask the obvious question. I

         12  think our job is to make this vivid to everyone

         13  concerned, including our friends in Washington, who

         14  I am hoping, if it is the interim rule have an

         15  opportunity to reconsider their actions, and we'll

         16  talk about that in a moment.

         17                 150, 150, 75, 375 million dollars,

         18  nightmare scenario; can you quantify what that would

         19  mean?

         20                 I assume that comes out of your

         21  budget, right? That is not taken out of the City

         22  treasury as a whole, it's coming out of HRA, I

         23  assume.

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, let me

         25  explain how it's usually done when a sanction
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          2  occurs, and as I was saying to you before we started

          3  the testimony, I want to thank you for supporting us

          4  on the most recent state effort of recruiting funds,

          5  if you will, what they do is they just don't

          6  reimburse your vouchers.

          7                 So, you submit a reimbursement for

          8  this particular category. Like you can say if it's

          9  engagement, and they have very specific -- I'll give

         10  you, right now we have the New York State's TANF

         11  Work Verification Plan, and in there is like about

         12  13 different categories, if you will. So, you know,

         13  you submit it up based on the plan, the verification

         14  plan, based on what you've done in these categories

         15  specifically to this customer, and they say we're

         16  not going to approve that. That's not an approved

         17  item, and it just builds and builds, if you will. If

         18  you don't address it, if you don't bring in a

         19  corrective action, if you don't change it, and

         20  you're just not reimbursed in that amount. You know,

         21  total TANF allocation Citywide is $734 million, HRA

         22  is not going to bear the burden alone. We have other

         23  partners. We met with those partners, all of the

         24  partners, whether --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You mean other
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          2  agencies?

          3                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Agencies,

          4  non-for-profit, it's everybody engaged. Every

          5  Thursday under normal circumstances today I would be

          6  in vendor stat with my vendors, as I've been doing

          7  since we started this process, talking them through

          8  to, you know, do the harder cases first. Don't do

          9  all the easy cases, put all your intensive energy

         10  around the most complicated cases because we don't

         11  want to be at the end result, and we have all these

         12  sanctions for these cases because you focused on one

         13  area.

         14                 We brought in all the other City

         15  agencies. We said understand the new rule, they had

         16  wonderful add-ons, they had ideas, the vendors have

         17  ideas, we're listening to the ideas of engagement or

         18  whatever to meet these categories. I think we're

         19  going to share it, which is what I said. Well, I

         20  don't think, I know. We're going to share it. We're

         21  going to share it through agencies, we're going to

         22  share it through non-for-profits, we're going to

         23  share it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Did you ever

         25  see the film Jerry McGuire?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, I did.

          3  Several times, sir.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you remember

          5  the line "help --

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Does it have

          7  a correlation to this?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes. Do you

          9  remember the line "help me help you"? So, what I'm

         10  trying to get for public consumption is the concept

         11  of what would this mean to people in New York City

         12  if you suddenly are missing, I'm going to use 375 as

         13  the vivid, most vivid example, if it's coming out of

         14  you largely, what happens to your agency if you're

         15  suddenly missing -- and again, you'll make it more

         16  exact than what I'm saying, I'm just going to give

         17  you the big broad question, because I think this is

         18  something the public needs to understand about

         19  what's happening here.

         20                 If you're missing $375 million, what

         21  is the human impact, and the impact to your agency

         22  if that happens?

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, I can

         24  tell you, I'm going to tell you like I told the

         25  agencies. The State prorates the City, I prorate the
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          2  vendors who work with me to accomplish this goal.

          3                 We're all going to share the penalty.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Does that mean

          5  they will have to fire people working for them? I

          6  mean, what does it mean?

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No. Those

          8  folks who we will look at it, and we will ask those

          9  folks for recommendations, how there can be a

         10  reduction in the budgets, across the board. That's

         11  what we do as responsible entities. When the Mayor

         12  comes to me and says give me a reduction, I have to

         13  look through what I'm doing. If it's not effective,

         14  I have to give it up. You know, he says he's not

         15  going to chase a ghost. We're not going to waste

         16  money. You're going to do it. You're going to do it,

         17  and you're going to use public funds in the most

         18  appropriate way.

         19                 I will ask those, because it isn't

         20  what I get to not just be the day-to-day operating

         21  Commissioner of HRA, but the administrator of this

         22  locality. This is an administrator plan. This is a

         23  local county plan. This is when I get to do my

         24  county administrator thing, and report straight up

         25  to the State and say here is the corrective action
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          2  plan for the county. This county is going to give up

          3  this amount and I talk with all those folk who I

          4  have a partnership and ask them how are they going

          5  to answer to this prorated amount based on their

          6  contribution through the accomplishment of this

          7  goal.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Tell me if I'm

          9  wrong, and this is just too simplistic. Obvious

         10  options might be reduced services to clients and

         11  reduced personnel to serve your clients.

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's not so

         13  obvious for me, sir. And I guess it has to do with

         14  me being a service provider my entire life.

         15                 I don't agree with that the client

         16  has to bear the brunt of our inefficiencies. I'll

         17  just say it like that. You can quote me on that.

         18                 I think that we will find the

         19  efficiency in order to meet these goals. We will

         20  make the adjustments. We won't go down the old road

         21  up. We tried that. You better do it. Like I said to

         22  you in the start of my testimony, we have to do very

         23  comprehensive stuff.

         24                 Let me just give you some examples so

         25  you can be where I am in this thinking.
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          2                 For instance, you know, one of the

          3  New York State's TANF Work Verification Plan ideas

          4  is community services voluntary in nature, but may

          5  also include mandated participation with court

          6  ordered.

          7                 Voluntary participation would not be

          8  limited to the number of hours derived by dividing

          9  the amount of households temporary assistance, which

         10  is their formula, blah blah blah.

         11                 If community service is mandated,

         12  then the hours would be limited to the number

         13  derived by the grant calculation. So, now, my

         14  workers are, like, now going to be sitting there

         15  doing grant calculation, based on court ordered work

         16  hour, versus amount of grant. You know, and then you

         17  take that vocational education, there is a 12-month

         18  lifetime limit for counting participation and

         19  vocational education.

         20                 Okay, so, I got you on my WeCARE

         21  track, we've spent an incredible amount of tax

         22  dollars to get you on WeCARE, because we said we

         23  really care about this. We've carved out a plan for

         24  you. We've found that you can do some work effort,

         25  not a lot of work effort, but you've got 12 months
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          2  in the lifetime of your grant to do some vocational

          3  planning.

          4                 Well, it's not that simple. Some folk

          5  are going to require maybe 15 months of voc rehab.

          6  So what do I do with the other three months? You

          7  know, I gotta go back to the list of 13 and find

          8  where the -- you know what I mean? It's intensive.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I hear that.

         10  And let me take you back to the strategy. I'm just

         11  going to leave the point on penalties by saying I

         12  think, I appreciate very much the explanation of

         13  what the potential penalties are, and I also

         14  absolutely appreciate the idea that you are going to

         15  move Heaven and earth to never have those penalties

         16  occur. I think you've been very clear since way back

         17  when when we were talking about the possibility of

         18  these rules, that you were going to try and stay

         19  ahead of it.

         20                 So, I'm not doubting that, and I'm

         21  not doubting that if you are hit with penalties,

         22  you're going to do your best to ensure that it does

         23  not hurt folks on the ground.

         24                 I do think, as a matter of oversight,

         25  that the public deserves to understand the impact of
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          2  these penalties, that clearly we're not saying, oh,

          3  it's no problem whatsoever. I don't think anyone,

          4  and I know you're not saying it, I don't think

          5  anyone is saying if we were hit with those penalties

          6  it would have no impact. And no one is saying you

          7  would put up a white flag either. So, between those

          8  two extremes, and this is something we can do a

          9  follow-up letter on and ask for some response from

         10  the agency, what are some of the things that might

         11  happen?

         12                 It is an interim rule there is going

         13  to be further, theoretically further dialogue with

         14  Washington, further efforts to look at how this is

         15  effecting localities on the ground, and I think it's

         16  important that that public debate include an

         17  understanding that these penalties, if they happen,

         18  really hurt our efforts to achieve a goal here, and

         19  that the penalties are in fact, in a very clear way,

         20  in contradiction with the goals these regulations

         21  put forward, for a City like ours that's done so

         22  much to move people to self-sufficiency.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Sir, I agree

         24  with you. I think that we can send -- you can, as

         25  you always do, you can send us a follow-up letter
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          2  and we will respond and follow-up as we always do.

          3  But this is not work that we waited until they

          4  implemented or imposed for us to start doing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I can tell

          7  you very simply, when I have conversations with

          8  vendors and vendor staff, and I look at their

          9  engagement rates and I see they have old cases and

         10  they've not used everything that they could on

         11  either side, whether their side or our side.

         12                 Like say, for instance, they have

         13  like 25 staff doing engagement, but their engagement

         14  levels are so low and you wonder, well, what have

         15  you done to adhere? We pull them in then. I have put

         16  very specific cases on Commissioner's watch during

         17  the course of this process, where I saw a vendor

         18  just did not handle the case right, and I put the

         19  agency on Commissioner's watch. I have put vendors

         20  on everything on, within my authority, suspended

         21  payments to 30 days to prepare corrective actions.

         22                 And I wanted to get them trained and

         23  ready for that, so that as we go into the real hard

         24  core implementation that they know that they have

         25  the possibility of losing a grant, which is within
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          2  my authority to do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I hear that

          4  loud and clear. And again, anyone can say New York

          5  City deserves its fair share and we should not be

          6  penalized, particularly given our good effort. And

          7  that doesn't for a moment suggest that we shouldn't

          8  continue to improve our work or our efficiency. I

          9  don't think there's any contradiction there.

         10                 I would also note that none of us

         11  should assume that the trends that we've seen over

         12  the years are going to continue.

         13                 In other words, you've had tremendous

         14  success getting people off the welfare rolls, not

         15  because of alone the fact that it's been a healthy

         16  economic time.

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That is

         18  correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That has been

         20  one of a number of factors. We don't get to decide

         21  whether healthy economic times continue for us.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I just

         24  caution all of us that, you know, the burden could

         25  get greater as quickly as it got lesser, and that's
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          2  another reason why the federal government putting

          3  particularly stringent requirements on us could

          4  create a little bit of a perfect storm here where

          5  our challenges get bigger for other reasons

          6  simultaneously, that could also affect our

          7  participation rate.

          8                 So, we're going to need all the

          9  efficiency we can get. I'm glad that you're focused.

         10                 On the other hand, I fundamentally

         11  think we need to understand what the financial

         12  ramifications of all of this would be.

         13                 Now, just back on the previous point

         14  of how you strategically meet the goal. And no one

         15  is expecting that you have all the answers today,

         16  but I think we need to understand your strategy a

         17  little better.

         18                 Is it right, just again, simple for

         19  those of us who are not experts, is it right to say

         20  the current participation rate is 44 percent for the

         21  City or not? I saw that in the testimony. I just

         22  want to get it clear.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: The State

         24  right now is reporting that we're a little over 44

         25  percent, and the State is our official oversight,
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          2  based on the current rules.

          3                 So, we're going to say that --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Forty-four --

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Forty-four

          6  percent engaged.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I am,

          8  again, forgive my ignorance on understanding the

          9  current state of the federal regulations and how

         10  they treat any previous achievements in terms of

         11  participation rate and whether we get any additional

         12  credit going forward on that.

         13                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You're

         14  counting from 2005. The rule is changed. They were

         15  counting before from 1995, they're counting 2005 to

         16  current. Those are the rates.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, we don't

         18  gain any additional benefit above the 44?

         19                 Okay, so, again, the simple way, the

         20  reductionist way of saying this is you have to go

         21  from 44 to 50.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

         23  correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And what's the

         25  time frame that you will be measured on before any
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          2  penalties might be implemented?

          3                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: This is

          4  David's favorite. When I go like that, it means that

          5  I let them answer their favorites.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If this is

          7  David's favorite topic, David needs to get out more

          8  often. Okay?

          9                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I've been

         10  telling him that.

         11                 MR. HANSELL: That's a good question.

         12  And it's not an easy one to answer, because

         13  technically speaking we are governed by the rules as

         14  of October 1st. However, the State has just

         15  submitted its draft Work Verification Plan, and the

         16  expectation is that the State will be negotiating

         17  with the federal government over that plan, and that

         18  that plan won't actually take effect until

         19  essentially as late as October 1st, 2007. So, while

         20  we're technically under the new law for the next

         21  year, we don't really have a set of final State

         22  rules that govern us for the next year.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's right.

         24                 MR. HANSELL: So, we don't really know

         25  for sure when the State is going to be measuring --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: With the

          3  changing administration.

          4                 MR. HANSELL: With the Administration.

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Which is what

          6  we want to keep ever present.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me tell

          8  you, for those of us who happen to be in the party

          9  of the next Governor from by all indicators we would

         10  be happy to work together on this, because -- and

         11  this transcends partisanship, defending New York

         12  City's interest here.

         13                 But let me take you back to that

         14  caveat you just put there on the State piece. So,

         15  could you give us the range of possibilities,

         16  meaning if the clock started just now, does the

         17  federal government measure in year increments or in

         18  month? I mean, if they wanted to assess a penalty,

         19  what amount of time has to pass before they can do

         20  that, for example? And do they need to do it in

         21  coordination with the State?

         22                 MR. HANSELL: Yes, the State -- the

         23  federal government, I'm sorry, they measure in terms

         24  of fiscal year. So, federal fiscal year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Their fiscal
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          2  year.

          3                 MR. HANSELL: Their federal fiscal

          4  year.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's October?

          6                 MR. HANSELL: Right. October 1 through

          7  September 30.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Now,

          9  they've just started their fiscal year. Do they

         10  measure in year increments? Meaning a whole year

         11  must transpire before they will take any action?

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

         13  correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, are you

         15  saying they need the State to clarify its rules in

         16  order for them, the federal government, to make

         17  their final decisions in this matter?

         18                 MR. HANSELL: Yes, because the State's

         19  Work Verification Plan proposes definitions for the

         20  work activity that we would then be governed by. So,

         21  until the federal government either accepts or

         22  rejects the State's definitions, we don't know for

         23  sure what rules are going to be applicable to us.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. And

         25  let me just give you a for instance. In six months
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          2  from now -- I'm just going to take this out of hat,

          3  and you'll tell me if it's crazy or not -- if in six

          4  months from now the State decided its rules, do they

          5  apply retroactively?

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: The State has

          7  decided the rules.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: David, help me

          9  in terms of what you just said; what does the State

         10  have to do? Or the federal government has to accept

         11  the State rules you're saying?

         12                 MR. HANSELL: No, the federal

         13  government can accept or reject. And if they reject,

         14  then the State will have to revise them to bring

         15  them into conformity with what --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, it's really

         17  a matter of federal decision-making about

         18  State-proposed rules?

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

         20  correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's correct.

         22                 So, whenever that is completed, are

         23  the new State rules applied retroactively to October

         24  1st, 2006?

         25                 MR. HANSELL: Yes, we believe they
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          2  would be.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So any way you

          4  slice it, the clock is running right now.

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And then do you

          7  have any sense once you get to September 30, 2007,

          8  what the time line is for the federal government to

          9  decide if it wants to apply a penalty?

         10                 MR. HANSELL: Well, the federal

         11  government has indicated it wants to have approved

         12  Work Verification Plans for all states by that date.

         13  No later than October 1st, 2007.

         14                 So, we certainly anticipate they will

         15  begin to monitor us for penalty purposes by October

         16  1st, 2007 at the latest, potentially earlier, if the

         17  State's plan is approved earlier, but certainly by

         18  that date.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, in

         20  theory, you could get hit with a penalty by some

         21  point in calendar year 2007?

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I was saying

         23  to David, the tricky part is that we can't wait til

         24  2007. We have a New York State plan that the State

         25  expects us to start with now.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

          3                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I have to

          4  keep saying that, sir, for you to understand.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're living

          6  by that plan until you have a reason not to.

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Right now, in

          8  this moment.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

         10                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: So, now is

         11  the time for all good people to --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm in fact

         13  asking the questions to get at the fact that the

         14  clock is running now.

         15                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Right now.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And all these

         17  other gray areas your actions right now will

         18  determine --

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Right now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, during

         21  Calendar Year 2007, you could physically experience

         22  a penalty. I'm not wishing it on you. I'm just

         23  trying to get the facts straight.

         24                 Now, back on the strategy to go from

         25  44 to 50. And I'm doing this all in layman's terms
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          2  because I'm a layman and all of us here are trying

          3  to make sense of it, to go from 44 to 50, simple

          4  outline as best you can, what are the building

          5  blocks?

          6                 I know some of this is in your

          7  testimony. I'm just trying to get the simple form,

          8  to go from 44 to 50, using the State rules such as

          9  they are now as your own guidance, because that's

         10  what you got, how do you basically do it?

         11                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: After she

         12  answers that, for a program perspective, I'd like to

         13  offer some legislative notions that I think where

         14  the Council clearly needs to join us, and just --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I welcome that.

         16                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And reintroduce

         18  yourself just from the record.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes,

         20  I'm Pat Smith, First Deputy Commissioner.

         21                 As the Commissioner said in her

         22  testimony, we have a series of things in place, some

         23  of which are yielding fruit, in order to ensure that

         24  those people who can do participate, and that they

         25  participate at the highest levels.
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          2                 However, that being said, after the

          3  Commissioner convened the work group to improve our

          4  participation rate in the spring, we did come up

          5  with several things that are now helping us, right

          6  now helping us, to do some administrative things

          7  that we know will help.

          8                 For example, people who are in what

          9  is called, and I know this is a hard topic, but

         10  people who are in something called "the engagement

         11  process," do not count anywhere. That means that

         12  they're waiting for appointments, that there's

         13  letters out in the mail, that things are happening

         14  that are administrative in nature.

         15                 So, we have taken steps, and we just

         16  reprogrammed our computer system to reduce the time

         17  it takes to get an appointment letter to someone. We

         18  reduced it by seven days. And each one of these

         19  improvements, this is just one example, have been

         20  ascribed a percentage point.

         21                 One is worth, you know, .2, one is

         22  worth .7, I mean this is very tedious work, but each

         23  of these improvements are helping to increase the 44

         24  by incremental rates.

         25                 In order to spur our centers to be
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          2  extremely vigilant in this, the Commissioner

          3  introduced an intragency competition, whereby we've

          4  put together teams of centers from across the City,

          5  not only in one borough, but we've partnered centers

          6  from Brooklyn with centers from the Bronx to share

          7  best practices and to do other things that will help

          8  the underachieving centers, if one wants to call it,

          9  that learn from the higher-achieving centers, and

         10  we're currently engaged in the competition through

         11  December, at which there will be an award ceremony

         12  and things of that nature.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me

         14  interrupt you. Because I think you're helping us

         15  understand the theory, which that's very helpful,

         16  and to understand that's going to come from a lot of

         17  small places make sense.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But I'm going

         20  to ask something simplistic on purpose. Do your best

         21  to answer in-kind.

         22                 To go from 44 to 50, what are the

         23  main building blocks? In other words, if you sort of

         24  characterize it, if you say, well, you know, from

         25  that kind of effort of just improving processing
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          2  efficiency, that's going to get you one of those.

          3  You know, overall that's going to get you from 44 to

          4  45.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          6  Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Is there some

          8  sort of basic, and you can say draft, you can say

          9  any words you want to qualify it, but is there some

         10  kind of basic plan of what the building blocks are?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes,

         12  we do have a plan. And things such as reducing

         13  administrative inefficiencies is part of the plan.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What I'm saying

         15  is, do you think you can get it all done on reducing

         16  administrative inefficiencies?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         18  Well, that was one example.

         19                 Another example is some individuals

         20  work part time, and in the past that might have

         21  sufficed for participation, maybe it doesn't now.

         22  So, we have a lot of efforts underway now to engage

         23  people who are in part-time work to either help them

         24  achieve additional hours where they work, or get

         25  them into a job upgrade program or get them an
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          2  additional assignment that coupled with their

          3  part-time work will result in them counting for

          4  participation.

          5                 As was stated in the testimony, we

          6  currently have individuals who receive one-time only

          7  payments, single issues, in the jargon one-shot

          8  deals we've all heard the jargon. Those individuals,

          9  which is hard to understand, but most people count.

         10  In the month that they get that benefit, they are

         11  part of the caseload. So the federal government

         12  looks and says, well, why aren't they in a work

         13  activity? And, of course, historically we indicate

         14  that they aren't in a work activity because they

         15  were only here for a month and they have other forms

         16  of income, or they're engaged in other activities,

         17  or maybe they are in fact working, but they haven't

         18  been counted in that regard because we did not

         19  engage them in getting to work. So, we have done,

         20  one of our advocacies is to have them not count at

         21  the State level, and we're waiting for the State's

         22  decision on that proposal, and that will help a

         23  great deal as well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. I'm

         25  going to just recap so far. So, efficiencies in your
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          2  office, in processing, treating the part-time

          3  workers. Now, help me on that one more time,

          4  part-time workers will count as fulfilling the work

          5  participation requirement for their case, and that

          6  has not been the case up to now?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: It

          8  has in some individuals' cases.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But more

         10  consistently.

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         12  Exactly. And as the Commissioner said, one by one

         13  look at those.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         15                 And one shots, you're trying to

         16  exempt them because of the unusual nature of their

         17  situation.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         19  Correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right, so

         21  these are adjustments that if you keep making them

         22  successfully and from enough cases start to really

         23  add up.

         24                 Is there any other sort of

         25  fundamental building block of getting past the 50
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          2  point?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          4  Well, the other fundamental, and the most

          5  fundamental of all is what the Commissioner

          6  described in her testimony, and that is the

          7  customized nature of looking at cases wherever the

          8  person is. If they are an individual who is in the

          9  WeCARE program, they are a sanctioned individual. As

         10  was stated, we've made great strides with the

         11  sanction individuals, but clearly there is much more

         12  potential for us to work with those individuals who

         13  for some reason have experienced a sanction and have

         14  not participated in work activities, and to

         15  encourage them in an open dialogue as to why they

         16  haven't done that, and hopefully get them back into

         17  participating activities, or get them into the

         18  appropriate activity to move them to self

         19  sufficiency.

         20                 Because very often, on a sanctioned

         21  individual, you'll find that there was some

         22  underlying reason why they didn't participate that

         23  wasn't originally known. Perhaps there's a problem

         24  in the family, perhaps God forbid it's a domestic

         25  violence issue, substance abuse issue, mental health
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          2  issue, perhaps there's a child in the family who

          3  needs assistance and for this reason the parent

          4  couldn't participate.

          5                 So, the effort in the Intensive

          6  Services Center has been successful so far, and we

          7  think we can build on that success to better work

          8  with the sanctioned population.

          9                 As the Commissioner said in the

         10  testimony, the State has recognized that that's an

         11  important effort, has appropriated $15 million

         12  Statewide for counties to work with those families

         13  who are sanctioned in order to find out why.

         14                 Hopefully we engage them, or address

         15  the underlying issue as to why they could not

         16  participate.

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I have an

         18  add-on and I don't want to oversimplify it, I'm

         19  almost fearful. But you said, I mean you had allowed

         20  us room to say draft, I don't even want to

         21  characterize this as draft yet. But I think the

         22  baseline is just simple people stuff. The staff who

         23  determine eligibility must understand all of the

         24  elements of the rule that requires training. The

         25  tricky part about that is, we put all our eggs in a
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          2  basket of, we're going to advocate that these rules

          3  be, we kept doing what we were doing, the great fear

          4  of carving out a curriculum on this is the way the

          5  rules is going to be that those can shift. And how

          6  you take a workforce of that many thousands of

          7  people, engage them in intensified understanding

          8  this, and then facilitating a new one.

          9                 And then the other part of that, the

         10  other human part is getting the customer, the

         11  consumer to understand the various elements that

         12  will count as something. And I think that that's how

         13  you engage the customer in participating in their

         14  own engagement.

         15                 So, that if we can demystify, if you

         16  will, and stop acting as though the consumer doesn't

         17  have a say in their lifecycle, and you give them as

         18  much information as you can, and, you know, when we

         19  look at the CEO Commission's recommendations and

         20  we're talking about, you know, this whole access

         21  system that's going across Citywide, a perfect

         22  environment, perfect forum, simply finding

         23  efficiencies, giving the consumer more information,

         24  our own website, for the customer to understand the

         25  various ways, working with community-based groups
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          2  who work with consumers to help them to advocate for

          3  their rights, if you will, to get them to understand

          4  the nature of these rules so that they can come with

          5  assisting us to map out the plan that's going to so

          6  greatly impact their life.

          7                 And as I again say, you know, the

          8  tricky part about that is, how do you take folks

          9  down that road when it could be just in a matter of

         10  months eminent that this whole thing will change, it

         11  will be considered differently and the whole sort.

         12                 So, one of the bigger things is, is

         13  we're looking at an organized way of -- I'm not

         14  going to say organized, a holistic way of bringing

         15  all the training efforts together in one collective

         16  way at HRA. Some people are calling -- go ahead.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I was going

         18  to say I want to ask one more thing about sanctions,

         19  and then I have some other questions, I want to take

         20  a break from my questions and turn to Council Member

         21  Brewer who has joined us.

         22                 But let me just, on the sanctions

         23  piece, if I understand it correctly, compared to the

         24  rest of the State, we have a somewhat higher rate of

         25  sanctioning, if you will, and I hear you saying very
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          2  clearly that part of it is more deeply engaging the

          3  individuals and training your folks in how to do

          4  that.

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, I'm hearing

          7  that.

          8                 But I --

          9                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Training our

         10  folks in understanding the rules in the plan as they

         11  are, that these are the different ways to engage a

         12  customer.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

         14                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: This is what

         15  -- you know, not just going one way, like you've

         16  got to take this job and you've got to go to work.

         17  Our staff has got to understand that there are many

         18  ways now that the State is counting engagement.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         20  just make an editorial comment, which is we've had a

         21  lot of people on sanctions, you know, obviously

         22  these rules make the process in some ways more

         23  difficult for dealing with folks and sanctions.

         24                 You're right, engage them more.

         25  You're right, train your folks more. Is it also a
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          2  matter if you have to put more folks on that piece

          3  of the work, compared to other pieces you're doing?

          4                 I mean, can you do it --

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, in the

          6  sanction population?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes. Can you do

          8  it with the same amount of people if the rate is as

          9  high as this?

         10                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, if you

         11  remember from my last testimony, sir, I created a

         12  whole customized assistant service center, intensive

         13  case management, that does nothing other than focus

         14  on people who have been sanctioned, and we've had a

         15  result.

         16                 I think that we have specialized in

         17  such a way that unless somebody is giving me a whole

         18  load back of money to increase the number of people

         19  who is going to work on this smaller population, and

         20  you're talking about more staff to work in these

         21  areas. We still have a system in this City that

         22  counts headcount based on caseload where working

         23  right with Office of Management and Budget for them

         24  to get an understanding of caseload calculation to

         25  headcount, that just because our headcount, just
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          2  because our caseload reduced to 382,000, it doesn't

          3  mean that you can continue to calculate a formula of

          4  how many people can do that work based on that.

          5                 So, we're now looking at activities,

          6  and so I think that you're onto something. One of

          7  the activities that we must convince OMB of that

          8  requires a continued enhancement of headcount or

          9  staff in order to get that job done is the potential

         10  sanction, we either pay up front or we pay in the

         11  end in sanctions, the intensity level of the work,

         12  the type of staff that you need to understand and

         13  help the consumer understand all these things that

         14  brings them to engagement, but not a continued

         15  reduction of headcount because the caseload goes

         16  down.

         17                 So, I think it's many variables. But

         18  for right now we created an intensive case

         19  management center during the course of this

         20  administration, we created a WeCARE center during

         21  the course of this administration, so we teased

         22  things out to work with this population.

         23                 Can I use headcount? Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I offer the

         25  concept for the question in the same spirit you just
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          2  summarized. And I think that this is something that

          3  matters a lot to us, in terms of this immediate

          4  challenge and obviously, in terms of the upcoming

          5  budget process, and we will certainly follow-up with

          6  a letter for more specifics on this.

          7                 Ideally I want to make sure we're

          8  summarizing this properly.

          9                 If this is one of the areas where we

         10  most can effect our ability to avoid penalty, and

         11  it's an area that has been thorny, I mean you've put

         12  a lot of effort into it. It's not always such an

         13  easily solved problem case-by-case. So, I hear

         14  you've made a focused effort previously, but I'm

         15  trying to understand if you have within your current

         16  capacity as an agency the ability to move personnel

         17  to it, or if it's going to take other investment.

         18                 But you're absolutely right, if the

         19  result of not making the investment were penalties

         20  ranging from, you know, 150 to 375 million,

         21  depending on how you count, I think we would rue the

         22  day that we didn't put some more personnel onto

         23  dealing with people in sanctions so that we could

         24  avoid those penalties down the line.

         25                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's
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          2  correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, let me

          4  turn to Council Member Brewer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 I just have some questions about

          8  education, because I know that in the past we have

          9  all tried to make that a positive aspect of what

         10  people can look toward in terms of their future. And

         11  I think that, as I understand it, that to get

         12  towards that 50 percent, you can work in some

         13  vocational educational training activities. So, I'm

         14  just wondering if people are doing that, and what

         15  the participation rate is, and how that could

         16  perhaps help you between the 44 and 50 percent?

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Do you have

         18  the numbers?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes,

         20  of course. The federal, new federal regulations do

         21  have more limitations on the hours of training, so

         22  there are like lifetime limitations. But, of course,

         23  it can help, and of course it helps right now, and

         24  it always has.

         25                 Training numbers?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: We're

          3  bringing up the training numbers.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I was

          5  wondering how many people are participating.

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Exactly.

          7  We're bringing up the numbers.

          8                 Dr. Diamond (phonetic) does the

          9  Office of --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: We know her

         11  and like her very much.

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You do? You

         13  like her. So you now like her and Seth, that's on

         14  the record. You never said you liked me.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I like you,

         16  too, Commissioner.

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: In four and a

         18  half years you've never said it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: She hangs

         20  around the west side every once in awhile.

         21                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You know

         22  Seth's mom and she hangs around the west side, so

         23  that's the criteria for being liked?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It helps.

         25                 DR. DIAMOND: Currently, presently
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          2  there are about 2,500 people in education and

          3  training exclusively, full-time. Other people

          4  participate in education training along with our

          5  WeCARE program, as well as with the WEP program, and

          6  the Begin Program.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Are you trying

          8  to increase that number because of a change in

          9  federal policy? Or how are you approaching this

         10  issue?

         11                 DR. DIAMOND: Federal policy in this

         12  matter really didn't change.

         13                 The 12-month lifetime limit has been

         14  there, and it continued on. But we have always

         15  advocated if clients are interested in going for the

         16  training full-time, being mindful of that it leads

         17  towards a 12-month time limit, and ultimately a job.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And what

         19  are the activities that HRA counts toward or under

         20  the category vocational educational training? Is

         21  there some way of expanding this?

         22                 The reason we ask this, of course, is

         23  that many of these opportunities do lead to good

         24  jobs.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: We
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          2  certainly have expanded vocational training into the

          3  fields where jobs are available.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Construction.

          5  Yes, go ahead.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: And

          7  we've done that. And certainly, and I know, Council

          8  member, you always ask and you always do work with

          9  the WIA agency with Department of Small Business

         10  Services in getting training vouchers for those

         11  individuals eligible for those training vouchers in

         12  order to move them into vocational training as well.

         13  And our vendors, our back to work vendors are very

         14  much involved in getting people the vocational

         15  training that they need in order to get a job that

         16  will result in retention, because as was said by the

         17  Commissioner in her testimony the payments to the

         18  vendors are predicated on retention, and not on

         19  placement in a job alone. So, it's in everyone's

         20  best interest, and of course, it's in the customer's

         21  best interest to have a job that's sustained over

         22  time, and vocational training is often, not always,

         23  but often part of that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And do

         25  you feel that trying to get from this 44 to 50
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          2  percent, that there is some aspect of this education

          3  that can help you? Or is it --

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          5  Certainly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Maybe you

          7  talked about this earlier, but in terms of SSI and

          8  disability, I know that under WeCARE you have

          9  identified people to apply for disability, and some

         10  have been receiving benefits.

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         12  Mm-hmm.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm just

         14  wondering, knowing this program well, how is this

         15  number similar to what it has been in the past,

         16  higher, lower, and what's the status in terms of SSI

         17  disability?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: It's

         19  higher on initial acceptance. In the past our

         20  experience had been that almost everybody, like over

         21  90 percent, and I don't have the exact percentages

         22  here, but over 90 percent were denied the first time

         23  they applied, and only were successful upon appeal.

         24                 As in the testimony the Commissioner

         25  gave, WeCARE, in WeCARE, part of the WeCARE
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          2  contract, when those individuals are identified as

          3  being unfortunately disabled for over 12 months, it

          4  is the same WeCARE vendor who had arranged for the

          5  medical, assessed the medical, done the

          6  biopsychosocial assessment who takes the client all

          7  the way through the application process and that has

          8  resulted in a measurable increase in the number of

          9  first-time SSI acceptances. And we're very pleased

         10  with that result. That's one of the very good

         11  results. Eight percent of the 119,000

         12  biopsychosocial assessments to date have resulted in

         13  the determination that the person was in fact

         14  disabled to the SSI standard for 12 months or more,

         15  and over, is it 1,900, I'm sorry, I would have to

         16  refer to the testimony, have been aware and the

         17  others are still in the process of applying and it

         18  is the WeCARE vendor who takes them through the

         19  appeal process as well, if the appeal doesn't work.

         20  So, that continuity is very important, because in

         21  the past our experience had been that while we would

         22  assist people with appeal, very often we did not

         23  have a nice comprehensive -- we didn't have a

         24  comprehensive medical record, such that we could

         25  show that time, that continuity over time, because
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          2  as I'm sure you're aware, one of the main standards

          3  on SSI eligibility is that there has been a

          4  consistent medical standard and that that 12 months

          5  into the future has been proven, and certainly the

          6  amount of time that you have into the past is very

          7  helpful in that regard. So, that has helped a great

          8  deal in terms of identifying those individuals

          9  eligible for SSI and taking them through the entire

         10  process.

         11                 And, frankly, if I may? We did have

         12  some discussions with the federal government about

         13  when somebody does get SSI, because we have

         14  advocated that when an individual is ultimately

         15  awarded SSI, that means by definition the federal

         16  government has recognized the status as a disabled

         17  individual, and therefore, we have advocated and

         18  we're in some discussion for some retroactive credit

         19  for that regard, because we have taken the person to

         20  the proper benefit for them, and they should not

         21  have been engaged in a work activity because they

         22  couldn't be engaged in a work activity as

         23  acknowledged by their receipt of SSI from the same

         24  federal government who promulgated the rules.

         25                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: What we
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          2  mentioned earlier is, is, you know, the customer has

          3  gone through all of those things, you know, because

          4  WeCARE is basically about helping the customer to

          5  really substantially report or show that they are

          6  disabled as opposed to them doing it alone.

          7                 But more importantly, we've done all

          8  of that, then a customer goes to Fair Hearing to

          9  take forward to the Fair Hearing system, as you

         10  know, Pat represents here, that I've done all of

         11  those things, I've proven it by fact, and then you

         12  have the system, the Fair Hearing system, not

         13  accepting that as valid or actual. And, so, what

         14  we've done is we've added on to meet the end of

         15  that, we're putting a medical person into the Fair

         16  Hearing Court System so that we can have an

         17  additional person in the room interpreting what we

         18  found medically to further prove that this person

         19  is, so that that won't be rejected.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Maybe if you

         21  get the retroactive money, that can also help you

         22  with your incremental percentages.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Exactly.

         24  That's exactly right.

         25                 And the Fair Hearing Court is way
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          2  backlogged, which is a State thing, so...

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, we have a

          4  lot of people coming into the office with the same

          5  problems. I'm very familiar with it.

          6                 Just a general question, in terms of

          7  those with sanctions, obviously child care,

          8  substance abuse, et cetera, I think we all know the

          9  challenges that many of us face, so my question is

         10  when people have those needs, you feel that there is

         11  enough programs and enough opportunities to be able

         12  to help to get through those challenges; in other

         13  words, drug treatment and affordable child care, et

         14  cetera, mental health services and so on?

         15                 Because you have to have something

         16  that's culturally appropriate that makes sense to

         17  you as the individual.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: We

         19  have an obligation under all the rules to ensure

         20  that the person has proper child care before putting

         21  them in any work activity. And if that child care is

         22  not found, and if we are not able for some reason to

         23  provide regulated care to that individual, these two

         24  choices of regulated care, then we can't put them

         25  into a work activity.
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          2                 So, that is part of parental choice.

          3  It's a very difficult thing for many parents. If's a

          4  very difficult thing for many parents in every

          5  segment of society.

          6                 As I know you're aware, most of the

          7  responsibility for child care provision has moved so

          8  as now consolidated under the Administration for

          9  Children's Services.

         10                 We're working very closely with them,

         11  and it is everyone's hope that the fusion of the two

         12  kind of child care stand alone systems will result

         13  in better child care for everyone in New York City.

         14                 That said, you know, affordable child

         15  care, the child care for a participant who is a TANF

         16  participant is paid for, and there is no debate

         17  about that. So, while one is a TANF participant,

         18  child care is paid for. So, if your question is does

         19  that impede engagement, other than issues of

         20  parental choice and parents having concerns about

         21  where they're children are cared for, of course,

         22  appropriate concerns, once it is established, the

         23  payment for the affordability of it is not a concern

         24  of the person who is a TANF participant.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Just making
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          2  sure that it is quality, as you just suggested.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          4  Absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And people

          6  will turn it down, and I completely understand that.

          7                 So do you find that there are an

          8  undue number of people, for instance, with children

          9  under six, or sort of preschool that have sort of

         10  sanctions for this reason? Or is that not something

         11  that's of concern?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: It's

         13  always of concern, Council member.

         14                 However, in our Intensive Services

         15  Center, if that were the reason, and if when the

         16  individual came in we were having an engaging

         17  discussion with them they indicated that they could

         18  not find child care and that the original center,

         19  who should have taken that into account did not,

         20  they have child care experts there. They're located

         21  at 1090 16th Street, they work closely with the

         22  Administration with children services, and that

         23  would be one of the supports that would be necessary

         24  for us to put in place.

         25                 Again, if there is no acceptable
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          2  child care, and there are rules about whether or

          3  not, you know, if we provide regulated care the

          4  parent does have an obligation to accept that care.

          5                 So, we have to provide that regulated

          6  care, and that is something we built in, the

          7  Commissioner built into the Intensive Service

          8  Center, when we are interviewing sanctioned clients,

          9  they're on site there.

         10                 So, it's always of concern. It's a

         11  paramount concern. However, it is something that the

         12  City has addressed and will continue to address very

         13  aggressively.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me follow

         16  up on a couple of the points where, first let me

         17  just take you back to the SSI question.

         18                 I understand that you've made, you've

         19  taken steps to improve the process of getting folks

         20  into the SSI who deserve it, can we get a sense of

         21  the numbers of, you know, what's been achieved

         22  through the steps you've taken in terms of either

         23  percentage increase, or total number of people who

         24  have now gotten SSI, compared to where it was

         25  before?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes,

          3  the current was in the testimony, but the before was

          4  not. So, we can certainly provide that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You said the

          6  current is in the testimony but the before --

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: The current

          8  is, and the before we'll send you as one of the

          9  follow-up items.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Do you

         11  have any broad sense of what the increase has been,

         12  or the percentage increase has been?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: With

         14  regard to the first application, the percentage

         15  increase has been very large. I don't know exactly,

         16  and we'll have to get that to you.

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Right. And we

         18  said that in the past, that 90 percent were denied

         19  first step, at first step. And so now it's 50,

         20  50/50. We'll get you actuals.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. Let

         22  me ask also, and I'm trying to understand this

         23  piece, how it relates to the new federal rules. Now,

         24  is it correct to say the federal rules allow 30

         25  percent of the caseloads to be engaged in education?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          3  Training.

          4                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Training.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          6  Training.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Training. Okay,

          8  but help me on my definitions. How broad or narrow

          9  is that definition?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: It's

         11  vocationally based in the main. It excludes

         12  four-year college, I think. It's primarily

         13  activities leading to jobs, training activities

         14  leading to jobs.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Does language

         16  count? Language training count or not?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         18  That's education, which is under different

         19  limitations. English as a Second Language, basic

         20  education is considered education, not training.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, let me

         22  get it straight now.

         23                 So, 30 percent in training, and it's

         24  essentially vocational directs, not so much what you

         25  might call indirect.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          3  Correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And is

          5  there a second percentage for pure education?

          6                 Seth, would you like to join us

          7  formally? Because you would be more than welcome.

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I was going

          9  to read you the actual definition, but we'll let him

         10  give you --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, actually

         12  you need to work on signs like they have in

         13  baseball, where Seth would do certain things, like

         14  pull on his ear and that would mean the percentage

         15  --

         16                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, you

         17  obviously didn't hear the conversation I had with

         18  Council Member Brewer about the categories that you

         19  folk hold, in order to like employees at HRA. She

         20  mentioned living in a certain location and knowing

         21  Seth's mom, and I don't fit either category.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: There you go.

         23                 Back on the question at hand. So,

         24  what might be considered more direct education or

         25  peer education, what's that number?
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  DIAMOND: Okay, just a couple of points on this as

          4  background.

          5                 First, in addition to the 30 percent

          6  limitation on vocational training, there's an

          7  individual limit of 12 months in a lifetime for any

          8  one individual and how long they can be in training.

          9                 We have had some discussions with the

         10  State, because the initial interpretation that the

         11  State was taking of that 12 months was that it went

         12  all the way back to the original passage of TANF. So

         13  that if somebody had been in 12 months all the way

         14  since 1996 or '97 to today, any time that they were

         15  in vocational training, that counted against their

         16  12-month clock.

         17                 We didn't think that that was a fair

         18  approach. We thought it also penalized New York,

         19  which had been keeping records of what activities

         20  people were in, whereas other states that weren't

         21  keeping good records, it would get an advantage

         22  then, because people would have no time on the

         23  12-month clock.

         24                 So, the State is proposing to the

         25  federal government at our initiation that everyone's
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          2  clock essentially be reset, that the 12-month clock

          3  be reset at zero so that people can have the full 12

          4  months that they should be entitled to going

          5  forward.

          6                 So, we think that that will help us

          7  in terms of achieving the rate, in terms of

          8  flexibility as to what activity we should assign.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I'm

         10  unclear, that proposal was accepted? Is that

         11  proposal being considered?

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  DIAMOND: That's one element in the verification plan

         14  that was submitted that David Hansell talked about

         15  earlier, that was part of a larger package that the

         16  State submitted to the federal government that's now

         17  under review that needs to be adopted, rejected --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So you may or

         19  may not get that, correct?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  DIAMOND: Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         23                 So, just to help me again, we're

         24  going to try and keep it to the simple numbers. At

         25  first just a definition of educational programs
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          2  versus training.

          3                 Training has to be directly

          4  vocational. Education could be things like English

          5  as a Second Language, or a GED?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  DIAMOND: Right, GED. Basic education, those kinds of

          8  things are acceptable as education. One twist on

          9  education is that the first 20 hours of activity

         10  have to be what's called a core activity.

         11                 Education is not counted as a core

         12  activity, it's only acceptable for the hours above

         13  20. Vocational training, as long as you satisfy the

         14  other limitations, the 30 percent and the 12 months,

         15  can count for those first 20 hours.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And,

         17  again, if you put it into, I want to make sure I'm

         18  getting this right, what is the allowable amount of

         19  education within the overall participation rate? Can

         20  you explain it in those terms?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  DIAMOND: You theoretically could have everyone in

         23  education for the hours between 21 and 30, as long

         24  as they were doing some core activity that counted;

         25  for example, work experience where they were in a
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          2  paid work program, for the first 20 hours you could

          3  have, everyone could be in education, that wouldn't

          4  make sense given the assessment of the caseload, but

          5  there's no limitation. Just one twist, though, on

          6  education, just so you're aware, the federal

          7  government in its proposed definition of education

          8  said that it had to be targeted to a specific job,

          9  meaning you could only train people for where a job

         10  had been identified and you were training them for

         11  that job.

         12                 We thought that that was too narrow a

         13  definition of education and that should be

         14  contextualized with work and work appropriate, but

         15  it shouldn't have to be directed to a specific job.

         16  So, that's, again, an element that's in the proposed

         17  plan, the State agreed with us, sent that to the

         18  federal government and we're hopeful that the

         19  federal government will be flexible because that

         20  narrow a definition of education would be

         21  problematic for us.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. So,

         23  you get the broader definition and you get some

         24  other of the rulings you hope for.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  DIAMOND: Mm-hmm.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you have a

          4  strategic opportunity here to do more with education

          5  and with vocational training to reduce some of the

          6  pressure you now have in trying to get to this 50

          7  percent overall rate?

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  DIAMOND: Yes, they're essential components of an

         10  overall program. We need those activities to

         11  supplement the other kinds of activities, both

         12  programmatically, in terms of giving people the

         13  skills they need we needed, plus from a practical

         14  point of view, people will not be able to do things

         15  like Work Experience for the full hours to be able

         16  to meet the 30-hour requirement. You need other

         17  activities in the mix to give people the full

         18  complimentive hours they need to be accountable for

         19  participation. So, you need education activities

         20  where appropriate, vocational activities where

         21  appropriate, either stand alone, with vocational, or

         22  in combination with work experience.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I'm

         24  saying it, let me say it a little more clearly,

         25  strategically do you need to change the percentages
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          2  of participation, or the amount of participation in

          3  education or in training?

          4                 Now, tell me if you can focus on my

          5  incredibly complex question here, talking amongst

          6  yourselves.

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: We're trying

          8  to make sure the answer is going to be exact, sir.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I know.

         10                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Anticipating

         11  your question.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm just having

         13  a little fun here, Commissioner.

         14                 The question I have is strategically

         15  do you need to change or increase the amount of

         16  participation in education or in training to deal

         17  with the strategic imperative of getting to the 50

         18  percent?

         19                 So, I'm hearing you say you're going

         20  to use those tools. You're going to use all the

         21  tools. But do you know right now strategically

         22  you're going to have to rely on more to help you get

         23  onto the 50 percent?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  DIAMOND: Well, we need more participants across the
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          2  board to get to the 50 percent. And as we bring on

          3  more participants, we would expect that some number

          4  of them would be able to engage in education and

          5  training activities.

          6                 The basic structure that we have

          7  meets the participation requirements. We have a

          8  Begin program, for example, that provides

          9  educational activities that is based on providing

         10  three days a week or about 20 hours of work

         11  experience and two days a week in the classroom. So

         12  that structure is compliant with the federal rules,

         13  and we have a training system that allows people to

         14  be in vocational activities after they follow an

         15  assessment, that, again, will allow them to be

         16  accountable for participation. So, the basic

         17  structure is there, and as we add participants, more

         18  and more people will be in those activities.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right, now,

         20  with your back to work program, and the contracts

         21  you have for back to work, are you modifying those

         22  contracts in any way to ensure that your vendors

         23  move people into training programs or education

         24  programs as appropriate with your new strategy?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:
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          2  Council Member, can I just say something?

          3                 The Commissioner just got a copy, I

          4  guess last night, of the letter that the State ODTA

          5  sent to the federal government on the Work

          6  Verification Plan, which includes these training

          7  definitions and the amounts, the way they're going

          8  to go about pursuing the federal approval. So, I

          9  think it would be helpful if maybe as part of the

         10  package after this hearing you see that actual

         11  letter. Because, you know, Seth was talking frankly

         12  and honestly about the discussions that have been

         13  occurring up til the day before yesterday, and the

         14  letter is now here, so...

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: It's a moving

         16  target.

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: It is. That's

         18  the scary part of it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         21  Sitting in the right seat apparently.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, we

         23  appreciate that. But I still think the question

         24  still has merit even in an ever-changing situation.

         25  Are you going to reinstruct your vendors, or change
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          2  their contracts, so that there might be more of a

          3  focus on training education, or more of an incentive

          4  for them to include that in the package of services

          5  they are providing in light of the need to reach

          6  this new goal?

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  DIAMOND: Well, we expect the vendors to use whatever

          9  services are appropriate to get people into jobs. As

         10  you know, and as the Commissioner said, don't pay

         11  them unless they get people into jobs.

         12                 So, certainly the expectation is that

         13  training and education would be part of the next,

         14  with Job Search and other kinds of support services,

         15  to keep people employed.

         16                 One of the things that we are doing,

         17  and Joe DeMartino, who is here, and heads the new

         18  Department the Commissioner identified in the

         19  testimony, meets weekly with the vendors to talk

         20  about issues of participation. And one of the things

         21  that he's discussed with them is doing a better job

         22  keeping track of on an individual vendor basis, on

         23  an individual person basis, what they're actually

         24  doing with the person.

         25                 How much time they spend with the
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          2  person is in education, how much is in training, how

          3  much in job search, how much is in other kinds of

          4  support services activities?

          5                 Right now we count the time that they

          6  spend with the vendor, but we're not that specific

          7  on the composition of the hours that they spend with

          8  the vendor.

          9                 We need to do a better job of

         10  counting that because that will help us for some of

         11  the participation and be able to monitor how the

         12  vendors are doing.

         13                 Right now we certainly monitor how

         14  they're doing in terms of placement. We track how

         15  well they do in terms of giving people what we call

         16  individual training account vouchers, which are

         17  vouchers for people to participate in full-time

         18  training. Those are all measures that we look at

         19  when we evaluate the vendors at the VendorStat

         20  meeting that the Commissioner mentioned.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         22  just do one final take on this and then just have

         23  one or two more, then you guys can go back to the

         24  good work at your office.

         25                 I guess I'm still trying to
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          2  understand, though, in an ever-changing dynamic, do

          3  the contracts change with it?

          4                 I'm hearing you about the training,

          5  and I'm hearing you about your accountability

          6  measures, I'm saying if you now have this intense

          7  imperative to reach the participation rate, do the

          8  contracts change to incentivize, obviously good

          9  service to the client, I'm not suggesting otherwise,

         10  but to incentivize what meets your numerical goals

         11  different than what might have last year?

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: The contracts

         13  can change, which is why I chose to sit with the

         14  vendors every Thursday, and look at the vendors'

         15  work. And that's the work that I've been doing with

         16  the vendors over the course of the last year or so.

         17  Everything, as I stated earlier, from putting them

         18  on Commissioner's watch if they're ineffective, to

         19  making baseline vendor changes. This is no longer an

         20  acceptable thing.

         21                 Now, will they be enhanced, will we

         22  do more changes? Yes, we're going to have to. It's

         23  going to be necessary. And I'm going to keep saying,

         24  that's not only private vendors, those would be our

         25  City vendors as well. And one of our City vendors is
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          2  a vendor like the Parks Department, is a vendor

          3  like, you know, all the other City entities. Those

          4  are vendors. They're City partners, but their

          5  vendors.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

          7                 Okay, I have one last category of

          8  understanding the new regulations, and then just a

          9  close-out question about where we're going from here

         10  with these federal rules.

         11                 The last category is parents with

         12  children under six. I know that was mentioned

         13  before. I just want to get a clearer take on that.

         14                 Is it true that we hold a higher

         15  standard than the federal requirement in terms of

         16  the number of hours of work activity for people in

         17  that category?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         19  We've had a standard of 35-hour work week, the

         20  federal government standard is a 30-hour work week.

         21                 We have no difference on the core

         22  activities, which are the activities that are work

         23  and work experience. The 35-hour work activity

         24  standard is predicated on the real world where the

         25  lowest amount of a full-time job is 35 hours usually
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          2  in New York.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I understand

          4  that, and I'm just saying again, the whole question

          5  today, or the whole theme today is how do we

          6  navigate productively these new rules.

          7                 Are you giving any thought to, and I

          8  think it's fair to say, different jobs configure

          9  different ways and some people have more than one

         10  job, and whatever the different personal situation

         11  is, but does bringing the City requirement down to

         12  30 give you any additional flexibility in terms of

         13  dealing with this problem or the problem we're

         14  facing overall? Or you believe the 35 hours is

         15  something you don't want to reconsider?

         16                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I don't think

         17  there is any one magic bullet. I think I said

         18  earlier on in my testimony that I think we're going

         19  to have to look at each individual element as

         20  opposed to doing a holistic we're going to do

         21  reduction in this way, we're going to do reduction

         22  in that way. I think we need to get really maybe

         23  understanding each one of these.

         24                 As, you know, Ms. Smith said, we just

         25  received this from the State. We need to get knee
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          2  deep in it and we need to talk about those

          3  adjustments. I think what will be helpful for you,

          4  sir, and your Committee is for you to be in real

          5  time like we are, and plus to get you a copy of it

          6  so that you can understand it. We can give you as

          7  much narrative of our understanding of it, because

          8  that's the missing piece right here, you know, the

          9  real time. It's happening as we speak.

         10                 But I don't think we need to change

         11  one whole thing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Given

         13  your experience of this last year or two of trying

         14  to have a productive dialogue with HSS and others in

         15  Washington, in light of our situation, and doing so

         16  from the perspective of a City that has really

         17  achieved a lot, so I would think you personally and

         18  the Mayor would be regarded by the policy-makers of

         19  Washington as people who come to the table, you

         20  know, with not only experience but achievement, and

         21  that would give greater validity to your concerns.

         22                 Do you believe there is any realistic

         23  hope of modification of these rules during this

         24  interim time, that by the time the federal rules

         25  become final, that they will look any different than
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          2  they do now. Do you believe there is still any back

          3  and forth?

          4                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I absolutely

          5  do believe that. I think one of the greatest

          6  strengths of the Mayor's Administration is the

          7  consistency in the administration that, you know,

          8  across the board in his agencies, we stayed on for a

          9  second term.

         10                 Transformation can be deadly. The

         11  fact that I still sit in this role and have the

         12  capacity to continue having those conversations with

         13  those folk in a federal level, the trickiest part is

         14  the State liaison in between the locality and the

         15  federal government. I think we've done incredible

         16  work in Washington, D.C., singularly as City entity,

         17  but also with the help of the State.

         18                 I think the thing that I'm most

         19  concerned about is this transition time. I don't

         20  want us to have to start the conversations again.

         21  So, I think we need to not do the big easy and be

         22  like everybody else and treat Albany like business

         23  is closed until the next person comes. I think we

         24  need to continue putting our stuff up there and

         25  holding people accountable to those things, all the
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          2  way up to 11:59 p.m., when the new Governor is sworn

          3  in.

          4                 I think if we don't and we get lazy,

          5  it's going to be on us. And that's what I think.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I say

          7  amen to that.  And we want to join you in that,

          8  because I think it's troubling, the public does not

          9  expect government to go home for three or four

         10  months during a transition. So, I think you're

         11  absolutely right, and we want to help in any way we

         12  can with that.

         13                 And I know you would never want to

         14  say this or respond to this, but I would say that

         15  even people on the way out the door are still

         16  thinking about their futures, and, you know, the

         17  ability of their governments to do work in the

         18  meantime and be accountable to the taxpayers is a

         19  pertinent issue going forward.

         20                 But let me ask also, I asked you this

         21  before, meaning in a previous hearing, and I'm going

         22  to ask it again.

         23                 If you believe there is still some

         24  give and take with Washington going forward, then I

         25  would editorialize that the Mayor's personal
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          2  involvement, whether with the secretary of HHS or

          3  even up to the level of the President, is crucial

          4  and I would urge and would be interested to know if

          5  as part of the game plan the Mayor be personally

          6  involved in lobbying for additional revisions in

          7  these federal rules.

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: In answering

          9  that, I can say that the Mayor has not been not

         10  involved. I think that the Mayor is, he is one to

         11  continue raising the bar. I said the other day at a

         12  CEO presentation in Brooklyn that it was not enough

         13  for this Mayor to say we've reduced the rolls. This

         14  Mayor, when he asked us repeatedly what are the next

         15  steps? Where have they gone? What do we do next? The

         16  CEO was in response to that, what do we do next?

         17  Okay, so we've had success, we've moved people, now

         18  what do we do?

         19                 I think what he's done successfully,

         20  all of his conversations, whether it's about his

         21  continued advocacy on education, his new

         22  announcement today, his whole commitment to adult

         23  education, and just his whole approach of Citywide

         24  across the board, bringing legislation on line so

         25  that the bottom line as we bring people to the
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          2  maximum level of self-alliance, and not working with

          3  each organization as if each one of us have a

          4  different responsibility. So, I think that that's

          5  true of the Mayor across the board on all of his

          6  agendas that he presents to Health and Human

          7  Services.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I don't

          9  disagree with what you're saying. I'm saying I think

         10  we need his personal and direct advocacy in

         11  Washington, given the magnitude of what we're

         12  talking about here.

         13                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: And I'm

         14  responding by saying he has never stopped.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         16                 I know Council Member Brewer has one

         17  more question, so let me turn to her before you

         18  leave.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quickly,

         20  on the drug treatment, and you may have talked about

         21  this earlier, but I did spend 12 years working in

         22  that area and one of the concerns is that it is 18

         23  months, mother and child, at Veritas, Oddesy,

         24  Phoenix, wherever the few programs are, it's 18

         25  months. Now, does any of that count toward

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  assistance or this new six-month rule or six-week

          3  rule? Whatever it is, is that applicable?

          4                 In other words, the drug treatment

          5  has got to be one of your barriers to getting to

          6  self-sufficiency, and I never understood people who

          7  don't understand that, and I think you agree. And a

          8  high-quality program is almost 100 percent

          9  guaranteed self-sufficiency.

         10                 So, the question is, is that

         11  something you're arguing with regarding the federal

         12  government, or how do you approach high-quality drug

         13  treatment?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: As

         15  stated, as the Commissioner stated earlier, Council

         16  Member, one of the things we understand about the

         17  regulations as they currently stand is that we're

         18  not going to be prisoner to numbers. And we have

         19  moved many, many individuals into substance abuse

         20  treatment programs, and we continue to do so on a

         21  daily basis. We know that the limitation is now very

         22  severe; however, we have not changed our service

         23  plan, nor do we intend to change our service plan.

         24                 We are stringent now in ensuring that

         25  people go into the correct program for them. They
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          2  are assessed by a CASAC. They are only assigned to a

          3  program that is appropriate for their level of

          4  treatment need, and that is the way we will continue

          5  to do service. And from an advocacy perspective,

          6  yes, we have to advocate, and we continue to

          7  advocate, that those artificial limitations, if one

          8  will, do not apply. Certainly they do apply in some

          9  subsets of the substance abuse treatment population,

         10  and we do that right now.

         11                 I mean, we often determine that an

         12  individual, the CASAC Office will determine that an

         13  individual can both participate in a work activity

         14  and go to treatment part-time. However, sometimes

         15  they assess that the client needs full-time

         16  treatment, residential treatment, et cetera, and we

         17  stick with it until the treatment is over. And our

         18  advocacy has to be in the rule change, not in the

         19  service change, because that is, as you stated, one

         20  area where one cannot compromise if you are to have

         21  success.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, this is

         23  one of the areas that you're going to try to change

         24  the minds. OASIS should be helpful with that. That

         25  is an agency in Albany that does understand this
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          2  community.

          3

          4  So, it would seem to me that that would be a place

          5  to go for support.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          7  Mm-hmm.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I lied.

         11  Council Member Annabel Palma has one last question,

         12  as well.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you. And

         14  I apologize, I had to step out for a press

         15  conference, but I don't know if you answered this

         16  question, Commissioner.

         17                 I'm interested in knowing, with the

         18  limitations in the program like HRA Back to Work,

         19  those clients now have six weeks that they'll be

         20  accounted for in participating in those programs.

         21  Maybe I'm not -- so, the program has a six-week

         22  limitation, correct?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Back

         24  to Work doesn't have a six-week limitation. Job

         25  Search. You're talking about just Job Search.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Just Job Search

          3  Program.

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes,

          5  right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Now, the

          7  clients that participate in those programs, are they

          8  going to be counted towards the participation rate?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         10  Usually they have a core hour activity. And if they

         11  have a core hour activity, meaning they're maybe in

         12  pain employment, they may be in a Work Experience

         13  assignment, then they will count provided that it is

         14  the rest. It is a full-time limitation on Job

         15  Search.

         16                 The six-week limitation on Job Search

         17  does not apply if you're also in a core activity for

         18  other things, and if you are doing other things

         19  besides just job search. And job search, the

         20  definitions nationally have been very varied, I'll

         21  put it that way.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay, thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         25  Council member.
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          2                 And thank you, Commissioner, and to

          3  all of your team. We obviously, you have a lot of

          4  work to do, but we all have a lot of work to do to

          5  support the effort to improve these rules and to

          6  ensure New York City is treated fairly, and we look

          7  forward to working with you. And you said you had

          8  legislative ideas, I look forward to a discussion on

          9  that whenever you wish. Thank you.

         10                 All right, our next panel, we welcome

         11  Ken Stephens of Legal Aid, Don Friedman of Community

         12  Service Society, and one of our most popular guests

         13  over the years, Joel Berg, New York City Coalition

         14  Against Hunger.

         15                 If this were a call-in show, whenever

         16  Joel came on we'd get lots of calls, I know that.

         17                 Now, I've been handed a bible-like

         18  document here from Joel Berg, and I want to

         19  emphasize to all the witnesses coming forward,

         20  summarization and extemporaneous speaking is a

         21  really, really good thing, giving your core thematic

         22  points. Everything else, of course, will be part of

         23  the permanent record of the hearing, all written

         24  testimony goes into the permanent record.

         25                 Who would like to begin?
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          2                 MR. BERG: I've been nominated. Thank

          3  you, again, Chair DeBlasio, for having this hearing.

          4  I'm steadfastly focusing on poverty issues. I wish

          5  the media would do the same.

          6                 This only affects a few hundred

          7  thousand New Yorkers --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You have to

          9  introduce yourself.

         10                 MR. BERG: I'm Joel Berg, Executive

         11  Director of the New York City Coalition Against

         12  Hunger.

         13                 Before I make some of the points, I

         14  prepared just a few responses to the testimony we

         15  heard.

         16                 Your very pointed question is if

         17  there's a penalty from the State and the State loses

         18  hundreds of millions of dollars with that reduced

         19  services, I would say a simple answer from our

         20  perspective would be yes.

         21                 If the Commissioner said, well, we'd

         22  look and improve efficiencies, my obvious question

         23  would be why not do that today, if there are

         24  efficiencies that can be found, I was a taxpayer, I

         25  would like them to go into effect immediately.
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          2                 We've talked about, a bit about a new

          3  Governor, and I think it's absolutely critical we

          4  all collectively help the next Governor-elect,

          5  whoever he is, understand the importance of these

          6  issues and understand that there could be serious

          7  fiscal implications, but we've overlooked the fact

          8  there might be a new Congress. And, so, a different

          9  majority in Congress, I would urge if there is that

         10  we not only raise these issues with HHS, but let's

         11  say Congressman Rengal happens to be the Chair of

         12  the Ways and Means Committee, we could have real

         13  progress on that level as well.

         14                 The point about the State meant that

         15  40 hours a week is the standard work week. Yes, my

         16  office is a 40 hours a week is a standard work week,

         17  but people get an hour for lunch, which means the

         18  real week is 32 hours. And the average work week for

         19  the American worker is 30 hours.

         20                 So, one of my points in my testimony,

         21  in my bible, is that we continue to have a

         22  ridiculous double-standard of low-income Americans.

         23  If you're a yuppie and you leave your kid with a

         24  nanny, you're irresponsible. But if you're a

         25  low-income woman, you're forced to leave your kid
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          2  either in child care, if you can't have child care,

          3  leave your kid alone.

          4                 Many times I've come here, and I've

          5  slammed conservatives, I will put a little challenge

          6  to liberals who I think really miss the boat on

          7  welfare reform, and our former mutual boss, Bill

          8  Clinton, I think got it right. I think sometimes

          9  liberals underestimated the desire of low-income

         10  Americans to work, and the fact that many low-income

         11  Americans were working. And I think if the

         12  conservative sort of scapegoated low-income

         13  Americans, sometimes I think liberals patronize

         14  them. And I think we need a welfare policy in the

         15  City and in the State and in this country that

         16  really understands how many people were working,

         17  even before welfare reform, if you've read Jason

         18  DeParle's book The American Dream, he really

         19  indicates just how many people were working off the

         20  books or on the books before welfare reform, and

         21  just people have the slightly different status

         22  today.

         23                 One thing I did specifically want to

         24  address are the continued numbers we hear about the

         25  dramatic success of welfare reform in New York City.
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          2                 I again say that it worked better

          3  than many of the most left-winged critics predicted,

          4  but with that I think we have to grapple that many

          5  of the defenders today and many of the people who

          6  just say that as a given, that any reduction in

          7  welfare rolls is automatically good, are really not

          8  looking at the reality.

          9                 Why has poverty increased? Why has

         10  hunger increased? Why has homelessness increased?

         11  Why has inequality of wealth increased.

         12                 If the people who defend welfare

         13  reform ever mention those things, they say, oh,

         14  those happened despite welfare reform, I would

         15  suggest a logical question would be, is one reason

         16  those things happen because deficiency in welfare

         17  reform.

         18                 One of the most interesting

         19  statistics we keep hearing over and over and over

         20  and over again, the numbers are slightly different

         21  today, so I'll go by the previous iterations; out of

         22  the people who have left public assistance for work

         23  in New York City, 88 percent retain their jobs after

         24  three months, and 75 percent have stayed employed

         25  after six months.

                                                            116

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 We've heard that before this

          3  Committee, we've heard something similar today.

          4                 And so 88 percent who leave welfare

          5  for work have maintained their jobs, and it sort of

          6  implies that's out of all the people on the rolls,

          7  or out of the people they've left. It's only out of

          8  the people who left with jobs. That's like saying,

          9  out of the people who left a hospital walking, 88

         10  percent were healthy in six months.

         11                 And my broader point, as I mentioned

         12  here, judging the success of welfare reform solely

         13  by how many people have left the rolls, is like

         14  judging the success of a hospital solely by how many

         15  people left. When I'm sure we all agree, it matters

         16  a great deal whether you left cured, ill or dead,

         17  and yet our one indication of whether it works is

         18  where there are a few people getting welfare. And

         19  yet, you never hear a public discussion, well fewer

         20  people are getting Social Security, great. Let's

         21  just assume that poor people's benefits are bad,

         22  benefits for other people we call subsidies to help

         23  them relocate downtown. And I must say, for the

         24  first time ever, I'm not going to dwell on Food

         25  Stamps today, expect the fact that the Mayor, and

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  we've had many positive indications they're focusing

          3  more on food issues, did unfortunately say on a

          4  radio show a few weeks ago that you have to work to

          5  get Food Stamps, which is a misunderstanding of law

          6  since the 1930s, and he said that Food Stamps

          7  promote dependency.

          8                 I just really respectfully suggest

          9  that anyone who supports tens of millions dollars or

         10  more for Goldman Sachs to stay a few feet away, and

         11  doesn't call that dependency, and calls $1.23 per

         12  meal, which is the Food Stamps allotment, in New

         13  York City dependency, that's a problem.

         14                 I will close by just saying what

         15  those 88 percent statistics mean. City Limits

         16  reported, and to my knowledge, no one from the City

         17  has ever contradicted this, or anyone else looked at

         18  it, that only 23 percent of New Yorkers who leave

         19  the welfare rolls have reported jobs when do so.

         20                 So the 88 percent number isn't 88

         21  percent of 100, it's 88 percent of 23 percent. And

         22  the 75 percent number after six months is 75 percent

         23  of 23 percent. They always imply it's of 100

         24  percent. 75 percent of the people left welfare, I'm

         25  talking about 75 percent of the people who had jobs
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          2  reported jobs. That means 23 percent of 75 percent

          3  equals 17 percent. That means only 17 percent, less

          4  than one in five people, were reported leaving the

          5  welfare rolls in New York City have jobs six months

          6  after doing so.

          7                 What happened to the other 88

          8  percent? We've never looked so we don't know.

          9  Anecdotally we know a heck of a lot of them are

         10  coming to the soup kitchens and the food pantries we

         11  represent. The City has never looked. The State's

         12  last study on welfare reform is data from 2001. And

         13  they trumpet, oh, it's working, because data was all

         14  when the economy was hot. Isn't it curious that no

         15  one is looking what happened when the economy slowed

         16  down and the job placement rates.

         17                 You will note that the HRA website

         18  used to trumpet the job placement numbers. They

         19  haven't had new job placement chart on since 2004.

         20  In 2003 they set a goal of 120,000 job placements.

         21  They dropped that to 90,000 in 2004, and then

         22  bragged they had a higher percentage in meeting the

         23  goal. They had higher a percentage of a much lower

         24  goal.

         25                 I just think we have to ask very hard
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          2  questions about what happened to the people left.

          3  It's great, we look back now six months, we've had

          4  welfare reform for a decade. What about the other

          5  nine and a half years? Where did they go? I suggest

          6  one reason we have higher homelessness today, more

          7  people at soup kitchens and food pantries is because

          8  the process hasn't worked.

          9                 Again, I'll end where I started. I

         10  think welfare reform in general make sense about

         11  moving people into long-term living wage jobs. We

         12  can't count the problem the way Houston counted

         13  their drop-out rate, and said we have a lower rate

         14  because we just stopped counting people, and that's

         15  what we've done in New York City today.

         16                 So, thank you, Mr. Chair, for holding

         17  these hearings and raising these vital points.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         19  much, Joel.

         20                 Who would like to go next?

         21                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you, Chairman.

         22  And thank you for holding the hearings today. This

         23  is vitally important. Anybody sitting in the

         24  audience couldn't help but be impressed with the

         25  energy of the Commissioner. Yet, at the same time,
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          2  nobody who heard the response to the questions could

          3  doubt the necessity for this kind of oversight,

          4  because we did not really hear a concrete plan to

          5  get from here to there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

          7  interrupt you, because you did the same thing Joel

          8  Berg did, you didn't introduce yourself.

          9                 MR. STEPHENS: I'm sorry. Ken

         10  Stephens, from the Legal Aid Society.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         12                 MR. STEPHENS: I'm trying to move

         13  quickly, because I know you have a lot of people.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You see the

         15  negative impact sitting next to Joel? He's helping

         16  create bad habits in your life.

         17                 MR. STEPHENS: I'll know not to follow

         18  him next time. He's a hard act to follow.

         19                 In my work at Legal Aid, one of the

         20  areas that I happened to focus on personally is

         21  people with disabilities and SSI. We are engaged in

         22  some litigation with the City over the WeCARE

         23  program, the goals of which we strongly support, the

         24  implementation of which, however, has fell far short

         25  of the goals. But we stand willing to work with HRA
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          2  whenever we can to achieve common objectives, which

          3  I think there are a lot of. I think everybody at the

          4  table here has some common objectives, both in

          5  assuring that people get the best benefits possible,

          6  the best services possible, and that the City

          7  doesn't have to suffer any unwarranted fiscal

          8  penalty from the same people who not so long ago

          9  were extolling the virtues of local initiatives and

         10  now suddenly have discovered that they want to tell

         11  us what we need to do to solve the problems that

         12  they've been helping to create. That said, we are

         13  looking forward to some changes in Washington.

         14                 In the meantime, I'm just going to

         15  react briefly to some of the comments that the

         16  Commissioner gave with respect to SSI, which is

         17  something I know something about.

         18                 First of all, we have not yet been

         19  approached by the vendors, the principle vendors, to

         20  help them get people on SSI. You know, we at Legal

         21  Aid and the people at Legal Services have been doing

         22  this work for years, if not decades, and you know,

         23  when I first saw the new contracts being let out for

         24  WeCARE, there was some small incentive that the

         25  vendors have to get people onto SSI if they're
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          2  eligible. That was a good thing. You want to

          3  incentivize that, just as you want to incentivize

          4  work for people who can work.

          5                 However, I don't know what expertise

          6  they have in navigating bureaucracy of SSI. As the

          7  Commissioner indicated, it isn't always simple, but

          8  we have some expertise. The City Council has

          9  recognized the importance of this, and came across

         10  in the last year with some funding to start the

         11  process, so that we can help advance those initial

         12  approvals because every time you get somebody onto

         13  SSI, you're dropping the denominator on the

         14  participation rate. So, if right now we're at say 44

         15  over 100, if 12 of those 100 people, and that's a 44

         16  percent participation rate, if 12 of those people

         17  are really disabled and should be receiving SSI

         18  benefits, then our participation rate really would

         19  be 50 percent without doing anything else. If we

         20  just took the people out of the pool who shouldn't

         21  be there to begin with, because we all agree, even

         22  HRA recognizes that they are not fully engagable, in

         23  terms of being expected.

         24                 And the SSI standard is being able to

         25  work full-time in the competitive economy. The idea
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          2  of work and disability are not at war. I mean, even

          3  people on SSI can't work. You can work part time up

          4  to 20 yours per week, or a certain dollar threshold.

          5  It is now encouraged by the federal government. My

          6  expectation is is that in the next administration

          7  you'll see more attempts to get people on SSI, to

          8  allow them to keep their SSI while they engage in

          9  part-time work. But the people who are currently in

         10  -- the people do not yet appear to have grabbed

         11  this notion, who are doing the biopsychosocial

         12  evaluations. When we see them, they're focusing on

         13  work limitations and work abilities, but they're not

         14  really honing in on the importance of identifying

         15  somebody as not being able to, quote, work full-time

         16  in the competitive economy.

         17                 As a result of that, I have been

         18  anecdotally tracking among my colleagues, we

         19  typically do disability appeals, let me just share

         20  this with you. I think the Commissioner said that

         21  something like 36 percent of the people who they

         22  evaluated were in the category of work limited. Most

         23  of the people who we're winning disability appeals

         24  for are in that category, see? So they are work

         25  limited but they're eligible for SSI.
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          2                 And the vendors haven't yet grasped

          3  that, and they haven't yet adapted a way in which to

          4  do their medical evaluations to support a finding.

          5  And, so, then we have people going to fair hearings

          6  and challenging findings.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to

          8  interrupt because I think it would be helpful to get

          9  the numbers here as best you understand them. I

         10  don't think we focused sufficiently on that with the

         11  Commissioner.

         12                 What is your assessment from Legal

         13  Aid's work, either percentages, raw numbers,

         14  anything, of what universe of people who may be

         15  eligible who are currently not signed up within the

         16  ranks of those on public assistance in New York

         17  City?

         18                 MR. STEPHENS: Let me just see if I

         19  can get at it backwards. By working backwards from

         20  the WeCARE Program itself, okay? So, the WeCARE

         21  program is designed to identify people with

         22  disabilities. And this is really an important area

         23  that somebody ought to be able to study almost in an

         24  academic way, which in our role, we can't.

         25                 There are 40,000 people that the City
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          2  believes have work limitations due to mental of

          3  physical limitations prevent them from being fully

          4  employed in the workforce.

          5                 So, they start with a number of

          6  40,000. I think the Commissioner testified that they

          7  have 6,000 appeals pending.

          8                 When I do a disability appeal, and

          9  I'm in front of a law judge, an administrative law

         10  judge, if I say that HRA has recognized that this

         11  person cannot work full time, and that they've

         12  really classified them as disabled, you know,

         13  hearing is usually over.

         14                 I mean, the judges understand that at

         15  least in the past HRA's standards have been much

         16  higher than Social Security's, so my guess is, is

         17  that those 6,000 people, a huge percentage of them,

         18  are undoubtedly eligible for SSI. And although the

         19  Commissioner testified, and she is correct, that if

         20  you do nothing the appeals process can take 18

         21  months, it can be advanced.

         22                 You know, in our jobs what we do

         23  sometimes, if we have a very compelling case, we

         24  will submit a letter to the Administrative Law Judge

         25  and say, you know, look, we think you can decide
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          2  this, quote, on the record. In other words, you

          3  don't need to schedule a hearing. They like it

          4  because they're 18 months behind and they have

          5  caseload imperatives as well. And they're not

          6  reluctant to approve it -- well, some judges are,

          7  but many aren't, to approve a case.

          8                 What I'm trying to convey is, we may

          9  be able in the coming year, given sufficient

         10  resources, both from HRA's point and whatever other

         11  resources can be put to the task, of taking a lot of

         12  those people, particularly those who are elderly,

         13  and by which I mean over 55, and perhaps even over

         14  50, and getting them onto SSI sooner.

         15                 The total number may be -- who are

         16  perhaps on SSI eligible, it could be 20,000. I mean,

         17  I would not be surprised. I mean, this is really

         18  just, you know, you asked me, and if I had to ball

         19  park it, if they say there are 40,000 people in

         20  welfare -- excuse me, WeCARE, and many people are

         21  not in WeCARE yet because they haven't even been

         22  identified yet in the process, it's a dynamic

         23  process, the number could be as high as 20,000,

         24  which would represent perhaps about five percent of

         25  the caseload. And people generally say that, you
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          2  know, ten percent is not considered to be a high

          3  number, because as you recognize, given the welfare

          4  reform incentives over the past ten years, most

          5  people who can work are working.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me cut in

          7  again.

          8                 So, we'll just peg the case at

          9  400,000, as you say, as you said just for

         10  simplicity, it appears to be 382, according to HRA

         11  figures.

         12                 MR. STEPHENS: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, every time

         14  you move 4,000 off, you're reducing your caseload

         15  one percent. As you said, you're getting at your

         16  denominator. So, you see a potential of up to

         17  20,000. What is, and, you know, any of you could

         18  respond, as we'll go back to the testimony order in

         19  a moment, but what's the effort being made right now

         20  by HRA to work with Legal Aid and others outside the

         21  sort of narrow contracts to try and facilitate

         22  signing people up for SSI?

         23                 MR. STEPHENS: I'm not aware of any

         24  significant efforts yet.

         25                 We've had trouble, for instance,
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          2  getting medical records from the vendors. There are

          3  concerns about privacy. We've tried to get responses

          4  from, you know, what's the release that you want so

          5  we can get the medical records.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In other words,

          7  it has not been presented to you as an imperative

          8  that the various people on agencies working with the

          9  HRA clients all be working together to find out how

         10  to get people on SSI who deserve it?

         11                 MR. STEPHENS: Yes. I know that the

         12  State is very much concerned about this issue,

         13  because they have something they call their SSI

         14  maximization project. They're very much concerned

         15  about it, and aware of it. You know, given on the

         16  one hand the possibility of enormous penalties, and

         17  on the other hand, the possibility of enormous

         18  opportunities, let's just leave it at there's much

         19  to be done, and from my point of view, you know, I

         20  heard the Commissioner, and I'll make the first call

         21  and say, you know, listen, this is something that,

         22  you know, we'll try and work together on in a

         23  concerted effort, and you ought to put some

         24  resources into it, and hopeful that they will be

         25  responsive, and if they're not, you will hear from
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          2  us.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I think

          4  from this moment, I don't want to quite call it

          5  refreshing, but I will say it was positive to hear

          6  relative clarity about the potential penalties that

          7  would hit the City. I did not feel there was any

          8  effort to minimize, particularly that perfect storm

          9  dynamic of all three categories of penalties hit,

         10  and I think that is such a shocking dollar figure.

         11  And that's one year. I mean, if it's continuing

         12  multiple years, you know, in three years you're over

         13  a billion dollars. I think it does sound like there

         14  is a growing sense in HRA of the urgency that this

         15  creates and of the need to make some changes, even

         16  though there's still a lot of questions out there

         17  about the final rules, I think it's a perfect moment

         18  to reexamine whether we're doing all we can do to

         19  get people on SSI. I mean, this obviously has huge

         20  parallels to what we've gone through on Food Stamps

         21  and other issues, but this one's a little different.

         22  We don't get penalized for our failures to get

         23  people on Food Stamps who deserve them. We will get

         24  penalized if we leave people off SSI who could be on

         25  SSI, and then don't meet our participation rate.
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          2                 MR. STEPHENS: Excellent point.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm just

          4  stealing your point.

          5                 All right, you continue to wrap up

          6  your testimony and then we'll go to Don.

          7                 MR. STEPHENS: Just two things. One

          8  area of concern, and I'm not sure if the Council

          9  heard this in a prior hearing, but in the course of

         10  litigation, you know, over the WeCARE Program, they

         11  had transferred 20,000 people, and so we were

         12  concerned about that, to the centers that were found

         13  to be illegally segregated, and the HRA is now

         14  devolving that system, after wasting several million

         15  dollars setting it up, I might point out. But the

         16  number of people whose cases were closed, during

         17  that period was phenomenal. We're still kind of

         18  working through the numbers with them, and, you

         19  know, I don't want to misrepresent it, but all I can

         20  tell you is that even after working in this business

         21  for awhile, the level of churning. I heard the

         22  Commissioner say they didn't want to churn, the

         23  level of what looks like it could be churning,

         24  again, these are of the most disabled people in New

         25  York City, was really shocking. And, so, I think in
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          2  the context of oversight, it's really imperative for

          3  somebody to get a handle on how much of the caseload

          4  reduction is due to getting people into jobs, and

          5  how much of it is due to sanctioning people or

          6  closing their cases for reasons that are really not

          7  consistent with where New York City wants to be

          8  treating its poor people.

          9                 And I just think that that does bear

         10  some investigation.

         11                 And finally, the last thing is,

         12  there's a human element to this too. When I talk

         13  about getting people onto SSI, we have a client from

         14  Staten Island who came to our attention. Why?

         15  Because she was being evicted. She had sickle cell

         16  anemia, five kids. She had been in sanction for six

         17  months. She had been trying to get on SSI. She

         18  didn't even know she was being sanctioned. She

         19  wasn't all that literate and was in considerable

         20  physical distress.

         21                 She was getting evicted essentially

         22  because nobody had paid any attention to her. She

         23  was not receiving anything like customized

         24  assistance. She was receiving no assistance. And,

         25  so, to be able to move somebody like that from a
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          2  system that let's say is falling short of the

          3  Commissioner's aspirations, in terms of delivering

          4  customized assistance, into the federal SSI, where

          5  once you get on, you may be reevaluated years later,

          6  it's much more friendly and easier to negotiate. And

          7  the economics of that poor person, their life can

          8  get a little bit better.

          9                 So, we're concerned about

         10  participation rates, and saving the money. It's

         11  also, frankly, a much better anti-poverty program

         12  than TANF.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, let me

         14  say this, and I want to refer back to some of the

         15  experience we've had with Joel again, I agree with

         16  you the first element is serving people, and

         17  thinking about human beings' conditions. I think it

         18  is very important, as folks who do this work, that

         19  we always put it through the framework of the

         20  taxpayers' interest because we have such a strong

         21  case to make, and I think that the situation with

         22  Food Stamps over the years has been a particularly

         23  vivid one.

         24                 I think if you could sit down the

         25  average concerned New York City taxpayer and say how
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          2  would you feel if hundreds of millions of federal

          3  dollars that could provide, you know, relief for

          4  your burden in a lot of direct and indirect ways,

          5  were being left on the table, and how would you feel

          6  about it if you knew that that meant that children

          7  were going hungrier than they needed to go? Children

          8  going hungry who didn't need to go hungry. I think

          9  you'd have a lot of outraged people. And I think

         10  this is just a parallel on that. We're obviously

         11  talking about people with disabilities, the ideology

         12  notwithstanding, I think a lot of people can

         13  understand the plight that they face.

         14                 I think we actually benefit our cause

         15  in this debate by putting it through the framework

         16  of the taxpayer because we've got a lot to say on

         17  that point about why what we're talking about will

         18  ultimately help the taxpayer. Thank you.

         19                 Go ahead.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Good morning. I'm Don

         21  Friedman from the Community Service Society. I'm a

         22  Policy Analyst there.

         23                 Before I get into my testimony, I

         24  just wanted to briefly comment in response to your

         25  question, Chair DeBlasio, and that is about what HRA
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          2  is doing to yet help people to get onto SSI. They do

          3  have something called a Disability Assistance Unit,

          4  and I think the Commissioner may have mentioned it.

          5                 The experience of advocates has been,

          6  to the extent they've been aware of the doings of

          7  that agency, has been that it's not a very effective

          8  group within HRA. They tend to not do sort of

          9  last-minute research and often are not really

         10  familiar with the file, don't help the clients

         11  adequately get the medical evidence that's going to

         12  be crucial at the hearing. There is that unit, but

         13  it really could be greatly improved.

         14                 What I'd like to talk about today,

         15  I'm going to really try to abbreviate my testimony.

         16  I want to focus on one issue that I was sort of

         17  pleased to hear, it was a significant subject of the

         18  Commissioner's testimony, and that is to talk about

         19  sanctions.

         20                 I believe that by doing a better job

         21  and reducing sanctions, and this is the main point I

         22  want to make today, by reducing sanctions and

         23  avoiding sanctions, that the City can both help

         24  itself meet the participation rates and help the

         25  State meet the participation rates, and equally, or
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          2  probably more importantly, help clients have achieve

          3  better outcomes in their lives.

          4                 As you know, when a family assistance

          5  or TANF recipient is found to be out of compliance

          6  with the welfare work rules, there's a pro rata

          7  sanction. They are taken off the household budget

          8  for a designated period of time. Under federal law,

          9  and I don't want to get into too much technical

         10  stuff, but under federal law, they are taken, and as

         11  Ken started to talk about numerators and

         12  denominators, so I don't have to start that.

         13                 But under federal law, that household

         14  is taken out of the denominator for three months.

         15  After the household has been under sanction for

         16  three months, and if they're still not returned to

         17  the full grant, they are now put back into the

         18  denominator and start to hurt the State in terms of

         19  meeting its participation rates.

         20                 In New York State, statistics

         21  indicate that in any given month there are about

         22  34,500 families being sanctioned, and of them, about

         23  10,000 have been sanctioned for more than three

         24  months, and are therefore now out of the denominator

         25  -- I'm sorry, and are now back in the denominator
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          2  and hurting the State's ability --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now you know we

          4  are really laymen over here. You better start again.

          5  You experts are always confounding us.

          6                 MR. FRIEDMAN: In New York State, what

          7  I was trying to say was that in New York State in

          8  any given month there are about 34,000 families

          9  being sanctioned.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thirty-four.

         11                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thousand.

         12                 About 10,000 of them have been

         13  sanctioned for more than three months and are

         14  therefore now back in the denominator and hurting

         15  the State's ability to meet its participation rates.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, your point

         17  being speed in resolving sanctions is a subset

         18  problem here.

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Avoiding the sanction

         20  is best. Getting it resolved quickly is second best.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This is a

         22  classic case of where I wish I would have understood

         23  this when I was asking Commissioner Eggleston the

         24  questions, but do we have any sense of the typical

         25  time line for resolving a sanction case?
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          2                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I would say, I was

          3  going to comment about the intensive service center

          4  that HRA has opened up. But other than that, there

          5  is typically no particular effort. A family is

          6  undersanctioned. You know, the caretaker relative is

          7  taken off the budget, the grant is reduced, and they

          8  are told at some point how long that's going to

          9  last. And there is no particular effort, HRA may

         10  disagree with me, but that's my sense of it, from

         11  long work in this area and talking of colleagues,

         12  that there's no particular effort to get people back

         13  into compliance or to end the sanction.

         14                 This intensive case service effort,

         15  which I think has some promise, although some real

         16  pitfalls, is one of the first efforts to do that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, I'm just

         18  going to summarize and I'm going to ask our Counsel,

         19  as part of our follow-up letter, to include these

         20  questions.

         21                 So, we are trying to understand not

         22  only what is being done with new, renewed urgency,

         23  given the threat of penalties, to stop people from

         24  being sanctioned to begin with in New York City, but

         25  secondly, what is being done to get people off
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          2  sanctions to go on and in fact has to be done in a

          3  three-month time frame in order to avoid them going

          4  into the denominator.

          5                 So, you have people you stop from

          6  being sanctioned, people who become sanctioned but

          7  you get them off in time in three months, and people

          8  you don't get off in time and now adding to your

          9  bigger problem, let alone what imprint it has on

         10  them. And I guess we want to understand in the

         11  broader universes, how many people are falling into

         12  each category and what the goals are in terms of

         13  hopefully changing those numbers for the better,

         14  reducing the number of people who get sanctioned to

         15  begin with, increasing the speed and increasing the

         16  number of people who get off sanctions within the

         17  first three months.

         18                 MR. FRIEDMAN: That's my primary

         19  point.

         20                 Let me just say a few other things,

         21  and I'll stop. What I think is that, one of the

         22  points I wanted to make is that, I fear that even

         23  though, I'm hopeful that with the new administration

         24  coming in in Albany this won't happen, but I do

         25  think it's something we have to be aware of, and
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          2  that is that one of the ways that this issue of too

          3  many people being sanctioned and hurting our

          4  participation levels, that one of the remedies that

          5  is proposed by some is full-family sanctions. If the

          6  case is entirely closed, get them out of the

          7  participation calculation all together, and that is

          8  definitely a solution that has come up, sometimes

          9  folks in HRA have said it and elsewhere across the

         10  State and the Governor has favored that, full-family

         11  sanctions.

         12                 I'll just say very quickly that I

         13  think that fighting for harsher sanctions,

         14  full-family sanctions, presumes three things: One is

         15  that many of the adults who don't comply with work

         16  requirements are what the State has sometimes called

         17  the happily sanctioned.

         18                 Number two, that which means they

         19  know they're going to be sanctioned, and for reasons

         20  they have that they're not sharing, they don't mind,

         21  they're called the happily sanctioned.

         22                 Number two, that sanctions are

         23  validly imposed. That legally validly imposed is

         24  because of a willful effort to cooperate by the

         25  person.
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          2                 And third, there's a presumption that

          3  this is a method of full-family sanction, or some

          4  other way to get the case entirely closed is a good

          5  way to meet participation rates. And I'll say very

          6  quickly that I think each of those three points, as

          7  you might guess, I think are very misguided.

          8                 With regard to the happily

          9  sanctioned, we know more and more that, as you

         10  mentioned, Mr. Chairman, at the beginning of the

         11  hearing, that a lot of people remaining on welfare

         12  are people with lots of obstacles, barriers,

         13  challenges, disabilities, limitations.

         14                 The sanctioned population is more so.

         15  There's a lot of research now that shows that people

         16  who get sanctioned are more likely to have physical

         17  and mental disabilities, be victims of domestic

         18  violence, substance abuse, have disabled other

         19  household members, have lower levels of education,

         20  literacy and English proficiency.

         21                 To me that tells a lot about why they

         22  get sanctioned, because of inability and great

         23  difficulty in understanding what is being required

         24  of them, and in complying.

         25                 And, so, it's part of why I think
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          2  it's fairly outrageous to consider this group in any

          3  significant way happily sanctioned.

          4                 Secondly, the other part of that

          5  presumption about happily sanctioned, is that they

          6  don't suffer great consequences. And we know have an

          7  increasing body of research, and I've footnoted some

          8  of the research, that shows that, this isn't

          9  surprising to any of us, that families who get

         10  sanctioned, tend to suffer. They're more at risk of

         11  eviction, they're more at risk of loss of utility

         12  service, they're more at risk -- there's some new

         13  studies that have come out of Massachusetts that

         14  show that children are more at risk of hunger and

         15  serious illness stemming from hunger and the loss of

         16  benefits.

         17                 So, this happily sanctioned group

         18  doesn't seem to be that happy after all.

         19                 The second presumption again is that

         20  the sanctions are validly imposed. And I will just

         21  say it's very hard to get data about the validity of

         22  sanctions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         24  have to ask you to summarize a little more quickly,

         25  because we're going to lose this room in 22 minutes.
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          2  We have some more people who need to come up here.

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Oh, I'm sorry.

          4                 Many of the sanctions are not validly

          5  imposed. For experience, I help to run, as does Ken,

          6  an organization called Project Fair, it sits at the

          7  fair hearing site, and we talk to person after

          8  person for whom a sanction as a result of not

          9  receiving notices, inability to comply with

         10  requirements, and a lot of them really would stand

         11  up to legal challenge, more than two or three

         12  percent of people were represented in hearings,

         13  which is the actual number.

         14                 Lastly, and I lay out the math here,

         15  I was very excited when I understood this math a

         16  little bit, in fact the best thing the State can do

         17  is to get a person into participation, rather than

         18  closing the whole case.

         19                 If you just do the arithmetic, it

         20  helps the participation rate better to get the

         21  household back into participation than to close the

         22  whole case.

         23                 The last thing I was going to talk

         24  about and I'll leave it to my written testimony, is

         25  that there are ways to think about addressing the
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          2  needs of sanctioned families or at-risk families,

          3  and we put it under the rubric of intensive case

          4  services. And there are ways to do that, that I

          5  think every State and various counties in New York

          6  that have tried it, we have some reservations about

          7  some aspects of it, but a lot of it looks very

          8  promising, and every state that has tried it has had

          9  some improvements in bringing people off sanctions

         10  and back into participation. So, I think it's

         11  worthwhile, it's something we need to look at and

         12  examine more.

         13                 I did want to say one sentence about

         14  hours, and that is that this is sort of off --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry, we

         16  both didn't understand your previous sentence on the

         17  thing you thought would be a good idea. Say that one

         18  more time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understood

         20  it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sure you

         22  did. But you're more advanced than the rest of us.

         23                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Now, if you think I can

         24  remember what I said.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just literally
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          2  a sentence or two ago. Okay, we'll move on.

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, I was saying that

          4  we have intensive case services -- oh, the math

          5  thing? No, not the math, that was well beyond that.

          6  That intensive case services have been shown to

          7  work. When we bring services, we get people into

          8  compliance.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. It's just

         10  as simple as that. I thought I heard something else.

         11  Okay, good enough. Good enough.

         12                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It might have been more

         13  nuance and complicated, but that was the point.

         14                 I just wanted to say one quick thing

         15  about hours. Because there was discussion that you

         16  initiated.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This is your

         18  last quick thing I really need to move it.

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Really quick thing. And

         20  that is just to say that the reduction in hours, I

         21  know it's intuitively difficult for people who will

         22  say we want to simulate the work, we want 35 hours,

         23  whereas the law allows 30 or 20. And I would just

         24  say that reducing the hours will save resources and

         25  cost of administering, assigning and supervising
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          2  folks, and it might free up some resources for other

          3  purposes.

          4                 I believe that a lot of people who

          5  are now trying to struggle to meet 35 hour

          6  requirements under the reduced hours level might

          7  have a fighting chance to actually comply with the

          8  program and not be sanctioned.

          9                 And third, it might free up some time

         10  for people to do some of the things that are now

         11  discouraged under current law, such as pursue

         12  educational and training options.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thanks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, we really

         17  appreciate all of your testimony. Very helpful.

         18                 Our next panel from Community Voices

         19  Heard, the name is right here, Tyrone Granum, and

         20  Janine Douglas.

         21                 I will now say good afternoon. We've

         22  passed into afternoon. So, good afternoon to you. We

         23  welcome your testimony.

         24                 MS. DOUGLAS: Good afternoon, to you

         25  too.
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          2                 My name is Janine Douglas. I am a

          3  single mother with a seven-year-old son residing in

          4  a women's shelter. I reentered the shelter system to

          5  attain assistance in getting housing. My son lives

          6  with his father because I decided to take him off of

          7  my public assistance case four years ago, due to the

          8  impossibility of attaining adequate child care while

          9  I complied with HRA's WEP and Begin programs.

         10                 I'm a member of Community Voices

         11  Heard and have been for approximately five years. I

         12  joined CVH to gain knowledge of the welfare system

         13  considering that it was not a background that I was

         14  brought up in and I needed to understand why I was

         15  constantly being sanctioned.

         16                 I'm a high school graduate, with some

         17  college experience, and with ample years of skill in

         18  the workforce.

         19                 As a former WEP worker, JTP worker,

         20  FEGS, WHEDCO, and CEC participant, I have found more

         21  value in the Parks Opportunity Program than any

         22  other programs I have mentioned.

         23                 It is unfortunate that when the State

         24  is given such a large substantial amount of money to

         25  aid in the assistance of an individual or family to
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          2  regain self-sufficiency and move off of public

          3  assistance, that the individual or family must

          4  participate in work requirements revolving around

          5  WEP.

          6                 It is common knowledge that most

          7  public assistance recipients do not comply with WEP

          8  programs and risk the chances of getting sanctioned

          9  due to the minimum amount of cash benefits they

         10  receive for doing so, and due to the belief that WEP

         11  never seems to move people forward and off of

         12  welfare.

         13                 There is no incentive to comply and

         14  participate since now only do you not get a

         15  paycheck, but it also leads nowhere.

         16                 I believe that creating more paid

         17  transitional jobs in the City is the best way to

         18  meet the new federal work requirements. For this

         19  reason, programs such as the Parks Opportunity

         20  Program needs to be expanded and financially funded

         21  to offer more recipients the opportunity to work,

         22  earn a check and feel productive in an environment

         23  that is extremely beneficial toward regaining

         24  self-sufficiency.

         25                 Promoting such programs and offering
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          2  more training programs will ultimately save the

          3  State money, when money invested now will pay off

          4  and less welfare benefits paid out later.

          5                 The suggestion will employ more

          6  individuals and provide work for employers who are

          7  seeking to fill positions in entry level jobs.

          8                 Investing now in programs and

          9  allowing the recipient to further their education

         10  will also decrease levels in poverty over the long

         11  run.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         13  much, Ms. Douglas.

         14                 Mr. Granum.

         15                 MR. GRANUM: Hello. Good afternoon,

         16  members of the City Council. My name is Tyrone

         17  Granum. I am a member of Community Voices Heard, an

         18  organization made up of lower-income New Yorkers,

         19  fighting to improve the policies that affect our

         20  members' lives.

         21                 I am here today to testify about the

         22  new TANF rules and regulations set out by the United

         23  States Government for health and human services. I

         24  am a single father of two daughters and have been on

         25  public assistance approximately 11 years.
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          2                 Prior to being on public assistance I

          3  was self-employed. I had to leave my business to

          4  take care of my daughters in order to support my

          5  family, and I applied for public assistance.

          6                 In 1997, when my daughters started

          7  school, I began school myself. I earned an Associate

          8  Degree in 2001 from Bronx Community, and went to

          9  Lehman College, graduating with honors to earn a BA

         10  in Black Studies in Education.

         11                 During this time I went to school

         12  full-time, worked on campus, and took care of my two

         13  daughters. I also was president of the Parents

         14  Association for my daughters for approximately three

         15  years.

         16                 Currently I participate in an unpaid

         17  WEP or Work Experience Program. I'm doing clerical

         18  work for Department of Sanitation. This is, why is a

         19  person like me with two degrees working a dead-end

         20  assignment, rather than being helped to find a job

         21  that fits my skills, and from there being hired?

         22                 I have experience as a teacher

         23  counselor in the field of community health. The new

         24  rules and regulations create a stricter requirement

         25  for what counts toward work experience.
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          2                 For example, Job Search and Job

          3  Readiness would be limited to six weeks per year. If

          4  people don't have support to find jobs, they will be

          5  stuck on public assistance.

          6                 Instead of trying to place people in

          7  real living wage jobs, these new regulations will

          8  force people to be sanctioned more often and to be

          9  in a constant cycle of public assistance.

         10                 Instead of focusing on meeting

         11  federal work requirements that are not helping New

         12  Yorkers, the Human Resources Administration should

         13  create programs that focus on job training, that

         14  people can access jobs and move up the career

         15  ladder.

         16                 The City should invest in training

         17  public assistance recipients in sectors like

         18  construction security, retail, and human services,

         19  rather than putting them in endless unpaid WEP

         20  programs to meet federal requirements.

         21                 The City should also expand

         22  traditional job programs like the Parks Opportunity

         23  Program to other agencies. Rather than creating bad

         24  programs like WEP to meet federal requirements, the

         25  City should take financial penalty in order to
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          2  invest in good programs that will create a skilled

          3  workforce in the future.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. And

          6  I agree with you entirely about, and I'm hopeful

          7  there is still an opportunity to do something to

          8  change these federal rules before they become final,

          9  but as you know, a lot of us in the City Council

         10  have been pushing for a long time to recognize the

         11  importance of training and education in terms of

         12  what's really happening in the economy, and focus

         13  more of our efforts in that fashion rather than in

         14  work experiences that don't really prepare people

         15  for the kind of jobs that are out there.

         16                 So, I appreciate your testimony very

         17  much.

         18                 I want to ask one question of Ms.

         19  Douglas, because you obviously have experienced

         20  several of the types of assignments that folks on

         21  public assistance are going through.

         22                 So, you personally participated in

         23  the Parks Opportunity Program?

         24                 MS. DOUGLAS: Yes, I have.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And could you
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          2  give us just a simple sense of why you found it to

          3  be a more supportive environment?

          4                 MS. DOUGLAS: For someone who is

          5  coming off of public assistance, working in that

          6  type of environment, more of a corporate setting,

          7  would give more of a structure for that individual.

          8                 I found it very beneficial, because I

          9  was just coming off of public assistance. I was

         10  working in, well participating in programs like FEGS

         11  and WHEDCO, and I didn't really find any

         12  productivity in that.

         13                 Most of those programs that I

         14  participated in, I don't know how much they've

         15  improved now. At the time they usually would send

         16  out like clients to just go get a business card,

         17  bring it back. Never really, like, fully followed up

         18  with the clients. Some of the programs, like

         19  WHEDCOs, their computers weren't working, so you

         20  really couldn't do too much job search on there.

         21                 You could look on the newspaper, like

         22  really in the New York Times, that was something

         23  that you could do on your own, but as far as like

         24  the Parks Opportunity Program, when they had the

         25  one-day job search, it was mandatory for you to go
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          2  out there and seek employment, and bring back some

          3  type of verification or document stating that you

          4  actually went. And with a phone number, not just

          5  only a business card. You know, they actually wanted

          6  you to bring back an application saying that you

          7  actually spoke with someone and received that

          8  application from that employer.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Good. I

         10  appreciate that.

         11                 MR. GRANUM: May I say something?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please. Yes.

         13                 MR. GRANUM: At one time when I was

         14  going to school, I was, just gone to Lehman College,

         15  HRA wanted me to go work in the parks, and this is

         16  for salaries, and it was a productive job

         17  opportunity. Many people that I know was in this

         18  job, they began working from there, from there they

         19  went to other jobs, you know, they was getting paid

         20  like I think 9.95 an hour and doing the seven to

         21  eight months. But from there, that actual work

         22  experience, getting a paycheck every week, felt

         23  better than just picking up, you know, welfare.

         24                 And then from there they moved on to

         25  other jobs, in maintenance and so on and some of
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          2  them stayed in the parks.

          3                 Now this Parks job is just for WEP.

          4  You don't get paid no longer in these jobs. The

          5  reason why I didn't take it was 'cause it was

          6  interfering with my classes going to school at the

          7  time, and I had a part-time job as a work study job,

          8  college assistance on campus. But if they had more

          9  jobs like Parks, or creative jobs like even the

         10  Department of Corrections or whole level jobs,

         11  working where people see a paycheck decently, and

         12  public assistance assist them until they get to a

         13  certain area.

         14                 A lot of people are scared to go get

         15  jobs because they cannot meet their financial needs

         16  with these jobs. Because if you leave public

         17  assistance, say if you're on Section 8, you leave

         18  public assistance, automatically your Section 8 goes

         19  up. If you were in Jiggets Program, like I am now, I

         20  have to hire -- I mean rent a roommate in my house

         21  to pay $461, otherwise I wasn't getting no public

         22  assistance again, or Jiggets wasn't accepting me. I

         23  had to put a man in my house with my two daughters

         24  to fulfill this. So, I have to find other means to,

         25  if I didn't have nobody in there, to pay 461, or
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          2  watch people in my house with my children today,

          3  okay? To meet the requirements. Instead of them

          4  taking me and putting me in a place where, an

          5  environment where teachers are educated. I've did

          6  (sic) student teaching, I've, you know, tutored on

          7  my own and so on and so on, instead of them placing

          8  me some days, they should just send resumes out.

          9                 I have no actual work experience for

         10  covering from the school, so if they don't invest in

         11  private sectors, just like the lady was saying about

         12  the OASIS program and stuff like that, putting

         13  people in training programs, they're going to get

         14  them a job in six months.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

         16                 MR. GRANUM: It's more focus than just

         17  sending people out every day to get jobs, because

         18  you know what they do? They wind up in shelters

         19  because shelters are the next best way to get back

         20  on public assistance.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, there's a

         22  huge, huge catch-22, you're absolutely right.

         23                 Well, I thank you both. I also

         24  commend you, Mr. Granum, for having been a PTA

         25  president. That's a very substantial commitment to

                                                            156

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  the schools that you did that.

          3                 MR. GRANUM: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So I appreciate

          5  that. And I would urge you to take a look at a

          6  career in education. If you can hack being a PTA

          7  president, you can be a teacher.

          8                 MR. GRANUM: Well, for some reason I

          9  haven't get (sic) my license for two years.

         10  Thirty-four years ago I had a felony, and they won't

         11  allow me to be a teacher. I've been, twice I've been

         12  in the Board of Education, they would not allow me

         13  to be a teacher, but yet I was a president of the

         14  Parents Association, I run the after school programs

         15  on my own, make fundraisers and so on, but the Board

         16  of Education will not allow that to happen.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, if we can

         18  help in any way with that, I'd like to.

         19                 MR. GRANUM: Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Because that

         21  sounds like a pretty outdated rule right there.

         22                 Well, thank you both for your

         23  testimony. And it is very, very helpful to hear your

         24  direct experiences. Thank you so much.

         25                 MR. GRANUM: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Our last panel,

          3  Terri Jackson of the Federation of Protestant

          4  Welfare Agencies, and Dillonna Lewis of Welfare

          5  Rights Initiative.

          6                 Hi. Good afternoon.

          7                 MS. LEWIS: Good afternoon. My name is

          8  Dillonna Lewis. I am Co-director of Welfare Rights

          9  Initiative at Hunter College, and on behalf of the

         10  staff and student leaders of Welfare Rights

         11  Initiative, I just wanted to take a moment to

         12  applaud this Committee for having this important

         13  hearing on the new TANF regulations that are

         14  implications for New York City.

         15                 Because we definitely, at Welfare

         16  Rights Initiative, believe that we must all

         17  understand how new federal rules can impact New

         18  York's poor and low-income families.

         19                 First, let me just introduce Welfare

         20  Rights Initiative. We are a grassroots student

         21  activists and community leadership training

         22  organization located at Hunter College. WRI trains

         23  and supports students who have firsthand experience

         24  of poverty to effectively promote access to higher

         25  education.
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          2                 Since its inception ten years ago,

          3  WRI has assisted over 3,000 CUNY students at both

          4  the two-year college level and the four-year college

          5  level to continue their pursuit of education and

          6  graduate from college.

          7                 Numerous studies have documented the

          8  impact of higher education on labor force

          9  participation, earnings and long-term economic

         10  independence.

         11                 We know, for example, 88 percent of

         12  people on welfare who attain bachelor degrees are

         13  able to move permanently off welfare. Seventy-five

         14  percent of welfare claimants move from welfare

         15  within two years of entering college.

         16                 In the past ten years, over 20,000

         17  students at CUNY have been forced to abandon their

         18  studies to participate in the New York City's

         19  Workfare program. There currently remains

         20  approximately 6,000 extremely hard-working students

         21  at CUNY, who receive public assistance and who

         22  attend college full time, in spite of poverty, and

         23  in spite of obstacles put in their way by the

         24  welfare system.

         25                 Also note that 57 percent of all New
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          2  York City people receiving public assistance have

          3  not attained a high school diploma or its

          4  equivalence.

          5                 We know historically those with the

          6  least education have always been the hardest hit

          7  during economic downturns. Given the diversity of

          8  the public assistance population, we advocate for

          9  welfare reform that not only promotes the

         10  opportunity to use education as a route out of

         11  poverty, but for people who are poor, to have the

         12  same opportunity as everyone else, the opportunity

         13  to acquire and develop a variety of skills,

         14  including literacy, adult basic education, English

         15  as a Second Language, vocational and job-oriented

         16  programs, a high school diploma or GED equivalent,

         17  two- and four-year college degrees.

         18                 We at WRI are not alone in our belief

         19  that there are things that government can do to

         20  improve economic outcomes for families. As recently

         21  reported in the New York Times and other media, the

         22  Mayor's Task Force on Poverty agreed that government

         23  must use more of its resources to foster condition

         24  that allow people to enter the workforce and stay in

         25  it. New York City's Work Welfare Plan must commit
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          2  and encourage public assistance participants to

          3  advance.

          4                 In the absence of job with living

          5  wages for all, we know of no better way than

          6  education to reduce the welfare rolls and reduce

          7  poverty at the same time.

          8                 The New York State Legislature has

          9  passed laws; for example, the Work Study and

         10  Internship Law and the Basic Education Law, and

         11  advocated policy that codifies the public's growing

         12  commitment to education and training as a route out

         13  of poverty.

         14                 Even with the new federal regulations

         15  significant paring of what counts as educational

         16  activities for TANF funds, the City has real choices

         17  that can provide access to education and training

         18  for welfare participants.

         19                 WRI therefore urges this Committee

         20  and the City Council to do the following:

         21                 Direct HRA to adopt a City policy

         22  that allows families to satisfy their work

         23  obligation with the number of hours required by

         24  current State and federal laws.

         25                 Twenty hours for single parents with
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          2  children under six. And I just wanted to add that

          3  this represent approximately 60 percent of the

          4  families at Welfare Rights Initiative, over 90

          5  percent of the families that we work with have

          6  children under six, and 30 hours for all others.

          7                 Directing HRA not to impose

          8  additional hours is critical to allow parents time

          9  to complete education and training while attending

         10  to their families.

         11                 Second, continue to count work study

         12  and internship hours in combination with other

         13  education and training program as core activity

         14  under the new regulation. And you can reference the

         15  Federal Register, page 37458, that outlines that

         16  this is possible.

         17                 Verify that an assessment and

         18  employability plan for each applicant and welfare

         19  claimant before assignment to a work activity, and

         20  give copies of these assessments and employability

         21  plans to welfare claimants.

         22                 And provide copies of the HRA master

         23  list of approved education and training providers to

         24  applicants and participants.

         25                 Fourth, expand internship
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          2  opportunities in both the public and private sectors

          3  for all claimants. That reference again, page 37458

          4  of the Federal Register.

          5                 Join Welfare Rights Initiative

          6  leaders, other grassroots advocates, public and

          7  private stakeholders in the Education Task Force,

          8  which is working now to convene a New York State

          9  Forum to develop protocols that enhance welfare and

         10  low-income families access to education and training

         11  statewide.

         12                 Finally, through flex-funds, that

         13  comes from the State, the City can create new work

         14  study slots for welfare-eligible students.

         15                 WRI is mobilizing a powerful

         16  constituency of students who receive public

         17  assistance. We hope that you will call on us to

         18  assist in the implementation of our recommendation.

         19                 WRI offers to provide Know Your

         20  Rights training to this Committee, and the staff to

         21  clearly outline how we can all work together to help

         22  promote what we all know work best, access to

         23  education for all, including individuals receiving

         24  welfare.

         25                 We thank you for the work that you
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          2  have done and for the opportunity to help create

          3  better welfare policies. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          5                 And we've had a very good working

          6  relationship with WRI over the years, and we thank

          7  you for your good work.

          8                 And our last witness of the day, we

          9  welcome your testimony.

         10                 MS. JACKSON: Good afternoon. My name

         11  is Terri Jackson. I'm the Senior Policy Analsyt for

         12  Child Care at the Federation of Protestant Welfare

         13  Agencies.

         14                 Being the last, I just want to say

         15  ditto to all of the comments we've heard previously.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That will make

         17  you popular with this panel right there.

         18                 MS. JACKSON: I guess you might know

         19  that FPWA is host of the Welfare Reform Network,

         20  which is an alliance of educators, advocates,

         21  clients, that monitor TANF reforms at levels of

         22  government, and for the past 15 years we've been

         23  doing a lot of work around these issues, and a lot

         24  of people we've heard from today are very active

         25  participants in WRN.
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          2                 I just wanted to, our two points that

          3  I made in our testimony have also been brought up

          4  already. They were brought up by the panel

          5  previously when the Commissioner was here around the

          6  women of children under the age of six, in lowering

          7  their work participation rates, as for all the

          8  reasons that were outlined just a moment ago.

          9                 In addition to New York City

         10  maximizing the cap of up to 30 percent allowable for

         11  people enrolled in vocational training programs.

         12  Obviously education and training are key to helping

         13  families achieve economic stability.

         14                 In addition, I just wanted to make

         15  one other point that hasn't been brought up about

         16  transitional child care, which is a resource to

         17  families allowable for them up to 12 months after

         18  they leave the rolls and presumably have a job, it's

         19  something, obviously support that's really

         20  important, they're allowed child care during their

         21  time on public assistance while they're enrolled in,

         22  involved in other activities, and it's just key that

         23  while they're transitioning, that they also continue

         24  this child care for up to 12 months that's allowed.

         25                 I'm not familiar with latest
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          2  statistics, but previously the take-up rate for

          3  transitional child care has been relatively low,

          4  compared to the number of people who are receiving

          5  child care subsidies while they're on public

          6  assistance.

          7                 So, with that, I wanted to say thank

          8  you for the hearing and allowing me to testify.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         10  much. We appreciate your testimony. And everyone who

         11  has testified today, and everyone who has been here

         12  today, we thank you for your participation.

         13                 And this hearing of the General

         14  Welfare Committee, is adjourned.

         15                 (The following written testimony was

         16  read into the record.)

         17

         18

         19  Written Testimony Of:

         20  Joel Berg

         21  Executive Director

         22  New York City Coalition Against Hunger

         23

         24  Before the New York City Council

         25  Committee on General Welfare
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          2

          3  Regarding Welfare Reform

          4

          5  October 12, 2006

          6

          7  Introduction and Overview.

          8                 Good morning. I am Joel Berg,

          9  Executive Director of the New York City Coalition

         10  Against Hunger (NYCCAH), which represents the more

         11  than 1,200 food pantries and soup kitchens in New

         12  York City, and the more than one million low-income

         13  New Yorkers forced to obtain food from these

         14  charities. This testimony is submitted on their

         15  behalf.

         16                 First we want to thank the General

         17  Welfare Committee and Chairman Bill DeBlasio for

         18  your continued leadership in fighting poverty. We

         19  also thank Council Speaker Christine Quinn for

         20  making hunger reduction such a central part of the

         21  whole Council's agenda.

         22                 Because local welfare reform policies

         23  and trends are so thoroughly intertwined with

         24  federal and state welfare reform policies and

         25  trends, this testimony will focus on the realities
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          2  at all three levels of government. Unless otherwise

          3  stated, when I cite a nationwide trend or fact, it

          4  is safe to assume that the situation in New York

          5  City is very similar.

          6                 During the original debate over the

          7  1996 bill, liberals warned that welfare reform would

          8  throw millions of children into poverty.

          9  Conservatives claimed it would end a so-called

         10  "culture of dependency" that was supposedly the

         11  root cause of poverty in America. They were both

         12  wrong.

         13                 But ten years after the enactment of

         14  the Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity

         15  Reconciliation Act (better known as the 1996 Welfare

         16  Reform Bill), both sides are still generally so busy

         17  defending their position of a decade ago that

         18  neither is willing to seriously address what went

         19  right, what went wrong, and -- much more importantly

         20  -- what still needs to be done to ensure that

         21  welfare reform actually does fulfill its promise.

         22                 For many of New Yorkers political,

         23  economic, and media elites, it seems to be simply a

         24  given that welfare reform was a smashing,

         25  unqualified victory. They generally judge welfare
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          2  reform based on one outcome and one outcome only --

          3  the dramatic reduction in the rolls. Yet judging the

          4  success of welfare reform solely by how many people

          5  leave welfare is a bit like judging the success of a

          6  hospital by how many people leave it -- without

          7  differentiating between how many people leave it

          8  cured, ill, or dead.

          9                 For those who believe welfare reform

         10  worked without a hitch, this issue has become the

         11  social policy equivalent of "mission accomplished"

         12  -- another case of not knowing the difference

         13  between declaring victory and achieving victory.

         14  They blithely ignore evidence that, for every

         15  welfare recipient who moved into a long-term living

         16  wage job, many more were either: moved into

         17  short-term jobs that paid too little to support

         18  their families; sanctioned off the rolls without

         19  having any employment; or were continuing to

         20  struggle on paltry welfare payments.

         21                 They also ignore mounting evidence

         22  that the city's soaring poverty, stagnant wages,

         23  increasing hunger and food insecurity, and

         24  increasing homelessness over the last five years may

         25  all be caused, at least in part, by fundamental
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          2  failures in welfare reform.

          3                 But if the proponents of welfare

          4  reform have yet to fully accept reality, neither

          5  have the original opponents, who had predicated that

          6  the law would immediately cause massive increases in

          7  poverty and/or widespread starvation. Some even

          8  predicted large-scale rioting.

          9                 None of those things occurred. In

         10  fact, poverty and child poverty nationwide and in

         11  New York actually sharply decreased in the first

         12  three years of welfare reform, although as I'll

         13  argue later, that may have occurred despite welfare

         14  reform rather than because of it.

         15                 Poverty rose again over the

         16  subsequent five years, and the number of people in

         17  deep poverty -- earning less than $8,000 a year for

         18  a family of three -- has reached a modern high.

         19  Still, given that the overall national poverty rate

         20  is now lower than when the bill was signed, the

         21  predictions of large, immediate poverty increases

         22  were off the mark.

         23                 In the late 1990s, there were sharp

         24  declines in the rates of what the federal government

         25  terms "food insecurity," in which families do not
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          2  have a consistent supply of all the food they need

          3  for a healthy diet, followed by steady increases in

          4  the rates since 2000.

          5                 In the year 2004, 11.9% of all

          6  American households were food insecure; these

          7  households included 39 million people, of whom 14

          8  million were children.

          9                 The number of families experiencing

         10  the more severe sub-set of food insecurity termed by

         11  the federal government to be "hunger" also decreased

         12  in the late 1990s but increased since 2000. In 2004,

         13  3.9 percent of American families suffered from

         14  hunger one or more times during the year; these

         15  households included seven million people overall.

         16  Fully 545,000 children suffered directly from

         17  hunger. Similar trends occurred in New York City.

         18                 That means that tens of millions of

         19  Americans don't have a secure supply of food and

         20  that millions of Americans, at least periodically,

         21  suffer from serious malnutrition. Of course, as an

         22  anti-hunger advocate, I hope all Americans agree

         23  that such a lack of food in the wealthiest nation in

         24  the history of the earth is absolutely unacceptable.

         25                 That being said, the most apocalyptic
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          2  food-related predictions of welfare reform opponents

          3  did not come to pass. The nation's poor did not

          4  suffer from wide-spread, long-term starvation, and

          5  as disturbing as the nation's high rates of food

          6  insecurity continue to be, they are not appreciably

          7  worse than before welfare reform.

          8                 Nor, obviously, has there been

          9  widespread rioting in the streets. Both overall

         10  crime and violent crime decreased in the first years

         11  following welfare reform, although many

         12  crime-related statistics have also started to worsen

         13  over the past few years nationwide.

         14                 Additionally, there is ample evidence

         15  that welfare reform has produced a number of

         16  positive results, not the least of which are the

         17  increased pride held by people who left welfare for

         18  work and the decreased tendency of voters to blame

         19  the recipients of social services for the bulk of

         20  our nation's ills. Because opponents of the 1996 law

         21  tended to overlook just how broken the pre-1996

         22  system was, and because they often claimed that any

         23  desire to change it was motivated by racism,

         24  conservatism, political opportunism, or all three,

         25  today they often refuse to acknowledge that welfare
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          2  reform resulted in any societal benefits at all.

          3                 They even fail to question why

          4  current and former welfare recipients have a far

          5  more nuanced  and mixed view of the successes and

          6  failures of welfare reform than do liberal advocates

          7  and academics.

          8                 As with international trade

          9  agreements, the right exaggerates the benefits of

         10  welfare reform, while the left exaggerates the

         11  negative impacts. Given that many of the people

         12  counted as "working" post-welfare reform were indeed

         13  working (frequently off the books) pre-welfare

         14  reform, the actual changes in people's lives were

         15  not as revolutionary as either side claimed. In

         16  truth, welfare reform mostly left in place a failing

         17  status quo -- a social and political equilibrium in

         18  which America neither allowed large numbers of its

         19  residents to starve nor enabled large numbers to

         20  climb out of poverty.

         21                 So, low-income Americans themselves -

         22  with their customary but conflicting mixes of

         23  idealism, fatalism, and realism -- understood that

         24  some parts of their lives had improved, other parts

         25  worsened, but that, primarily, they continued to get
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          2  the short end of society's stick. Given how numb

          3  they are to their long-term situation, no wonder

          4  they neither rioted against -- nor rallied for --

          5  the changes wrought by welfare reform.

          6                 Moreover, I think it is a huge

          7  mistake to continue to discuss welfare reform in a

          8  vacuum, divorced from the larger problem of poverty.

          9                 For our society to make good on the

         10  still unfulfilled promise of enabling large numbers

         11  of welfare recipients to move into living wage jobs,

         12  it must simultaneously make good on two other basic

         13  promises: 1) to "make work pay" and 2) to provide

         14  all Americans with the equal opportunity to earn and

         15  save their way out of poverty.

         16                 We can achieve all three of those

         17  goals at once by replacing our political, economic,

         18  and policy status quo with a new system that builds

         19  on the aspirations of average families rather than

         20  plays upon their fears -- and builds upon mainstream

         21  values such as hard work, family, faith, community,

         22  and ambition to enable low-income families to climb

         23  into the middle class.

         24                 The Centrality of Work.

         25                 Where I think both the left and right
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          2  most missed the boat, so to speak, in the 1996

          3  debate was over the reality that low-income

          4  Americans did indeed want to work.

          5                 The underlying assumption of many

          6  conservatives was that low-income Americans were

          7  intrinsically bad people to start with, and that

          8  welfare had made recipients much lazier and more

          9  dependent than ever before and that a whole culture

         10  evolved simply to enable them to avoid work.

         11                 In contrast, many liberals assumed

         12  that low-income Americans were intrinsically noble,

         13  made all the more so by their long-term suffering

         14  because of racism and oppression.

         15                 They believed that poor people were

         16  so handicapped by these forces that requiring them

         17  to work would be yet another insurmountable

         18  injustice forced upon their ever-fragile lives. To

         19  put it another way, while the right demonized and

         20  scapegoated poor people, the left glorified and

         21  patronized them.

         22                 I think both sets of beliefs were

         23  built upon equally false assumptions regarding race,

         24  although both sides would be loathe to admit it

         25  publicly -- and might even have trouble admitting it
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          2  to themselves. In the debate over welfare, as in so

          3  many issues in American life, racial stereotypes

          4  remained central to the thought processes underlying

          5  the debate and at the same time were nearly entirely

          6  unspoken in public.

          7                 I do think it is clear that --

          8  whether consciously or unconsciously --

          9  conservatives played upon the general, but false,

         10  public perception that virtually all welfare

         11  recipients were non-white. Conversely, liberals

         12  could not quite allow themselves to grapple with the

         13  implications of the reality that, while a bare

         14  majority of welfare recipients nationwide were

         15  indeed white, the overall percentage of African

         16  Americans and Latinos receiving welfare was far

         17  higher than the percentage of white people receiving

         18  it.

         19                 These underlying assumptions further

         20  fueled the beliefs that welfare recipients were

         21  either unwilling or incapable of working.

         22                 It was the genius of Bill Clinton

         23  that saw through the flawed thinking of both sides.

         24  He knew that most low-income Americans wanted to

         25  work and would work, if only they were given the

                                                            176

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  tools and opportunities to do so.

          3                 I'll certainly admit my bias since I

          4  worked for the Clinton Administration (and I'll bet

          5  Chairperson DeBlasio also shares this bias), but I

          6  do think history will show that he truly understood

          7  the key issues at stake in welfare reform -- both at

          8  a policy and a gut level -- better than any of our

          9  nation's leaders. Not only had he assiduously

         10  studied welfare issues as a policy maker, he had a

         11  lifetime of experience interacting on a one-on-one

         12  basis with low-income Americans, many of whom were

         13  African-Americans. It was this personal experience,

         14  which so many experts on both the left and the right

         15  lacked, and led him to understand that low-income

         16  Americans would embrace -- not recoil from -- a

         17  social policy focused on a fair shot at real work.

         18                 Especially since I started this

         19  testimony that we should focus on the future and not

         20  the past, I don't think it is especially productive

         21  to spend a great deal of time and energy debating

         22  whether Clinton was right to have signed the bill.

         23                 Still, whether I like it or not, much

         24  of the future debate will indeed focus on whether

         25  Clinton should have signed the bill (although not,
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          2  curiously, on whether Congress should have passed

          3  the bill he signed or the two previous, far

          4  inferior, versions), this section of my paper is as

          5  good a place as any to take a stand on the great

          6  "should he have signed?" Or "should have vetoed?"

          7  Debate.

          8                 I must go on record that I believe,

          9  on balance, Clinton did the right thing in signing

         10  the bill. On a moral basis, I would argue that the

         11  previous system was failing both recipients and

         12  taxpayers alike, and we needed to do something new,

         13  even if the new system was still very far from

         14  perfect.

         15                 As a practical matter, it is vital to

         16  recall that Clinton did veto two previous, far

         17  inferior, versions of the bill. He had also vetoed

         18  the third version, not only might his veto have been

         19  overridden by Congress and the law implemented

         20  anyway, he may have lost the 1996 election, thus

         21  placing implementation of the bill into hands far

         22  less sympathetic to low-income Americans.

         23                 I can't stress enough the importance

         24  of the various potential ways of implementing the

         25  bill. Because the bill was left intentionally vague
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          2  in many ways, it was a tool that could be used for

          3  widely divergent purposes, depending upon how

          4  different Presidents, Governors, Mayors and County

          5  Executives used that tool during implementation.

          6                 While Clinton was in office, he used

          7  the device -- as well as a strong economy that he

          8  bolstered and other anti-poverty measures that he

          9  created -- to reduce the welfare rolls and reduce

         10  poverty at the same time.

         11                 Many elected officials at other

         12  levels of government followed his lead, and

         13  generally positive results occurred. It is sad for

         14  me to say, but I think New York City was generally

         15  the exception to that rule and that Mayor Giuliani

         16  spent more time punishing welfare recipients for

         17  being poor than helping them achieve true

         18  self-sufficiency.

         19                 In my admittedly baised view, it was

         20  after Clinton left office that welfare reform

         21  strayed most from his original vision and faltered.

         22  Throughout the country, welfare reform generally

         23  became more punitive. As a higher priority was

         24  placed on boosting corporate profits and slashing

         25  government social service spending, welfare reform
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          2  lost focus on empowering recipients to obtain and

          3  keep living wage jobs.

          4                 Most people equate the question of

          5  whether Clinton should have signed the bill with the

          6  broader question -- and the key question of this

          7  panel -- of whether welfare reform worked.

          8                 As I will argue further throughout

          9  this paper, I think that since 1996, welfare reform

         10  has always been a mixed bag of successes and

         11  failures.

         12                 When Clinton was President, the

         13  successes outweighed the failures; in the last five

         14  years, because President Bush and most Governors

         15  have failed to properly use the mechanisms given to

         16  them under the original bill to help people achieve

         17  self-sufficiency, the failures now outnumber the

         18  successes.

         19                 You can certainly argue that Clinton

         20  should not have signed any law that created a set of

         21  options that could be so egregiously be misused by a

         22  successor, but in fairness, had his successor been

         23  more progressive, these same tools would now be used

         24  in a more progressive manner.

         25                 Consequently, he was not mistaken in

                                                            180

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  pushing or welfare reform. His mistake, easier to

          3  see in hindsight, was not pushing earlier and more

          4  forcefully for his own progressive vision of welfare

          5  reform while his party still had a majority in

          6  Congress.

          7                 Also, I think a greater share of the

          8  blame should be assigned to those members of his

          9  party in Congress who refused to lead on the issue

         10  when they had a chance to do so.

         11                 Fearing that any discussion of

         12  welfare reform would result in negative outcomes,

         13  they, in effect, conceded the issue entirely to

         14  conservatives, resulting in outcomes far more

         15  detrimental than they could have originally

         16  imagined.

         17                 So now that I've defended by old boss

         18  Bill Clinton, I can take a look at the broader

         19  lessons that welfare reform has taught us about the

         20  nature of work in America.

         21                 It is now clear that all the key

         22  players in the debate over the original bill

         23  underestimated one essential truth about pre-welfare

         24  reform America: not only did most low-income adults

         25  want to work, most actually did work.
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          2                 As Jason DeParle chronicled in his

          3  excellent book, American Dream, most of the welfare

          4  recipients whose lives he followed in Milwaukee and

          5  elsewhere had long, albeit spotty, work histories.

          6                 They worked both full- and part-time.

          7  They worked both on and off the books. They worked

          8  before, during, and after the times they were

          9  receiving welfare payments. In short, many welfare

         10  recipients worked even before welfare reform.

         11                 DeParle also demolished the

         12  conservative claim that welfare recipients believed

         13  they were "entitled" to government help, reporting

         14  that people who were at the lowest end of just about

         15  every social indicator believed, based on hard life

         16  experience, that they were actually "entitled" to

         17  very little in America.

         18                 Such reporting also laid bare the

         19  left wing claim that the oppressed poor cannot work.

         20  They certainly can, although, many barriers do in

         21  fact make it difficult for them to do so.

         22                 The Role of Personal and Community

         23  Behavior.

         24                 Another left/right debate -- over

         25  whether it is economics and racism or
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          2  irresponsibility and culture that are responsible

          3  for poverty -- also misses the point. It is clear

          4  that all these factors play a role.

          5                 I would issue the following challenge

          6  to both conservatives and liberals: Conservatives,

          7  admit that the overriding factor at stake is

          8  economics. Admit that we can lecture low-income

          9  people all we want about personal responsibility,

         10  but if they can't earn enough to support their

         11  families with full-time work, something is

         12  fundamentally wrong with our country. If

         13  conservatives accept that basic truism, I'd

         14  challenge liberals to stop dismissing the importance

         15  of personal and community responsibility.

         16                 To prove the importance of this

         17  challenge, let's imagine a year in the life of 100

         18  families living in poverty.

         19                 Simply making up numbers to

         20  illustrate to point, let's say that 60 of those

         21  families ended the year equally poor, 30 of those

         22  families ended the year poorer, and 10 ended up

         23  having moved out of poverty.

         24                 What's the difference between the 60,

         25  the 30, and the 10? Surely, much of it is luck and
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          2  life circumstances entirely or mostly beyond their

          3  control (including sickness, death, lay-offs, and

          4  divorce).

          5                 But is also likely that the 10% who

          6  left poverty, on average, engaged in more productive

          7  behavior than the 30% who got poorer.

          8                 Don't get me wrong -- I think all

          9  people, including rich, middle class, and low-income

         10  people -- can be their own worst enemies.

         11                 In fact, there are some days I'd be

         12  my own worst enemy -- if there wasn't so much

         13  competition for the title. I believe that all human

         14  beings have competing strands within their

         15  personalities that are deeply responsible and

         16  self-sacrificing -- and deeply irresponsible and

         17  selfish.

         18                 But, to vastly oversimplify, when

         19  wealthy people are irresponsible, they are more

         20  likely to shaft people they don't know, many of whom

         21  are poor. When poor people are irresponsible, they

         22  tend to shaft themselves and other poor people.

         23                 Low-income Americans are usually

         24  stuck in a vicious cycle in which their

         25  neighborhoods suffer from conditions most beyond
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          2  their control, such as higher levels of food,

          3  insecurity, unemployment, homelessness, and

          4  environmental degradation -- coupled with lower

          5  wages, worse schools, and more threats to public

          6  health.

          7                 In turn, these conditions breed the

          8  anger and despair that lead to social conditions

          9  that are mostly under the control of communities and

         10  individuals, including pathologies such as violent

         11  crime, teenage pregnancy, substance abuse, school

         12  truancy, and domestic violence. This is true about

         13  low-income communities throughout history and across

         14  the globe. Thus, the left/right debate on economics

         15  versus behavior often ignores how these factors

         16  interact.

         17                 Another flaw in the debate is that

         18  both the right and the left base their policies on

         19  extreme exceptions that reinforce their

         20  pre-conceived ideological notions.

         21                 The right fixates on the handful of

         22  people who are somehow so talented, so hard-working,

         23  and so lucky that they are able to climb out of

         24  poverty with relatively little obvious help from the

         25  government.
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          2                 These rare cases are used to justify

          3  a wholesale abandonment of government social service

          4  programs.

          5                 In contrast, the left focuses on

          6  people with so many barriers, so many problems, and

          7  such bad luck that they can't possible become

          8  economically independent no matter how much help

          9  they or their families receive.

         10                 These rare exceptions are used to

         11  justify the need for families to permanently have

         12  the ability to utilize welfare.

         13                 Yet the truth is that most low-income

         14  families (just like most Americans overall) are in

         15  the middle of both extremes, unable to make it

         16  solely on their own but able to advance if they

         17  receive some help and support to do so.

         18                 We would all be better off if our

         19  policies focused more on these families who need and

         20  can use help, rather than the extremely rare people

         21  who either don't need or really can't benefit from

         22  programs that boost upward mobility.

         23                 Unfortunately, the nation's welfare

         24  and poverty policies are designed more to advance

         25  political ideologies and ease bureaucratic
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          2  convenience than to address the real-world struggle

          3  of low-income Americans. Despite the fact that

          4  welfare reform was supposed to eliminate

          5  disincentives to work, many still exist.

          6                 Under current federal and state

          7  policies, social service benefits for welfare

          8  recipients are generally pegged to resources so

          9  minute and incomes so meager that many families lose

         10  food, medical, and other benefits when they leave

         11  welfare, enter the workforce, and increase their

         12  earnings. In many cases, the total value of the

         13  benefits lost exceeds the increase in their income.

         14  That's worse than living on a treadmill -- that's a

         15  treadmill in reverse -- the faster you run, the

         16  further behind you get.

         17                 It should be no surprise then, that

         18  such perverse incentives play a very significant

         19  role in hampering the effectiveness of welfare

         20  reform. Why in the world would any sane person want

         21  to work more just to have less ability to support

         22  his or her family?

         23                 In the greatest irony of all, it

         24  would actually be irresponsible for parents to leave

         25  welfare for work if that move left them with less
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          2  ability to feed, clothe, and house their children.

          3                 Here's a very specific example of how

          4  government policies discourage families from taking

          5  the steps necessary to move towards

          6  self-sufficiency. Under current federal law, if you

          7  are legally disabled or above the age of 60, you can

          8  only have $3,000 in countable resources and still

          9  receive food stamps benefits. For all other food

         10  stamp recipients, including large families, the

         11  resource limit is a paltry $2,000.

         12                 If you have $2001 in a bank, you lose

         13  every penny of your food stamp benefits. There is

         14  not even a ramp downwards in which your benefits

         15  would be reduced as your resources increase; there

         16  is simply a complete cut off.

         17                 What does that mean to actual

         18  families? Let's say family "A" and family "B" are

         19  both low-income working families who receive food

         20  stamp benefits.

         21                 Let's also say both families scrimp

         22  and save so well that they miraculously manage to

         23  end the year with $2,500 saved. Family "A" spends

         24  that $2,500 on a new high-definition, flat-screen

         25  TV. Family "B" puts the money in the bank to save
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          2  for their children's college educations.

          3                 Family "A" keeps every penny of their

          4  food stamps allotment. Family "B" loses every penny.

          5                 Now I don't begrudge Family "A" for

          6  buying that flat-screen TV. If they live in a

          7  low-income neighborhood, chances are that there

          8  isn't a movie theater in their neighborhood anymore.

          9  There might not even be a public park that's safe to

         10  use. Unlike many American families, they can't

         11  afford fun vacations to Europe or to the Caribbean,

         12  and probably can't even afford to take their family

         13  to Disney World. So I don't begrudge any family, no

         14  matter how poor, for spending their meager savings

         15  on entertainment.

         16                 That being said, given the fact that

         17  government resources are, at some point, finite,

         18  shouldn't the family who makes an even greater

         19  sacrifice in order to enable their children to

         20  obtain the education necessary to enter the

         21  middle-class be rewarded, or at least not punished,

         22  for their sacrifice?

         23                 It is true that our nation could

         24  spend much more on fighting poverty if we spent much

         25  less on tax cuts for the rich, pork barrel spending
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          2  to re-elect incumbents, counter-productive wars, and

          3  corporate welfare.

          4                 But the fact remains that that

          5  balanced federal budgets, in the long run, help

          6  low-income Americans just as much as they do wealthy

          7  Americans, and that our leaders must make very tough

          8  choices in order to balance the federal budget. If

          9  we must make such tough choices on spending,

         10  shouldn't we give higher priority to policies that

         11  promote, rather than hinder, behavior that boosts

         12  upward mobility? Today, we do exactly the opposite.

         13                 For instance, another irony is that

         14  the only Americans who have a constitutional right

         15  to three square meals a day are prisoners. Talk

         16  about perverse incentives. Of course, I am not

         17  suggesting that we cut off food for prisoners.

         18  Rather, I am suggesting that we, as a society,

         19  guarantee the availability of a nutritious diet for

         20  all Americans, not just those who commit crimes.

         21                 The Double Standards of Poverty.

         22                 That's a good segue to talk about the

         23  double standards we have in America regarding

         24  poverty and welfare.

         25                 We say people on welfare are
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          2  "dependent," as if all the rest of us are somehow

          3  entirely independent of government and of each

          4  other. That's hogwash.

          5                 Because low-income people themselves

          6  often buy into that myth, it is often difficult to

          7  convince eligible such families to accept any

          8  government help at all, even benefits such as food

          9  stamps that are vital for their family's nutrition.

         10                 I face this problem every day,

         11  meeting many hungry New Yorkers who are embarrassed

         12  to obtain food stamps, believe they don't deserve

         13  the help, and/or believe that, if they accept such

         14  help, people even more needy than they will be

         15  deprived of the benefits. No wonder that in New York

         16  City, more than 60% of people eligible for food

         17  stamp benefits, equaling more than 500,000 people,

         18  don't currently obtain such benefits. Nationally,

         19  participation rates are equally low.

         20                 To try to help folks potentially

         21  eligible for food stamps to overcome their biases

         22  against receiving government help, I often walk them

         23  through what I imagine to be a typical day in that

         24  day of a typical New York City billionaire, even

         25  such quintessential symbols of self-sufficiency and
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          2  independence actually depend on government help many

          3  times a day.

          4                 Even before the billionaire wakes up

          5  in the morning, government-funded trash collectors

          6  whisk garbage away from his home in New York City

          7  and then take it to a landfill a long distance away.

          8  By paying extra dollars to move garbage so far out

          9  of the city, all taxpayers, including the

         10  billionaire, protect both the health and scenic

         11  beauty of their neighborhoods.

         12                 When he wakes up and uses his toilet,

         13  his waste water is washed away by a government sewer

         14  system. When he turns on his tap and brushes his

         15  teeth, he uses water from a municipal water system

         16  subsidized by our tax dollars.

         17                 That water is free from cholera and

         18  other diseases due to the effectiveness of

         19  government water filtration systems. If he owns a

         20  mortgage on the apartment or house in which he is

         21  waking, he is likely benefitting from a

         22  taxpayer-subsidized mortgage interest deduction on

         23  that apartment or house.

         24                 He then rides his limo to work over

         25  government-paved roads and is protected against
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          2  accidents by government traffic lights. At work, he

          3  turns on his computer to use the Internet, a system

          4  which, while not entirely invented by Al Gore, was

          5  indeed invented by the government with the support

          6  of Al Gore and others.

          7                 If the billionaire owns large

          8  buildings, he looks out his window to see property

          9  protected by taxpayer-funded police and fire

         10  departments, and he likely sees some properties of

         11  his that receive immense tax credits to locate in

         12  (or simply fail to move from) certain neighborhoods.

         13                 When he rides his helicopter to his

         14  vacation home, he takes off from a government-owned

         15  heliport and is protected from mid-air collisions by

         16  government air traffic controllers. And if his

         17  vacation home has a mortgage, he can claim all or

         18  part of his mortgage on this vacation home for his

         19  second mortgage interest deduction, paid for -- you

         20  guessed it -- with our tax dollars.

         21                 I do not single out this typical

         22  billionaire - on any wealthy New Yorkers - to

         23  begrudge them their governmental aid. They pay a

         24  great deal in taxes. Most work very long and hard

         25  hours.
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          2                 My simple point is that all of us in

          3  this society receive significant help from the

          4  government each and every day and we hardly think

          5  about it. If the billionaires of the world aren't

          6  embarrassed to obtain large-scale government help,

          7  hungry families shouldn't be embarrassed to get food

          8  stamps. But they are, because they've been told by

          9  our government and society they should be.

         10                 Recently, Mayor Michael Bloomberg

         11  said in a radio interview that food stamp benefits

         12  cause "dependency." Yet in response to a threat by

         13  the investment firm Goldman Sachs that they would

         14  leave Lower Manhattan and move to Midtown Manhattan

         15  (just a few miles away and still in New York City)

         16  without massive public subsidies, the Mayor

         17  supported making available to the firm $150 million

         18  in city and state tax credits and $600 million in

         19  new post 9/11 "liberty" bonds, in addition to one

         20  billion dollars in previously issued government

         21  bonds.

         22                 I would respectfully submit that it

         23  doesn't make sense to consider hundreds of millions

         24  of tax dollars going to Goldman Sachs as good,

         25  old-fashioned free market capitalism, but to
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          2  describe food stamps benefits, which now provide an

          3  allocation of only $1.23 per meal, to be

          4  dependency-producing welfare?

          5                 The double-standards regarding the

          6  nation's treatment of poverty programs abound. In

          7  New York and three other states, people are forced

          8  to get finger-printed just to obtain minuscule food

          9  stamps benefits funded by the U.S. Department of

         10  Agriculture (USDA). This process essentially treats

         11  all applicants as if they are criminals. Yet nowhere

         12  in the country do the executives of corporate

         13  agribusinesses have to be finger-printed to obtain

         14  subsidies for the farms they run on an absentee

         15  basis, even though such taxpayer-funded subsidies

         16  often run into the millions of dollars.

         17                 Here's another double-standard. When

         18  a yuppie parent leaves a child with a nanny, they

         19  are blasted for leaving the child with a care-giver

         20  just to go to work. But a low-income parent is

         21  punished for not wanting to leave their children

         22  alone in order to go to work.

         23                 In fact, given that funding for child

         24  care did not increase by anything close to the

         25  amount necessitated by welfare reform, one of the
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          2  main impacts of welfare reform has been to leave

          3  more children unattended.

          4                 There is also a major double standard

          5  on the importance of a college education. For

          6  middle-class and wealthy students, we are told

          7  higher education is essential for our economy and

          8  their future. But for low-income Americans, higher

          9  education is often described by conservatives as a

         10  "dodge" out of real work. As a result, the new

         11  welfare requirements passed by Congress actually

         12  make it more difficult for welfare recipients to

         13  obtain higher education degrees.

         14                 One of the most galling double

         15  standards is the one regarding work. The work

         16  requirement for welfare recipients is 30 hours a

         17  week, about equal to the number of hours the average

         18  working American works per week. But when you factor

         19  in paid vacation and sick time, which wealthy people

         20  generally get and low-income workers usually do not

         21  get, welfare laws and regulations require that

         22  low-income Americans work far more hours a week than

         23  do wealthy Americans.

         24                 One August a few years ago, I was at

         25  a meeting discussing welfare reform in a comfortable
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          2  government office in Midtown Manhattan.

          3                 Looking at the window at a ritzy

          4  office in a building across the street, I noticed it

          5  was all-but-empty. Many of the workers in that

          6  office likely took much of the entire month of

          7  August off work to go to the Hamptons or some other

          8  fancy vacation spot, as is the custom for many

          9  wealthy New Yorkers.

         10                 I laugh when I read reports in the

         11  elite media that New York is "empty" in August.

         12  Perhaps the neighborhoods in which media executives

         13  live are empty (except for the doormen), but

         14  mixed-income Park Slope, where I live, seem darn

         15  full in August. Lower-income neighborhoods are even

         16  fuller. But these bustling neighborhoods are

         17  invisible to some in the media. Not only are most

         18  low-income New Yorkers still in the city in August,

         19  they are working.

         20                 Perhaps the most outrageous double

         21  standard is that HHS's new welfare reform

         22  regulations only allow 10 excused absences from work

         23  in any 12 month period, and only two per month at

         24  most.

         25                 In other words, if welfare recipients
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          2  happen to be sick three days in any given month,

          3  they are penalized. Given that the federal employees

          4  who wrote these regulations have, by law, at least

          5  26 sick and vacation days a year available to them

          6  (and often many more), limiting low-income American

          7  to only 10 is an appalling act of hypocrisy.

          8                 When you consider all the Enron,

          9  WorldCom, Halliburton, Hewlett Packard, and other

         10  corporate scandals, not to mention all the scandals

         11  and confirmed criminal activity in Congress itself,

         12  it really is outrageous that Congress - funded to

         13  the hilt by people and corporations that have also

         14  committed crimes - has passed new welfare reform

         15  rules based on the premise that poor people, who

         16  worked harder and earned less since the passage of

         17  the pervious welfare reform bill, need to work even

         18  harder and act even more responsibly.

         19                 It certainly harms our collective

         20  efforts to convince low-income Americans that the

         21  best way to escape poverty is to work hard and

         22  follow the rules so long as so many people are at

         23  the top are making themselves even wealthier by

         24  skirting the rules and avoiding work. Let's just

         25  call that the "Paris Hilton" rule.
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          2                 I certainly understand -- and am

          3  viscerally attracted to -- the populist impulse and

          4  the left-wing desire to say that since everyone at

          5  the top of society acts irresponsibly, poor people

          6  should be excused if they also want to do the same.

          7                 After all, if we see limos speeding,

          8  we want to speed as well. If everyone else around us

          9  seems to be looting, what's the big deal if we grab

         10  an ipod or two for ourselves?

         11                 But despite those natural impulses, I

         12  think we must all stand up against any message that

         13  would drag all of society down to our the lowest

         14  common denominator. A much better approach would be

         15  to require more personal responsibility from all

         16  Americans at the top, middle, and bottom rungs of

         17  society.

         18                 As a moral matter, none of us should

         19  be excused from the responsibility to aid the

         20  greater good.

         21                 As a practical matter, a society in

         22  which we all race towards greater heights of

         23  lawlessness is a society doomed to fail. Thus, for

         24  welfare reform to be truly effective - and really,

         25  for our society as a whole to be truly effective -
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          2  the nation's rules of behavior need to be fairer and

          3  more evenly enforced for all of us.

          4                 So How Well Has Welfare Reform

          5  Worked?

          6                 Nationwide, there was a dramatic 64

          7  percent national decline in the number of people

          8  receiving federally-funded welfare (TANF) between

          9  August 1996, when President Clinton signed the

         10  welfare reform bill into law, and June 2005,

         11  according to HHS. The number dropped from 12.2

         12  million people to 4.5 million.

         13                 It is certainly true that, when the

         14  economy was strong, many people on public assistance

         15  with the fewest problems, most skills, and greatest

         16  motivation did indeed move from welfare to work.

         17  Some of these families moved out of poverty when

         18  they moved off welfare.

         19                 Yet many other who moved from welfare

         20  to work in previous years still did not earn enough

         21  to fully feed their families and meet other basic

         22  expenses such as rent and child care, forcing them

         23  to increasingly use food pantries and soup kitchens,

         24  leave their children with inadequate supervision,

         25  sink deeper into poverty, and face numerous other
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          2  problems.

          3                 Moreover, the true test of welfare

          4  reform is not whether it worked when the economy was

          5  strong and when jobs were abundant, but whether it

          6  works when the economy is weak and living-wage jobs

          7  are scarce, as they are now.

          8                 This concern is especially critical

          9  given that the counter-cyclical safety net (designed

         10  specifically to adapt to economic downturns) no

         11  longer exists as it did before.

         12                 .

         13                 The reality is that cities and

         14  counties across America are still removing

         15  low-income families from the welfare rolls, but many

         16  of those families are now failing to find or keep

         17  paid employment.

         18                 In the late 1990s, when the rate of

         19  decrease in the welfare rolls was most rapid,

         20  poverty also decreased as more former recipients

         21  moved into employment. But over the last few years,

         22  as the rate of decrease has slowed considerably --

         23  and with many states now showing small increases in

         24  welfare again -- fewer recipients are moving into

         25  the workforce.
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          2                 Let's look at a little more carefully

          3  about what happened to poverty. While many of the

          4  most ardent supporters of welfare reform imply that

          5  poverty reduction took place because of the welfare

          6  reform bill, I think there is evidence that, to some

          7  extent, the poverty reduction occurred despite the

          8  bill.

          9                 The act was signed into law in the

         10  summer of 1996 and took full effect in 1997.

         11                 According to the U.S. Census Bureau,

         12  between 1993 and 1997, there was a 25% (7.7 million

         13  person) drop in poverty. Between 1997 and 2000,

         14  poverty declined by 15%, a four million person

         15  decrease. In other words, poverty dropped more

         16  rapidly before welfare reform than after welfare

         17  reform.

         18                 It is amusing to me that some of the

         19  most conservative supporters of welfare reform cite

         20  the full 1992-2000 drop in poverty as some sort of

         21  proof that welfare reform worked, misleadingly

         22  giving the impression that the entire drop occurred

         23  after the bill was enacted.

         24                 It is even more amusing to me given

         25  that, by citing the complete time-frame, those
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          2  conservatives are essentially admitting that Bill

          3  Clinton's economic and other anti-poverty policies

          4  -- which not only were started years before the

          5  welfare reform bill became law but were fervently

          6  opposed by most of those same conservatives -- were

          7  as much, if not more, responsible for the reduction

          8  in poverty than was the welfare reform bill.

          9                 Other facts about the growing

         10  poverty, hunger, and homelessness in America should

         11  further put welfare reform into perspective.

         12                 While President Clinton brought the

         13  poverty rate to its lowest point in decades, even at

         14  its lowest rate under Clinton (11.3%, in 2000), the

         15  rate was still higher than the historical low

         16  (11.1%) in 1973 and still higher than any other

         17  industrialized Western country.

         18                 By 2005, there were 37 million people

         19  in the U.S. (12.6% of the population) living under

         20  the meager federal poverty line. Of those, 16

         21  million (43%) earned less than half of the poverty

         22  limit which is identified as "deep poverty," meaning

         23  they had cash income below $7,788 for a family of

         24  three. The percentage of Americans in such severe

         25  poverty remained the highest it has been in the
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          2  thirty years the federal government has counted that

          3  statistic.

          4                 The amount by which the average poor

          5  person fell below the poverty line in 2005 -- $3,236

          6  -- also remained the highest on record.

          7                 In most states, the gap between the

          8  highest-income families and poor and middle-income

          9  families grew significantly between the early 1980s

         10  and the early 2000s, according to a study by the

         11  Center on Budget and Policy Priorities and the

         12  Economic Policy Institute.

         13                 For instance, in New York State, in

         14  the early 2000s the richest 20 percent of families

         15  had average incomes 8.1 times as large as the

         16  poorest 20 percent of families.

         17                 This is up from a ratio of 5.6 in the

         18  early 1980s. In the early 2000s, the richest five

         19  percent of families had average incomes 13.4 times

         20  as large as the poorest 20 percent of families. This

         21  is up from a ratio of 7.8 in the early 1980s. In the

         22  early 2000s, the richest 20 percent of families had

         23  average incomes 2.7 times as large as the middle 20

         24  percent of families. This is up from a ratio of 2.1

         25  in the early 1980s.
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          2                 In keeping with such conditions, many

          3  former welfare recipients are failing to find -- or

          4  failing to maintain -- employment, and are

          5  increasingly forced to rely upon soup kitchens and

          6  food pantries to feed themselves and their families.

          7                 In 2005, it was estimated by

          8  America's Second Harvest that more than 25 million

          9  Americans were forced to use the nation's more than

         10  40,000 charitable soup kitchens and food pantries, a

         11  two million person increase since 2001. More than

         12  nine million of the program users were children and

         13  nearly four million were seniors.

         14                 Also in 2005, according to USDA,

         15  Americans living in households that faced hunger or

         16  food insufficiency rose to 38.2 million, including

         17  13.9 million children (19 percent of all American

         18  children).

         19                 As I indicated previously, these

         20  federal food insecurity numbers have increased in

         21  each of the past five years.

         22                 According the U.S. Conference of

         23  Mayors, homelessness is growing in virtually every

         24  big city in America.

         25                 Government studies on welfare almost
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          2  always fail to fully account for people who have

          3  left the public assistance rolls but did not obtain

          4  employment.

          5                 For example, the most significant New

          6  York State study on this topic, "Leaving Welfare:

          7  Post-TANF Experiences of New York State Families,

          8  June 2002," was able to obtain information from only

          9  53 percent of sampled families.

         10                 The study assumes, based on 2001

         11  data, that the families interviewed had identical

         12  outcomes to the 47 percent of families who did not

         13  respond. But it is highly likely that the families

         14  that could be located for interviews had far better

         15  financial and employment conditions than those

         16  families who did not participate.

         17                 It is telling indeed that the State

         18  of New York hasn't even seriously studied the impact

         19  of welfare reform in the wake of the economic

         20  downturn of the past five years.

         21                 The Case Study of New York City.

         22                 For the previous decade, New York

         23  City has taken the lead in trumpeting the myth of

         24  the unequivocal success of welfare reform. We are

         25  very heartened that the preliminary report of the
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          2  Mayor's Commission on Economic Opportunity seems to

          3  indicate that simply removing people from the

          4  welfare rolls is not the same as ensuring that they

          5  obtain self-sufficiency.

          6                 For many years prior, the City seemed

          7  to assume that reductions in the welfare rolls

          8  automatically meant increases in self-sufficiency.

          9                 In his State of the City address in

         10  2004, Mayor Bloomberg said: "The number of New

         11  Yorkers receiving public assistance also continued

         12  to decline... That's a tribute to our city's

         13  commitment to replacing the dependency of welfare

         14  with the dignity of work."

         15                 This statement gave the misleading

         16  impression that all the people leaving public

         17  assistance were entering the workforce and that the

         18  jobs they were obtaining were long-lasting and

         19  highly-paid enough to "replace" welfare and provide

         20  the "dignity of work."

         21                 According to the Mayor's own Fiscal

         22  Year 2004 Preliminary Management Report, "Reported

         23  job placements for welfare recipients fell during

         24  the reporting period, reflecting recent economic

         25  trends... The proportion of public assistance
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          2  participants who left welfare for work and did not

          3  return within 180 days declined, and is lower than

          4  the target for Fiscal 2004. This downturn is another

          5  reflection of economic trends." More recently, the

          6  Mayor's Fiscal Year 2006 Management Report stated

          7  that "the number of public assistance recipient job

          8  placements declined 9.2 percent."

          9                 I have repeatedly heard City

         10  officials says that, of those public assistance

         11  recipients who moved from welfare to work, 88% have

         12  retained their jobs after three months, and 75% have

         13  stayed employed after six months.

         14                 Yet the officials often leave the

         15  impression that this means that 75% of all

         16  welfare-leavers have jobs after six months.

         17                 That claim glosses over the reality

         18  that, as reported by City Limits magazine and never

         19  contradicted by the City, only 23% of New Yorkers

         20  who leave the welfare rolls report having jobs when

         21  they do so.

         22                 Since only 75% of that 23% report

         23  jobs after six months that means that only 17% of

         24  all New Yorkers who leave welfare -- less than one

         25  in five -- report having paid employment six months
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          2  after they leave the rolls.

          3                 What happened to the other 83%? One

          4  possibility is that they obtained well-paying jobs

          5  that lifted their income so much that they had such

          6  little need of future City help that they didn't

          7  even bother to report their new jobs to the City.

          8                 Another possibility is that they

          9  failed to obtain any employment at all, subsequently

         10  falling even further into destitution, forcing them

         11  to rely upon soup kitchens and food pantries and

         12  sometimes even becoming homeless.

         13                 My anecdotal experience leads me to

         14  believe that the first scenario occurred

         15  occasionally and the second occurred more

         16  frequently, but that most welfare leavers fell

         17  between those extremes, perhaps having some full- or

         18  part-time work but not earning enough to fully

         19  support their families. Yet when it comes to an

         20  issue so important, surely we should not have to

         21  rely on mere anecdotal experiences.

         22                 The bottom line is that there is no

         23  hard data on what really happens to New Yorkers who

         24  leave welfare.

         25                 To my knowledge, the City has never
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          2  had a serious study on the long-term impact of

          3  welfare reform on past recipients, and New York

          4  State has not looked at any such data more recent

          5  than March 2001, before the recent economic

          6  downturn.

          7                 Other data from around the country

          8  and the city now indicates that, especially in this

          9  still-difficult economy, many people left welfare

         10  without having jobs, but even many of those who did

         11  obtain jobs early on likely lost them later, or kept

         12  jobs but didn't earn enough to feed their families.

         13                 Sometimes the City gives an overly

         14  rosy view of its successes by moving the goal lines

         15  to decrease their performance targets.

         16                 For instance, in 2003, the City set a

         17  goal of placing 120,000 welfare recipients in jobs,

         18  but ended up placing only 70,410 or 58 percent, of

         19  the original goal.

         20                 But by decreasing the 2004 goal to

         21  only 90,000 job placements, when the City was able

         22  to place 82,651 people in jobs, the City produced a

         23  appealing but misleading chart showing that they had

         24  achieved 92 percent of their placement goal in 2004.

         25                 If the City has created a similar
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          2  chart in 2005 or 2006, they haven't placed it on

          3  their web site.

          4                 The City has explained that these

          5  reduced job placement rates are a function of the

          6  fact that the people remaining on the welfare rolls

          7  tend to have more barriers to employment. That is

          8  certainly true. But that doesn't fully explain why

          9  the welfare rolls are continued to decrease at a

         10  time when job placements are also decreasing.

         11                 It is also more than fair to ask

         12  whether the continued reductions in the public

         13  assistance rolls are responsible, at least in part,

         14  for the growing poverty, hunger, homelessness, and

         15  inequality of wealth in New York City.

         16                 Using data from the U.S. Department

         17  of Agriculture, my organization recently calculated

         18  that more than 1.2 million New York City residents

         19  -- including more than 400,000 children -- live in

         20  food insecure households.

         21                 Out of the 3.6 million working adults

         22  in New York City, nearly 425,000 (12 percent) live

         23  in homes that lacked sufficient food. Coalition data

         24  also shows that the use of food pantries and soup

         25  kitchens in New York City increased by 40% between
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          2  2001-2005. Soup kitchens and food pantries that

          3  receive some City funding served 40,534 more meals

          4  in July 2006 than in July 2005. In the first seven

          5  months of 2006, these agencies served 217,546 more

          6  meals than in the first seven months of 2005.

          7                 New York, like most of the country,

          8  often illegally kicks people out of the Food Stamp

          9  Program when it legally removes people from TANF.

         10  Food Stamp Program participation in New York City is

         11  now 376,216 people (26%) lower than the peak level

         12  of participation in March of 1995.

         13                 That means that both the city's

         14  economy and low-income families now receive $505

         15  million per year less in federal aid to support food

         16  purchases than in 1995.

         17                 It is indeed troubling that the use

         18  of the federally-funded Food Stamp Program is

         19  declining at precisely the same time that the use of

         20  charitable food pantries and soup kitchens -- which

         21  receive limited City funding -- is increasing.

         22                 According to the just-released

         23  "Forbes 400" report, the number of billionaires in

         24  New York City rose from 28 to 45 over the last year,

         25  with their total net worth now at approximately
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          2  $60.4 billion.

          3                 In contrast, the 1.7 million city

          4  residents living below the federal poverty line

          5  earned a total of approximately $3.45 billion,

          6  meaning that the 45 richest New Yorkers had more

          7  than 17 times the money of the 1.7 million poorest,

          8  according to an analysis of U.S. Census data just

          9  conducted by my organization.

         10                 The city's richest resident, David

         11  Koch, now ha a reported net worth of $12 billion,

         12  three and a half times the total earnings of the

         13  city's poor.

         14                 New York City now has 3% of the

         15  nation's overall population, 4% of the nation's

         16  people living in poverty, and 11% of the nation's

         17  billionaires.

         18                 It used to be that a rising economic

         19  tide lifted all boats, but now it seems as though it

         20  is lifting merely the oversized yachts while

         21  swamping all rowboats in its wake.

         22                 In New York City during Fiscal Year

         23  2000, 23,712 people overall stayed in the City's

         24  homeless shelter system.

         25                 In Fiscal Year 2001, the number rose
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          2  to 27,799. In Fiscal Year 2002 the number rose to

          3  34,576. In Fiscal Year 2003, it rose to 38,310. In

          4  Fiscal Year 2004, it dropped to 37,319. In Fiscal

          5  Year 2005, it dropped to 33,687. Thus the number of

          6  people sleeping in City shelters is still far higher

          7  than in 2002.

          8                 According to the Community Service

          9  Society (CSS), the city's poverty rate in 2005/2004

         10  stood at 21.6 percent. The city's poor number

         11  roughly 1.7 million. As CSS put it, "If they resided

         12  in their own municipality they would constitute the

         13  fifth-largest city in the United States."

         14                 Some other data calculated by CSS:

         15                 - Like the nation, the city's poverty

         16  rate had climbed each year since the end of the hot

         17  economy of the 1990s, reaching 21.8 percent in

         18  2004/2003. The decline apparent in the latest data

         19  is too small to be considered statistically

         20  significant.

         21                 - A growing share of the city's poor

         22  includes working families with children. The

         23  proportion of families who engage in the equivalent

         24  annual hours of a full-time, year-round worker has

         25  risen from 72.9 percent in 2000/1999 to 80.0 percent
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          2  in 2005/2004.

          3                 - Annual earnings for these working

          4  families plunged during the economic downturn. From

          5  2000/1999 to 2003/2002, median family earnings fell

          6  by 14.9 percent.

          7                 In the subsequent recovery, earnings

          8  have increased somewhat for families at the middle

          9  rung of the pay scale (by 5.0 percent from 2003/2002

         10  to 2005/2004.)

         11                 However, there have been no pay gains

         12  for families at the lowest end of the earnings

         13  distribution during the recent recovery.

         14                 - A growing percentage of working

         15  families does not earn enough to make it over the

         16  federal poverty line. Earnings have climbed from

         17  11.1 percent to 14.4 percent from 2000/1999 to

         18  2005/2004.

         19                 - Families headed by single mothers

         20  constitute two-thirds of New York's poor families

         21  with children.

         22                 After experiencing a dramatic rise in

         23  employment and fall in poverty since the mid1990s,

         24  recent trends have reversed much of that progress.

         25                 Employment by single mothers is
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          2  trending downward and the poverty rate fro families

          3  headed by single mothers has climbed by 9.9 percent

          4  since 2002/2001.

          5                 Surely many factors contribute to the

          6  increasing poverty, hunger, homelessness, and

          7  inequality of wealth in New York City, but surely

          8  failings with welfare reform are included in those

          9  factors as well.

         10                 The New Federal Law.

         11                 In December 2005, Congressional

         12  Republicans enacted the Budget Reconciliation bill

         13  for Fiscal Year 2006 by the barest of margins.

         14                 Vice-President Cheney broke a tie in

         15  the Senate and the bill passed by only a two-vote

         16  margin in the House.

         17                 Not one Democrat in the House or the

         18  Senate voted for it. The media coverage on the

         19  bill's debate and passage focused mostly on large

         20  cuts in Medicaid, students loans, and other programs

         21  that benefit low-and middle-income Americans.

         22                 Largely overlooked, however, was the

         23  reality that the bill also enacts the most sweeping

         24  changes in the Temporary Assistance for Needy

         25  Families Program (TANF) -- better known as welfare
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          2  -- since President Clinton signed bipartisan

          3  welfare reform legislation into law in 1996.

          4                 The new law would, in effect,

          5  increase the percentage of families receiving public

          6  assistance that are required to work in each, state

          7  and impose new penalties on states for failing to

          8  meet federal requirements.

          9                 The Congressional Budget Office

         10  estimates that the new law will cost states $8.4

         11  billion over the next five years, but the only

         12  significant new federal funding provided in the new

         13  law is $200 million per year for increased child

         14  care, all of which would have to be matched by

         15  states.

         16                 These changes will have a dramatic

         17  impact upon the millions of Americans -- most of

         18  whom are children -- who currently receive TANF

         19  benefits, as well on many of the tens of millions of

         20  other Americans living below the poverty line.

         21                 These changes were enacted without

         22  any hearings on the final provisions. Nor was there

         23  any substantial floor debate in either the Senate or

         24  the House on these final provisions.

         25                 In a December 8, 2005, letter to
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          2  Congressional leaders opposing using the

          3  reconciliation process for major welfare changes,

          4  Michael Bloomberg wrote, "Budget reconciliation is

          5  an expedited process designed to curtail debate."

          6                 In this case I agreed with the Mayor.

          7  Moreover, I was very hearted by the generally

          8  progressive suggestions made by the Mayor and HRA to

          9  Congress as to what should have been - and what

         10  should not have been - in the reauthorization

         11  legislation.

         12                 Since many Council Members went to

         13  law school, permit me to format my next section as a

         14  Socratic dialogue, in the form of questions:

         15                 Why did Congress pass sweeping

         16  changes in welfare (TANF) as part of the budget

         17  reconciliation process, rather than as a stand-alone

         18  TANF re-authorization bill?

         19                 Was it because the changes lacked the

         20  votes to pass in a stand-alone bill? Or was it

         21  because the leaders wanted to avoid public and media

         22  scrutiny of the changes? Or both? Given that the

         23  1996 changes in welfare were worked out as a

         24  bi-partisan agreement between President Clinton and

         25  Congress but that the 2006 changes were enacted by a
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          2  Republican Congress and President (without so much

          3  as a single Democratic vote of support in either the

          4  House or Senate), does the issue of welfare reform

          5  provide another example of how America's current

          6  political climate makes it impossible to tackle any

          7  major national issue in a bi-partisan manner?

          8                 Why do leading politicians of both

          9  parties -- who frequently spoke glowingly about

         10  welfare reform in the late 1990s -- now

         11  all-but-ignore the welfare issue in their public

         12  utterances? Why is the Bush Administration

         13  all-but-silent on this issue and why are most

         14  materials on the HHS web site about welfare reform

         15  more than a few years old?

         16                 Are Democratic members of Congress

         17  afraid to speak out against more restrictions on

         18  public assistance because they don't want to be

         19  labeled "pro-welfare?" Are Republican members afraid

         20  to speak out in favor of those restrictions because

         21  they don't want their compassion questioned?

         22                 Are politicians of both parties more

         23  reluctant to talk about this issue because there is

         24  increasing evidence that welfare reform may not be

         25  working as well as previously advertised?
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          2                 What political forces pushed Congress

          3  to place further work requirements on low-income

          4  Americans but also forced Congress to reject an

          5  increase in the national minimum wage, which has not

          6  been raised from the current level of $5.15 an hour

          7  (about $11,000 for a year of full-time work) since

          8  1997?

          9                 Why were Governors -- including

         10  Republican Governors -- more doubtful than the

         11  Congressional leadership of the ability of states to

         12  meet the new work requirement levels set in the

         13  reconciliation bill?

         14                 How forcefully did Governors and

         15  their social services administrators work behind the

         16  scenes to defeat these provisions?

         17                 States struggled to meet lower levels

         18  of work participation when the economy was far

         19  stronger in the late 1900s. How are they going to

         20  meet higher work participation levels given today's

         21  economy?

         22                 Given that the new law forces states

         23  to meet higher work standards without giving them

         24  significant amounts of new funds to meet those

         25  standards, how will this impact upon states already
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          2  facing fiscal difficulties?

          3                 Given that poverty, inequality of

          4  wealth, hunger, and food insecurity have all

          5  increased over the last five years, was welfare

          6  reform at least partly to blame for some or all of

          7  these increases?

          8                 Will the further tightening of

          9  benefits under the reconciliation bill further

         10  increase poverty, income inequality, hunger, and

         11  food insecurity in America?

         12                 Do welfare reform policies, which

         13  force more workers to accept low-wage jobs, drive

         14  down average wages for all low-income workers? If

         15  so, will the new welfare provisions, forcing more

         16  people into work, accelerate that trend?

         17                 Do the new HHS implementation

         18  regulations -- which limit job readiness and job

         19  search activities to only ten weeks and limit

         20  excused absences to only ten days in an entire year

         21  -- further punish welfare recipients and hamper the

         22  ability of the law to meet its self-proclaimed goal

         23  of helping people achieve self-sufficiency?

         24                 I think the answer to the last

         25  question is clearly yes. On this front, I also want
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          2  to greatly praise the Mayor and HRA. I strongly

          3  agree with virtually all the comments that the

          4  Bloomberg Administration has submitted to HHS

          5  regarding their new implementation regulations.

          6                 Finishing the Job on Welfare Reform.

          7                 As I indicated in the introduction,

          8  we must simultaneously: enable large numbers welfare

          9  recipients to move into living-wage jobs, "make work

         10  pay," and to provide all Americans with the equal

         11  opportunity to earn and save their way out of

         12  poverty.

         13                 To achieve those goals, we should

         14  create brand new economic, political, and social

         15  policies that unleash the full power of the nation's

         16  bedrock values: hard work, family, community, faith,

         17  and ambition. We must base all our policies around

         18  the central goal of empowering low-income families

         19  to have the opportunity to climb into the middle

         20  class.

         21                 Any welfare reform and anti-poverty

         22  plan must be extensive, and include concrete ways to

         23  make quality child care, nutritious food, safe

         24  neighborhoods, livable housing, effective public

         25  schools, quality health care, effective job
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          2  training, and post-secondary education more

          3  affordable and accessible for low-income Americans.

          4                 It must be noted that more spending

          5  -- primarily from the federal level -- is needed to

          6  achieve these goals. Mayor Bloomberg, in releasing

          7  the report of his antipoverty commission, repeated

          8  line that "Long experience has taught us that simply

          9  throwing dollars at poverty does not make it go

         10  away."

         11                 In fact, the time when the federal

         12  government did significantly increase its

         13  anti-poverty funding -- with the Great Society

         14  programs and other efforts started in the 1960s --

         15  the U.S. poverty rate was cut in half.

         16                 I believe that history will clearly

         17  show that the reason that poverty again increased in

         18  the late 1970s, the 1980s, and again in the last few

         19  years was that the federal government slashed

         20  anti-poverty funding in order to pay for increased

         21  military expenditures, additional corporate welfare,

         22  and ever-greater tax cuts for the nation's

         23  wealthiest.

         24                 Surely, spending more money on

         25  poverty is not the only way to decrease it. But
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          2  given that poverty is the absence of sufficient

          3  money, we cannot dramatically reduce poverty without

          4  significant new expenditures.

          5                 As noted before, when it comes to

          6  other matters, such as preventing an investment from

          7  moving a few blocks, our Mayor clearly understands

          8  that significant public resources are necessary to

          9  obtain results. Trying to reduce poverty without

         10  increasing the money available to low-income

         11  families is like trying to reduce drought without

         12  increasing the availability of water.

         13                 Here are steps I believe the nation

         14  should take to reform welfare reform.

         15                 Welfare reform should have three

         16  equally important goals: 1) Further reducing the

         17  welfare rolls; 2) Ensuring that people leaving

         18  welfare -- as well as people who previously left --

         19  have long-term, living-wage jobs, and have an

         20  increased ability to support their family off

         21  welfare than on welfare; and 3) Reducing poverty for

         22  both children and adults.

         23                 Here are some basic things we should

         24  do to make welfare reform work better.

         25                 We should enable welfare recipients
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          2  to combine more access to immediate work with more

          3  access to education and training programs; virtually

          4  all data on welfare reform nationwide shows that

          5  approaches that mix work with education and training

          6  work best.

          7                 Congress should raise the federal

          8  minimum wage. The federal, state and city

          9  governments should all raise the levels of their

         10  Earned Income Tax Credits (EITC) and conduct

         11  outreach on this vital benefit.

         12                 We should implement a citywide plan

         13  to create more living wages jobs in areas of high

         14  unemployment and give employers more incentives to

         15  hire and retain former welfare recipients.

         16                 Job training programs should be

         17  improved by better involving businesses that are

         18  hiring welfare leavers in their design and by

         19  requiring job training contracts to be based on real

         20  performance rather than on political favoritism.

         21                 Welfare leavers should be enabled to

         22  automatically receive the tools they need to obtain

         23  and keep jobs, including: child care, wage supports,

         24  tax refunds, transportation help, health care, and

         25  particularly nutrition assistance.
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          2                 Of course, I think any plan to reform

          3  welfare and end poverty in New York should start

          4  with ending local hunger. Adults who face food

          5  shortages have greater trouble obtaining -- ad

          6  keeping -- employment.

          7                 By ensuring that both people with

          8  jobs and people looking for jobs never have to worry

          9  about where their next meal is coming from, the City

         10  could remove one massive barrier that prevents too

         11  many New Yorkers from focusing on working. Given

         12  that I have testified many times before this

         13  Committee on concrete ways the City can immediately

         14  increase access to the Food Stamps Program and take

         15  other steps to end hunger, I won't repeat those

         16  points here.

         17                 We should increase and improve data

         18  collection to study the long-term poverty and

         19  employment status on both current and former welfare

         20  recipients.

         21                 When Bill Clinton was President, he

         22  placed one of his most trusted advisors in charge of

         23  the Welfare-to-Work Partnership, a national effort

         24  to encourage employers to hire welfare leavers.

         25                 I would propose that the Mayor put
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          2  his full backing behind a similar effort at the city

          3  level.

          4                 In particular, I think the City

          5  government can and should do much more to help

          6  create both paying jobs for people who left welfare

          7  and public service slots to help current recipients

          8  meet their work requirements.

          9                 In the more than five years I have

         10  been heading the Coalition, not once have I received

         11  information encouraging me to -- or explaining how I

         12  could -- aid public assistance recipients in either

         13  of those two ways.

         14                 I assume that such lack of

         15  information is common for most of the city's

         16  nonprofit social service agencies.

         17                 Ironically, the nation likely spends

         18  far greater resources on paying nonprofit groups to

         19  train and prepare people for jobs than on helping

         20  them actually hire such people.

         21                 To truly reduce poverty, not only

         22  must we "finish the job" effectively on welfare

         23  reform, but we must focus on improved child care,

         24  education, housing, etc. In addition to that, the

         25  nation and the city should take the following steps.
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          2                 The whole paradigm of the country's

          3  poverty policy should be shifted from the current

          4  system that mostly maintains people at bare

          5  subsistence levels to one that enables low-income

          6  families to develop assets to help them move out of

          7  poverty and into the middle class.

          8                 To start towards this new paradigm,

          9  we should take any administrative steps already

         10  available to the federal governments and states --

         11  and offer state and federal legislative proposals --

         12  to reform all existing social services programs to

         13  better enable benefit recipients to: save to pay for

         14  a college education, job training, a down payment on

         15  a first home, and/or starting a business.

         16                 Federal, State and City funds and

         17  technical assistance should be provided to nonprofit

         18  groups to expand the usage of federal Individual

         19  Development Accounts (IDAs) to help low-income

         20  families develop assets.

         21                 The Federal, State and City

         22  governments and the states should focus on helping

         23  low-income men pay child support, improve their

         24  parenting skills, enter the workforce, obtain GEDs

         25  and college educations, and increase their wages.
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          2                 The country has had a fair amount of

          3  success in pas years in helping low-income women

          4  enter the workforce. Yet, for too long, social

          5  policy has either ignored men or treated them simply

          6  as objects of punishment; this must be reversed.

          7                 I would hope that we support

          8  implementing a comprehensive plan to enable more

          9  low-income Americans to create micro-enterprises

         10  (very small, community-based businesses) and provide

         11  them the technical assistance to make sure they

         12  succeed.

         13                 Finally, looking at the problem of

         14  the working poor more broadly, I think the Mayor has

         15  a historically unique opportunity to influence both

         16  the private and public sectors with a comprehensive

         17  effort to "make work pay."

         18                 Many of these steps are not easy or

         19  cheap. But they are achievable. If we want to really

         20  make welfare reform work -- and also reduce poverty

         21  -- we should take these steps.

         22                 As many have noted before, a city is

         23  only as strong as its weakest links. As long as New

         24  York has so much poverty, cannot truly be secure. We

         25  can - and should - do better.
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          2

          3

          4  Written Testimony Of:

          5  Don Friedman

          6  Community Service Society

          7

          8                 Good morning. My name is Don

          9  Friedman. I am a Senior Policy Analyst with the

         10  Community Service Society. CSS is an independent,

         11  nonprofit organization that works to improve

         12  conditions for low-income residents and communities

         13  in New York City.

         14                 I appreciate your decision to hold

         15  this hearing concerning New York's implementation of

         16  recent Federal changes to the TANF program, and for

         17  providing me with this opportunity to testify.

         18                 I believe that the City Council has a

         19  critical role to play in gathering and helping to

         20  make public information about HRA's policy decisions

         21  and the resulting outcomes, in overseeing this

         22  process and, if necessary, in legislating to protect

         23  the well-being of the affected population.

         24                 You will be hearing testimony from a

         25  broad range of advocates and experts today. Much of
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          2  the testimony will address on the following crucial

          3  questions: What must New York State and New York

          4  City do to meet their obligation in light of more

          5  onerous and restrictive Federal rules? Can this be

          6  achieved in ways that do not further restrict - or

          7  even in ways that enhance - the ability of the

          8  neediest New Yorkers to engage in appropriate,

          9  constructive activities and that do not put their

         10  families at greater risk? I will address these

         11  questions as well, but with a somewhat limited

         12  focus.

         13                 My central message today is that New

         14  York City and State can significantly enhance their

         15  capacity to comply with the stricter Federal

         16  participation requirements while simultaneously

         17  improving the outcomes for many public assistance

         18  households by adopting decisive measures to reduce

         19  the number of households suffering from sanctions

         20  and by helping adults in vulnerable households to

         21  engage in countable and appropriate activities.

         22                 As you know, when a Family Assistance

         23  (FA) household is found to be noncompliant with a

         24  work-related assignment, the "offending" adult's

         25  share of the grant is removed from the family grant
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          2  until a designated time period has elapsed and the

          3  adult has in some way demonstrated his/her

          4  willingness to comply with future requirements.

          5                 Under Federal TANF law, when

          6  calculating a state's participation rate, a

          7  household under sanction for fewer than three months

          8  is not part of the participation rate denominator.

          9  After three months, the household is returned to the

         10  denominator, thereby reducing the state's

         11  participation rate.

         12                 According to the most recent

         13  available New York State statistics, there are, in a

         14  given month, about 34,500 families being sanctioned,

         15  of whom about 10,375 have been under sanction for

         16  more than three months and are therefore back in the

         17  denominator.

         18                 There are some who have suggested

         19  that this problem can be addressed by instituting

         20  punitive measures such as full-family sanctions,

         21  that is, by terminating all aid to the sanctioned

         22  family, in which case they would not, for the

         23  duration of the sanction, be brought back into the

         24  denominator.

         25                 In my view, this reasoning inherently
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          2  presumes the following:

          3                 (1) That a substantial percentage, if

          4  not most, noncomplying adults are "happily

          5  sanctioned;" they understand the consequence of

          6  their failure to comply, nevertheless choose to

          7  accept the sanction, and do not, for various

          8  reasons, actually face any grave loss;

          9                 (2) That most sanctions are validly

         10  imposed as a result of the adult's willful failure

         11  to cooperate;

         12                 (3) That closing the entire case and

         13  thereby keeping the household out of the denominator

         14  best enables the state to meet its participation

         15  rate requirements.

         16                 Here is why each of these assumptions

         17  is misguided:

         18                 (a) They're "happily sanctioned."

         19  First, there is a growing body of evidence

         20  suggesting that the families at greatest risk of

         21  being sanctioned are among the most troubled public

         22  assistance households.

         23                 They are more likely to experience

         24  mental illness, domestic violence, substance abuse,

         25  disabled household members, and to have lower levels
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          2  of education, literacy and English proficiency.

          3                 With appropriate accommodations and

          4  services, adults in these households may well be

          5  capable of employment and other essential

          6  activities, but their current capacity to comply

          7  with rigorous work requirements is seriously

          8  compromised.

          9                 We can also see the degree to which

         10  these households defy the "happily sanctioned" label

         11  by examining the impact on them when sanctions are

         12  imposed.

         13                 A growing body of research

         14  demonstrates, not surprisingly, that sanctioned

         15  families face an increased risk of eviction and loss

         16  of utility service and that their children are more

         17  likely to experience hunger and serious health

         18  problems.

         19                 One might regard these findings as

         20  intuitive and obvious, but they are important

         21  because, in their absence, policy makers, like the

         22  old purveyors of the "welfare queen" image, can

         23  suggest that harsh restrictions and punishments do

         24  not really cause harm.

         25                 (b) Sanctions are validly imposed. We
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          2  do not have particularly good data on the accuracy

          3  of HRA's findings that households' noncompliance

          4  warrant the imposition of a sanction.

          5                 But my 21 years as a legal services

          6  attorney, my years of policy work, and my current

          7  role as board chair of Project FAIR, which helps

          8  poor New Yorkers navigate the welfare hearing

          9  system, have convinced me beyond doubt that a

         10  significant number of sanctions are wrongly imposed.

         11                 This may happen for an endless number

         12  of reasons, but among the most prominent are the

         13  failure of the agency to properly send assignment

         14  notices, coupled with the client's inability to

         15  prove nonreceipt, and the agency's assignment -

         16  without adequate accommodation - of recipients with

         17  serious disabilities and limitations.

         18                 Many of these individuals do not

         19  understand or are otherwise unable to avail

         20  themselves of their right to challenge these

         21  sanctions in a hearing, and of those who do request

         22  hearings, about 96% are not able to secure

         23  representation.

         24                 In New York City, at any given time,

         25  about 15% of the engageable public assistance
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          2  population are currently being sanctioned.

          3                 Another 12% are in the sanction

          4  process, meaning that HRA believes they have failed

          5  to comply and has initiated the procedures that will

          6  ultimately result in the imposition of a sanction.

          7                 Thus, for a total of about 27% of the

          8  engageable welfare population, their primary

          9  "activity" is fighting a sanction or being

         10  sanctioned. It is hard to conceive of a greater

         11  waste of recipient or agency time, energy and

         12  resources. Particularly in view of the obstacles

         13  that tend to confront the households at greatest

         14  risk, and the likelihood of erroneously imposed

         15  sanctions, the City and State should act with great

         16  urgency to reduce the occurrence of sanctions and to

         17  address the challenges faced by these families.

         18                 (c) Sanctions help us meet

         19  participation requirements. A simple arithmetic

         20  exercise will demonstrate that full-family

         21  sanctions, in addition to exposing very vulnerable

         22  families to intense hardship, are not as effective a

         23  tool for meeting participation rates as engaging the

         24  family in appropriate activities would be:

         25                 Assume that a state initially has 100
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          2  families receiving TANF and 30 families

          3  participating in countable work activities and 10

          4  noncompliant households (the others are exempt or

          5  have just not been called in yet).

          6                 The state's participation rate is

          7  30/100 or 30%. If 10 noncompliant families are

          8  subjected to a regular pro-rata sanction, then for

          9  three months the ten families will be out of the

         10  denominator, so the state's participation rate will

         11  be 30/90 or 33.3%. After three months, the families

         12  are restored to the denominator, and the rate falls

         13  back to 30100 or 30%.

         14                 If a full-family sanction is imposed,

         15  the 10 families will be kept out of the numerator

         16  and the denominator, again making the participation

         17  rate 30/90 or 33.3%. If, on the other hand, these

         18  families receive needed services, the sanctions are

         19  lifted, and they become engaged in work activities,

         20  then the participation rate rises to 40/100 or 40%.

         21                 Bringing sanctioned families into

         22  compliance is the most effective, not to mention

         23  humane, approach.

         24                 The next question is, of course, how

         25  can we effectively reach out to sanctioned families
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          2  and families at risk of sanction, address the

          3  barriers they face and enable them to participate in

          4  appropriate activities?

          5                 There is no one definitive answer to

          6  this question, but various models have been tried

          7  around the country and many have reported

          8  significant success. In an appendix to my testimony,

          9  I have attached a paper summarizing some of these

         10  efforts.

         11                 At the heart of many of these

         12  initiatives are "intensive case services." This

         13  concept essentially refers to efforts to determine

         14  the circumstances that have led to a family's

         15  failure to comply with assignments, followed by the

         16  provision of a broad range of supportive services to

         17  address their difficulties. Intensive case services

         18  often entail some or all of the following elements:

         19                 - High-quality up-front evaluations

         20  by qualified professionals to determine whether a

         21  family faces significant obstacles to work rules

         22  compliance;

         23                 - Efforts to contact at-risk families

         24  beyond the initial mailing after an apparent failure

         25  to comply, to enable them to explain their situation
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          2  and to provide another chance to comply;

          3                 - Putting a hold on the triggering of

          4  sanctions until an investigation can be undertaken;

          5                 - serious outreach measures to learn

          6  about the household's circumstances. This may mean

          7  special call-in efforts, but often includes home

          8  visits;

          9                 - Offering of services to address the

         10  family's circumstances. These may range from

         11  one-time emergency housing relief to intensive

         12  counseling or treatment;

         13                 - An additional opportunity to come

         14  into compliance, with assignments modified to take

         15  into account and accommodate the participant's

         16  limitations and disabilities.

         17                 A modest, but important step has been

         18  taken in New York State: In the last legislative

         19  session, Assembly Social Services Chair Deborah

         20  Glick led an effort that resulted in $15 million

         21  being appropriated for the provision of "intensive

         22  case services," primarily targeting sanctioned and

         23  at-risk families.

         24                 State OTDA has just initiated the

         25  process of soliciting proposals from the local
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          2  districts to spend these funds. Hopefully, districts

          3  will adopt innovative programs that can effectively

          4  serve this population and reduce sanctions.

          5                 In New York City, HRA maintains an

          6  "Intensive Service Center" on 16th Street. We have

          7  thus far heard only anecdotal information about the

          8  center, but that information indicates some of the

          9  pitfalls of such a program.

         10                 Our understanding is that clients are

         11  called in to this center when they have been

         12  sanctioned for at least 60 days.

         13                 Failure to report for this

         14  appointment may lead to a closing of the entire

         15  case, the theory being that, while the original

         16  "offense" was a failure to comply with the work

         17  rules, resulting only in a partial sanction, the

         18  intensive services appointment related to the entire

         19  family's eligibility, thereby justifying a full case

         20  closure for failure to report.

         21                 The same factors (such as fear,

         22  misunderstanding, disability) that made it difficult

         23  for this household to comply with the work rules

         24  might well make it difficult for them to report for

         25  intensive services.
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          2                 Thus, this model embraces the very

          3  counter-productive and punitive approach that we are

          4  struggling to avoid.

          5                 Nevertheless, to the extent that the

          6  Intensive Services Center seeks to learn more about

          7  the family and the challenges it faces, we hope that

          8  that component of the program can become the seed of

          9  a more constructive initiative.

         10                 One last word on this subject: While

         11  we are currently focused on the new TANF rules and

         12  with meeting the tougher participation requirements,

         13  we must not forget those laws that protect the

         14  rights of the disabled, nor can we neglect the

         15  larger goal of our public assistance programs to

         16  truly aid the needy.

         17                 Early in the preamble to the Interim

         18  Final Rule, the regulations implementing the DRA,

         19  HHS reminds us that... "Of course, States must

         20  continue to comply with the civil rights laws,

         21  including... the Americans with Disabilities Act of

         22  1990 (ADA)...," referring the reader to the HHS

         23  Office of Civil Rights guidance concerning state

         24  compliance with the ADA.

         25                 While we understand the new pressures
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          2  on the State and City, the new rules cannot be

          3  implemented in a manner that compromises the need to

          4  identify people with disabilities and to make

          5  reasonable accommodations to enable them to

          6  participate in appropriate activities and avoid

          7  unwarranted sanctions.

          8                 Both HRA and OTDA were, in my

          9  opinion, rather late in adopting ADA procedures, but

         10  both have recently made substantial progress.

         11  Whether the policies are adequate, and whether

         12  actual practice will adhere to the policies remains

         13  to be seen.

         14                 For example, HRA's WeCARE program

         15  appears in many ways to be a promising effort that

         16  will improve the quality of HRA's evaluation and

         17  detection of recipient disabilities and work

         18  limitations, and will then offer a range of services

         19  to address these limitations. But implementation has

         20  been problematic, raising concerns that the program

         21  may be much stronger on paper than in practice.

         22                 Before closing my testimony, I would

         23  like to raise one additional issue. Reducing

         24  sanctions will be challenging, will require some

         25  allocation of resources, and needs well-trained
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          2  workers committed to the effort.

          3                 That effort is clearly warranted and,

          4  I would suggest, essential. But there are other

          5  things that can be done with less effort and expense

          6  and with a likelihood of success both in terms of

          7  helping the State to meet Federal requirements and

          8  enhancing the well-being of welfare recipients. I

          9  will mention one.

         10                 Federal law provides that, to count

         11  as a participant, an individual must be engaged in

         12  countable activities for 30 hours per week. It also

         13  sets forth an exception, that a parent or caretaker

         14  of a child under the age of six will be counted as a

         15  participant once s/he is engaged in 20 hours of work

         16  per week. New York State law contains the same

         17  provisions.

         18                 But in New York City, recipients are

         19  uniformly required to engage in 35 hours of activity

         20  per week. The work requirement can therefore be

         21  reduced for virtually every participant by at least

         22  5 hours.

         23                 In addition, nationally, more than

         24  50% of TANF families have a child under 6, and it

         25  can be assumed that New York's data is comparable.

                                                            243

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  The State and City could thus reduce the mandated

          3  hours for a substantial segment of the population

          4  from 35 to 20 hours without any participation rate

          5  impact.

          6                 I recognize that the 35-hour

          7  assignment is seen by some as a necessary simulation

          8  of the real-world work week. But I would suggest

          9  that there are at least three persuasive reasons to

         10  assign fewer hours: First, cutting back on the

         11  required number of hours will reduce the

         12  administrative burden and cost incurred by the State

         13  and localities in assigning and supervising work

         14  participants.

         15                 This becomes even more true under the

         16  new Federal mandates for daily supervision of work

         17  and for expanded paperwork and documentation of work

         18  activities. The freed-up resources can be used to

         19  provide better quality supervision and oversight

         20  during the remaining hours.

         21                 Second, the additional time available

         22  to young parents will enable them to engage in at

         23  least two worthy activities that are effectively

         24  discouraged under the current system, that is,

         25  pursue education and training activities, and spend
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          2  more time with their children.

          3                 Finally, recognizing the array of

          4  difficulties so commonly confronting TANF families,

          5  the reduced hours may make it more feasible for them

          6  to actually participate and comply with their

          7  assignments and avoid the risk of sanction.

          8                 We hope that you will urge the State

          9  and City to adopt rules that track the Federal

         10  requirements regarding assignment hours. This step,

         11  in addition to the others recommended here may not

         12  only assist the State in meeting its Federal

         13  obligations, but may enhance the likelihood of

         14  positive outcomes for poor New Yorkers.

         15                 Thank you for your time and

         16  consideration.

         17

         18

         19  Written Testimony Of:

         20  Julia Seltzer

         21  Intern, for Don Friedman

         22  Intensive Care Services

         23  Home Visits For Noncompliant Clients

         24

         25                 Numbers do not lie; the welfare rolls
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          2  have been cut significantly since the 1997

          3  implementation of the Personal Responsibility and

          4  Work Opportunity Reconciliation Act (PRWORA) of

          5  1996.

          6                 The numbers do not convey, however,

          7  the growth of "the proportion of state welfare

          8  caseloads comprised of hard-to-serve recipients with

          9  serious and/or multiple barriers to employment."

         10                 An unfortunate but effective means of

         11  identifying those "hard-to-serve" clients has

         12  organically emerged from the HRA procedures for

         13  sanctioning clients identified as noncompliant.

         14                 "Research indicates that sanctioned

         15  families, when compared to other families receiving

         16  welfare, have greater barriers to employment and are

         17  more likely to have multiple barriers."

         18                 These barriers include "no high

         19  school diploma or GED, limited recent work

         20  experience, physical health problems, mental health

         21  problems, criminal record of multiple arrests,

         22  severe physical domestic violence in the past year,

         23  chemical dependence, signs of a learning disability,

         24  difficulty with English, child or other family

         25  member with a health or special need, child under
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          2  age one in the household..., childcare problem,

          3  transportation problem, unstable housing situation."

          4                 Needless to say, such barriers render

          5  clients less capable of navigating a complex

          6  bureaucratic system, especially one that often fails

          7  to communicate program expectations and the

          8  potential repercussions of noncompliance.

          9                 There are a plethora of legitimate

         10  reasons - often relating to these barriers - why

         11  noncompliant clients, as a result of circumstances

         12  beyond their control, are unable to achieve perfect

         13  attendance at the vast array of appointments

         14  mandated by the state.

         15                 If it is the goal of New York State

         16  to aid those clients most in need and to ultimately

         17  help them find employment and achieve

         18  self-sufficiency, the State does both itself and its

         19  clients a disservice by failing to provide intensive

         20  case services to further investigate individuals'

         21  reasons for noncompliance and provide clients with

         22  individualized solutions.

         23                 Such services would offer an

         24  opportunity for New York State to assess clients and

         25  to acquire significant information about the
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          2  circumstances facing those found noncompliant.

          3                 Additional services would also

          4  provide clients further explanation of the current

          5  welfare system, including an explanation of why the

          6  individual was found to be noncompliant.

          7                 Additional services would also

          8  provide clients further explanation of the current

          9  welfare system, including an explanation of why the

         10  individual was found to be noncompliant.

         11                 Another constructive component would

         12  be development of a plan for achieving and

         13  maintaining compliance. Caseworkers could "address

         14  any remaining barriers to work" through discussion

         15  of strategies to avoid future noncompliance and make

         16  referrals to relevant community resources.

         17                 "States may find that a conciliation

         18  process (the process by which staff work with

         19  clients to determine and address the underlying

         20  causes for noncompliance in order to avoid

         21  unwarranted sanctioning) can be very useful in

         22  securing participation in mandatory programs."

         23                 The potential value of intensive case

         24  services, if designed carefully and executed

         25  effectively, is significant for both clients and the
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          2  government.

          3                 Furthermore, imposing sanctions

          4  without providing additional services to clients,

          5  when "research on sanctions has shown that sanctions

          6  are most likely to impact the most vulnerable of

          7  TANF families," reinforces the assertion that the

          8  welfare system is ill equipped to serve the most

          9  needy individuals and elects to enlist a punitive

         10  approach with a desired result of little more than

         11  diminished rolls.

         12                 It is time for the government to

         13  provide services that will offer the resources

         14  necessary for the neediest clients to progress

         15  towards self-sufficiency and at the very least,

         16  enable a quality of life slightly above the confines

         17  of basic survival.

         18                 Intensive case services would bring

         19  greater efficacy to a welfare system that is failing

         20  to meaningfully address the needs of its

         21  most-in-need recipients. An Evaluation of Welfare

         22  Reform Policy in New York State published by the New

         23  York State Assembly Standing Committee on Social

         24  Services, chaired by Assemblymember Deborah J.

         25  Glick, concluded, "...rarely, if ever, do sanctions
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          2  actually help families become self-sufficient and

          3  that they often inflict harm on the children in

          4  these struggling families."

          5                 A program of intensive case services

          6  for New York State could both assuage the

          7  unnecessary hardship too often inflicted on clients

          8  by the State and serve as an exceptionally valuable

          9  tool for guiding families toward self-sufficiency.

         10                 The task now at hand is to develop a

         11  model for intensive case services for New York State

         12  to implement that would best serve the interests of

         13  clients and the State.

         14                 It is our belief that a carefully

         15  designed home visiting component might play a

         16  valuable role in these new services. Within the

         17  realm of home visits innumerable possibilities

         18  exist.

         19                 Fortunately, we have an opportunity

         20  to learn from the failures and successes of

         21  home-visiting efforts that have been made by

         22  counties across the country.

         23                 Based on research and evaluations of

         24  such efforts and other related topics, we will

         25  explore some particularly compelling approaches and
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          2  models and the options they present.

          3                 We will also examine some of the

          4  potential dangers and benefits of utilizing home

          5  visits.

          6                 Ultimately, we will suggest a

          7  home-visiting model designed to provide those New

          8  Yorkers struggling most with the tools they need to

          9  improve their lives at present and in the future.

         10                 One New York county struggling with a

         11  high percentage of families under sanction, Tioga,

         12  has implemented a home-visiting program that

         13  provides an instructive model. "In June 2004, 20% of

         14  the Family Assistance Case Load had a Sanctioned

         15  Member in the Household."

         16                 Home-visiting efforts were addressed

         17  to the population already under sanction. The

         18  Department of Social Services assembled a team

         19  comprised of a fraud investigator, an employment

         20  specialist, and a director.

         21                 The home visits proved to be an

         22  effective means of gaining insight, not attained

         23  through the prior procedure of office visits, into

         24  the problems with which sanctioned families were

         25  contending. "Through this intervention, social
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          2  services workers uncovered unidentified medical and

          3  mental health issues, domestic violence, substandard

          4  housing, literacy problems, and issues with

          5  children's behavior and/or health.

          6                 In addition, numerous families were

          7  not even aware that they were in sanction status.

          8  With intensive case management, out of the 28

          9  households that were in sanction status in June

         10  2004, only 3 were still sanctioned by August 2004."

         11                 Tioga County's results suggest the

         12  enormous potential of home visiting programs to

         13  assist sanctioned clients. However, before lauding

         14  Tioga as a model to be universally adopted, we must

         15  express some concerns. The fraud investigation

         16  component of the Tioga model walks the fine line

         17  between giving much-needed additional attention to

         18  sanctioned families and employing hounding tactics

         19  that violate clients' ability to life their lives

         20  with a sense of autonomy and privacy. All sanctioned

         21  individuals were required to report to the fraud

         22  investigator on a weekly basis to "provide

         23  information/documentation as to what the children's

         24  money was being spent on [and to] Provide a weekly

         25  opportunity to request a plan of how the sanctioned
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          2  individual will have a plan of self-sufficiency."

          3                 Fraud prevention must play a role in

          4  local district operations, but a weekly

          5  investigation in the context of the provision of

          6  intensive services seems excessively invasive and

          7  threatens to overshadow the primary goal of helping

          8  clients.

          9                 Some advocates have expressed concern

         10  that clients having particular difficulties coming

         11  into compliance might feel harassed to the point of

         12  leaving welfare, regardless of their need.

         13                 In a phone conversation, a Legal

         14  Services attorney in Ithaca, who represented clients

         15  receiving assistance in Tioga, expressed concern

         16  that the fraud investigation procedures of the

         17  program were designed to harass and intimidate

         18  clients into forgoing needed benefits.

         19                 It is essential that fraud

         20  investigation not be a substantial component of

         21  intensive case services.

         22                 Home visits must not be abused and

         23  used for "snooping for fraud." To help bring clients

         24  into compliance, emphasis should be placed on

         25  creating a constructive client-home visitor
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          2  relationship based on trust.

          3                 When reviewing the Tioga model it is

          4  also important to bear in mind the fact that Tioga

          5  County was working with a very small client pool,

          6  which might account for some of the program's

          7  success. Also noteworthy is that the Tioga program

          8  provides post-sanction intervention.

          9                 Philadelphia's TANF Compliance

         10  Program also utilizes home visits, but serves a

         11  significantly larger population and predominantly

         12  provides pre-sanction intervention, with some

         13  post-sanction activity as well.

         14                 "Teams of service providers conduct

         15  home visits with families in which they explain the

         16  sanction process and the steps required for

         17  compliance, explain the resources available to

         18  assist TANF recipients find a job or work activity,

         19  and provide referrals to outside social services and

         20  child care resources.

         21                 In addition, the team, which is

         22  composed of employees of a non-profit social service

         23  agency, accompanies the family to appointments at

         24  the welfare agency to ensure that the process runs

         25  smoothly and the family understands all of the TANF
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          2  rules.

          3                 This has been especially useful for

          4  families that do not speak English as a first

          5  language. Counselors in the program make follow-up

          6  calls to families on an ongoing basis until the

          7  family has come into compliance." This program's

          8  inclusion of post-sanction services is quite

          9  interesting. "The 19 percent of the families

         10  referred for whom sanctions have been initiated or

         11  are in progress continue to receive post-sanction

         12  intensive services from the TANF Compliance Program

         13  until the welfare agency confirms that the family is

         14  no longer at risk of sanction because their barriers

         15  have been addressed and they have taken the steps

         16  necessary to cure the sanction. In most cases,

         17  families comply within one to two months."

         18                 This program has several particularly

         19  intriguing facets in addition to the unusual

         20  combination of pre-and post-sanction services.

         21  First, the program design is particularly effective

         22  at serving clients who are not native speakers. It

         23  is important to address language barriers,

         24  particularly in New York State where the immigrant

         25  population is significant and continually growing.
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          2                 Another interesting aspect of the

          3  program is that the hoe visitor is an employee of a

          4  non-profit social service agency rather than the

          5  government.

          6                 This is a tactic that could help

          7  engender a greater degree of trust between clients

          8  and home visitors.

          9                 The more trusting the relationship,

         10  the more productive it is likely to be.

         11                 Welfare recipients might be

         12  reflexively skeptical of a home visit from a

         13  government employee because of associations with

         14  disguised abuse or fraud investigations.

         15                 It is also logical that an employee

         16  of an agency either threatening to remove or

         17  removing the benefits one depends on to survive

         18  would be met with skepticism and a degree of

         19  distrust.

         20                 An employee of a non-profit is more

         21  likely to be accepted by a client as an ally

         22  committed to working towards solutions in the

         23  client's best interest.

         24                 Such acceptance is likely to be

         25  reinforced by the home visitor's accompanying the
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          2  client to appointments at the welfare agency, which

          3  creates a greater sense of support.

          4                 On the flip side, a social service

          5  employee's presence could potentially undermine the

          6  authority of the welfare agency employee and further

          7  enforce the perception that the welfare agency is

          8  not independently capable of helping clients.

          9                 Minimal training of the social

         10  service providers on sensitivity to the situation

         11  could pre-empt this potential conflict.

         12                 The "Philadelphia's TANF Compliance

         13  Program already has seen positive results since its

         14  inception. Between June 1999 and February 2000, 82

         15  percent of the families referred to the program are

         16  no longer at risk of sanction."

         17                 It should be noted that, "Most of

         18  these families came into compliance or were working

         19  toward compliance after receiving services from the

         20  program, although some were found to be exempt or to

         21  have good cause for not complying.

         22                 This number (82 percent of referrals)

         23  also includes families that were no longer at risk

         24  of sanction because of case closure for another

         25  reason' about one-fifth of families referred to the
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          2  TANF Compliance Program became ineligible for TANF

          3  for other reasons." That being said, the program's

          4  success remains significant.

          5                 A pre-sanction review program in Mesa

          6  County, CO has also seen positive results. "In the

          7  three years since implementation of the program,

          8  about 68 percent of families referred came into

          9  compliance and avoided a sanction."

         10                 Mesa County's program is procedurally

         11  distinct from those of Tioga and Philadelphia.

         12  "Prior to sanctioning a family that has failed to

         13  participate in required work activities, a case

         14  manager must refer the case to an Intervention

         15  Program social worker.

         16                 For a three-month period, the social

         17  worker meets with the family as many times as

         18  necessary, including home visits, to provide

         19  services including assessing the family's needs,

         20  identifying barriers, and providing intensive

         21  services to address the barriers.

         22                 The social worker also has the

         23  authority to redesign the Individual Service Plan to

         24  include activities - such as basic education and

         25  counseling - that are appropriate for the family in
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          2  light of the particular barriers they are facing.

          3                 If the individual complies with the

          4  new plan within 90 days (or longer at the social

          5  worker's requires), the sanction will not be

          6  imposed. At the end of the 90-day period, another

          7  meeting is held with a review team consisting of the

          8  social worker, the social worker's supervisor and

          9  the individual. The individual is given a final

         10  chance to comply at this time.

         11                 This program takes a proactive

         12  approach towards sanction prevention by providing

         13  assistance that directly enables clients to avoid a

         14  sanction. Assurance that a sanction will not be

         15  imposed provides a powerful incentive for clients to

         16  come into compliance.

         17                 Such a device also reduces

         18  skepticisms about the home visitor, in this instance

         19  a social worker.

         20                 The decision to have a social worker

         21  conduct the intensive case services is a noteworthy

         22  facet of this program.

         23                 These social workers exercise

         24  considerable discretion, with the authority to

         25  extend the period of time a client has to come into
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          2  compliance without sanction and to change clients'

          3  Individual Service Plans. It is possible that the

          4  social worker credential inspires more faith in the

          5  abilities of the home visitor, thereby facilitating

          6  the granting of this expanded authority.

          7                 Empowering a home visitor to aid

          8  clients in additional ways helps to create a

          9  positive relationship in which clients are given

         10  confidence that home visitors are working in their

         11  best interest and have the capacity to make

         12  substantial changes.

         13                 It is debatable how much better

         14  equipped an individual with a degree in social work

         15  is for properly exercising such extra authority in

         16  home-visiting situations.

         17                 With appropriate training, employees

         18  of independent social service agencies could conduct

         19  home visits. They should be fully capable of

         20  creating a trusting and constructive relationship

         21  with clients and making accurate assessments that

         22  will provide sufficient information for subsequent

         23  decision-making.

         24                 The supervisors for such home

         25  visitors could be social workers, functioning as an

                                                            260

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  additional resource. This presents a less costly

          3  alternative.

          4                 In designing a program for New York

          5  State, two significant areas of concern relate to

          6  (a) who the home visitor's employer will be, and (b)

          7  the qualifications of home visitors.

          8                 The initial question that arises is

          9  whether the home visitor will be an employee of the

         10  welfare agency or if the job will be contracted out.

         11                 A highly strained relationship often

         12  exists between clients under or at risk of sanction

         13  and the local welfare agency.

         14                 "Sanctions are a very visible

         15  manifestation of the asymmetrical power

         16  relationships that characterize welfare

         17  bureaucracies (Soss 2005, Handler 1986, 2003)."

         18                 Tensions arise from this skewed power

         19  dynamic as well as from the stigma attached to home

         20  visits by government agencies. Government employees

         21  face additional obstacles in the process of building

         22  a trusting relationship with clients and as such, we

         23  look for an alternative solution. We suggest

         24  contracting out this function to employees of

         25  independent non-profit social service agencies.
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          2                 "Specialized workers or employees of

          3  community-based organizations are the best equipped

          4  to conduct in-depth assessments of barriers." While

          5  we recommend that the supervisors of the home

          6  visitors be social workers, it may suffice for the

          7  home visitors themselves to complete a mandatory

          8  training.

          9                 In this training, employees would

         10  acquire tools for performing assessments of various

         11  barriers to employment as well as a financial

         12  assessment.

         13                 Training would also include education

         14  on the current welfare system, the role of the home

         15  visitor, community resources and how to help clients

         16  gain access to them, as well as the extent of their

         17  authority.

         18                 Before truly delving into the

         19  responsibilities of the home visitors, it is

         20  essential to decide at which stage in the

         21  sanctioning process these intensive case services

         22  will be provided.

         23                 Arguments have been made in support

         24  of both post and pre-sanction intensive case

         25  services. "A post-sanction home visit can help the
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          2  family to understand the compliance process,

          3  maintain the agency's connection with the family,

          4  and identify other steps needed - services and

          5  supports - that will enable the parent to

          6  successfully work or move toward employment."

          7                 Research conducted by Jan Kaplan also

          8  cites the importance of providing links to community

          9  resources. She recognizes the power of post-sanction

         10  services to generate greater stability and help

         11  families progress toward self-sufficiency.

         12                 E have concluded that pre-sanction

         13  services have all of the aforementioned benefits of

         14  post-sanction services with the significant

         15  additional merit of potentially preventing the havoc

         16  wreaked on families by sanctions.

         17                 "Using pre-sanction reviews to avert

         18  a sanction can be critical to helping families avert

         19  a deeper crisis. Once a sanction has been imposed,

         20  the parent may need to spend time seeking emergency

         21  help and thus be less able to participate in work

         22  activities.

         23                 It is also essential that we do not

         24  neglect the detrimental effects sanctions have on

         25  children. Research conducted by the Children's
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          2  Sentinel Nutrition Assessment Program determined

          3  that "after statistically controlling for other

          4  factors, welfare recipient households with infants

          5  and toddlers whose benefits were terminated or

          6  reduced by welfare sanctions had 50% greater risk of

          7  being food insecure than comparable households whose

          8  benefits were not decreased."

          9                 Equally disturbing, "infants and

         10  toddlers in welfare sanctioned families had a 90%

         11  greater risk of being admitted to the hospital than

         12  those in families whose benefits have not

         13  decreased." Sanctioning clients "jeopardizes the

         14  health and food security of infants and toddlers at

         15  the most critical period in their growth and

         16  development."

         17                 Reducing the number of clients under

         18  sanction and providing them with the tools necessary

         19  to come into compliance has a value for New York

         20  State beyond the satisfaction of better serving its

         21  most-struggling constituents.

         22                 Bringing clients into compliance

         23  improves State work participation rates.

         24                 Some very simple math will reveal

         25  that a client who comes into compliance is more
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          2  beneficial to the work participation rate than a

          3  client under sanction.

          4                 For participation rate calculations,

          5  a client under sanction is removed from the

          6  numerator and denominator for three months.

          7                 Thereafter, the client is returned to

          8  the denominator but not the numerator, since s/he

          9  presumably is not engaged in countable activities.

         10  Bringing the household into compliance is also more

         11  helpful to the overall participation rate than a

         12  full case closure - removing the household from the

         13  numerator and denominator altogether - would be

         14  (which would occur if Governor Pataki's long-sought

         15  full-family sanctions policy were enacted into law).

         16                 Among its many valuable attributes, a

         17  pre-sanction review affords a prime opportunity to

         18  help bring clients into compliance in the present as

         19  well as to help clients maintain compliance.

         20                 "A pre-sanction review can assess

         21  whether there is good cause for noncompliance or

         22  whether the family should be exempt from work

         23  requirements... A pre-sancti9on review also provides

         24  another opportunity to identify and address any

         25  barriers to compliance, and to determine if the
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          2  required activity should be modified for the family.

          3                 A pre-sanction review also can ensure

          4  that the individual understands the actions that are

          5  necessary to comply with state work requirements.

          6                 Finally, a pre-sanction review can be

          7  used to secure  additional supports or training that

          8  can make it possible for the parent to move into

          9  stable employment."

         10                 Such forms of additional attention to

         11  clients could potentially relieve some demand for

         12  fair hearings, another potentially valuable function

         13  of pre-sanction services for New York State.

         14                 Home visitors must be trusted with a

         15  certain degree of authority in order to conduct

         16  productive pre-sanction home visits that lead

         17  clients back into compliance.

         18                 We recommend that clients be visited

         19  before a sanction is imposed. It is essential that

         20  home visitors have sufficient time to assist a

         21  client before benefits are cut.

         22                 Ideally, home visitors would have as

         23  long as necessary to address clients' barriers to

         24  work, but we recognize 90 days as a reasonable

         25  amount of time to bring clients into compliance
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          2  without a sanction being imposed.

          3                 In terms of participation rate

          4  concerns, ninety days is also the period of time,

          5  under federal law before households under sanction

          6  are restored to the participation rate denominator.

          7                 Individualized attention is an

          8  integral facet of the program and as such it seems

          9  fit to allow up to a 60-day extension to this 90-day

         10  limit upon the request of the home visitor who

         11  adequately explains the function this additional

         12  time would serve in bringing the given client into

         13  compliance.

         14                 To help clients overcome barriers the

         15  home visitor must have the power to develop an

         16  individualized service plan that incorporates the

         17  insights gained through the home visit.

         18                 The nature and extent of these

         19  insights are dependent on the manner in which

         20  in-gone evaluations are conducted.

         21                 Fraud investigation belies a trusting

         22  client-home visitor relationship and is not a goal

         23  of home visits. However, it is important to ensure

         24  that a client remains eligible for benefits. For

         25  this reason, it may be appropriate for a home
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          2  visitor to conduct a financial assessment.

          3                 More relevant to the services

          4  provided to clients are the tools used to assess

          5  clients' barriers to employment.

          6                 Though some barriers may become

          7  evident through simple interaction with a client in

          8  a home setting, other barriers are more concealed.

          9                 Utilizing issue-specific assessment

         10  tools is a valuable way to provide more

         11  individualized and constructive services.

         12                 Insights gained could be integral to

         13  the formation of a more individualized service plan

         14  that will bring clients into compliance and place

         15  them on the path to self-sufficiency.

         16                 "Maryland researchers compared

         17  client-reported barriers with administrative data

         18  and based on that analysis recommend that tools that

         19  make use of validated scales for measuring mental

         20  health, alcohol abuse and domestic violence may be

         21  particularly beneficial rather than solely relying

         22  on self-reporting of these barriers."

         23                 Selecting such tools would be an

         24  important preparatory step for the State. With more

         25  information about barriers faced, home visitors can
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          2  refer clients to appropriate community resources.

          3                 The prospect of a tool for

          4  identifying domestic violence raises the reality of

          5  the home visitor as a mandatory reporter.

          6                 It is essential to remember that home

          7  visits are not conducted for the purpose of abuse

          8  investigation.

          9                 Home visitors are not child

         10  protective service workers, but the implementation

         11  of a home visiting program inevitably raises issues

         12  about these visitors' potential to play a role in

         13  identifying an all-too-frequent and oft-unnoticed

         14  calamity that occurs in American homes.

         15                 "Within the general population, about

         16  22 percent of women have experienced domestic

         17  violence. However, this figure doubles when applied

         18  to women on welfare.

         19                 In addition, many of the studies

         20  evaluated by the author document a high prevalence

         21  of physical and sexual abuse during childhood."

         22                 Merely the presence of home visitors,

         23  taking the time to understand the circumstances

         24  clients face at home, could potentially serve as a

         25  deterrent to abuse.
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          2                 In instances of abuse, home visitors

          3  play an essential role as reporters.

          4                 As part of their training, home

          5  visitors would be made aware of resources to offer

          6  and remedies to pursue when they enter a home where

          7  abuse is evident.

          8                 They should also be briefed on the

          9  harmful consequences that can arise from falsely

         10  reporting cases of abuse. False reporting of abuse

         11  can have detrimental consequences for families, in

         12  addition to effectively rupturing the trust formed

         13  between the clients and home-visitors. Home visitors

         14  should emphasize trust, honesty and productivity

         15  while striving to form a collaborative relationship

         16  with clients.

         17                 It is vital that clients feel

         18  comfortable communicating their needs and struggles

         19  and understand that they can play an active role in

         20  the relationship. "A collaborative relationship

         21  emphasizes the importance of families working

         22  cooperatively and actively with home visitors.

         23  Although each family has a responsibility to

         24  actively participate, the home visitor has the

         25  responsibility for making a collaborative
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          2  relationship possible."

          3                 In order to create a trusting,

          4  collaborative environment, it is important that the

          5  home visitor understand that "snooping" is strictly

          6  prohibited and that it is made clear to the client

          7  the home visit is not a search.

          8                 Home visitors must be sensitive to

          9  the fact that some clients will perceive their

         10  presence as an invasion of personal and private

         11  space. Legal precedent has established that home

         12  visitation under certain guidelines may be

         13  consistent with the Constitution.

         14                 In the 1971 Wyman v. James decision,

         15  it was held that "the home visitation provided for

         16  by New York law in connection with the AFDC program

         17  is a reasonable administrative tool and does not

         18  violate any right guaranteed by the Fourth and

         19  Fourteenth Amendments."

         20                 Constitutionality, however, is not

         21  sufficient to put clients at ease; home visitors

         22  must clearly articulate the purposes and procedures

         23  of home visits to avoid unnecessary fear or

         24  confusion. It must be clear to clients that a home

         25  visit is in no way a "search in the traditional
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          2  criminal law context."

          3                 Home visiting presents the

          4  opportunity to propel clients toward

          5  self-sufficiency, catalyzing them into compliance.

          6  Through an individualized approach, a better

          7  understanding of the barriers facing clients is

          8  gained and a plan to overcome those barriers is

          9  developed.

         10                 Home visits can serve clients and New

         11  York State, potentially improving work participation

         12  rates and providing relief to a strained fair

         13  hearing system.

         14                 Everyone can win with thoughtful

         15  execution of intensive case services. We acknowledge

         16  the existence of complex systemic failures, but we

         17  are trying to present a pragmatic solution for the

         18  welfare-receiving population currently suffering

         19  under a punitive and destructive sanction-driven

         20  system.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 1:03 p.m.)
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